
NOTICE OF PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
August 18, 2020 

at 6:00 p.m. 

THE MEETING WILL BE HELD ELECTRONICALLY 

The City Council of the City of Pontiac will hold a Formal Meeting on August 18, 2020 at 6:00 
p.m. This meeting will be held electronically pursuant to the Open Meetings Act and Governor 
Whitmer's Executive Order 2020-154. The agenda of the Fonnal Meeting is attached. Pursuant to 
Executive Order 2020-129, the Pontiac City Council gives notice of the following: 

1. Reason for Electronic Meeting. The Pontiac City Council 1s meeting 
electronically because of Executive Order 2020-154. 

2. Procedures. The public may view the meeting electronically through the following 
method. 

http:// pon tiac.mi. us/ council/pontiactv /index. php 

3. Public Comment. For individuals who desire to make a public comment, please 
submit your name and comment in writing to publiccomments@pontiac.mi.us. 
Additionally, you may submit your public comment in writing directly to the Office 
of the City Clerk during regular business hours. All public comments must be 
received no later than 5:30 p.m. on August 18, 2020. Public comments are limited 
to three (3) minutes. The City Clerk will read your comments during the public 
comment section of the meeting. 

4. Persons with Disabilities. Persons with disabilities may participate in the meeting 
through the methods set forth in paragraph 2. Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services in order to attend electronically should notify the Interim 
City Clerk, Garland Doyle at (248) 758-3200 or cletk@pontiac.mi.us at least 24 
hours in advance of the meeting. 

Dated 8-14-2020, 5:00 p.m. 
Garland S. Doyle, Interim City Clerk 
City of Pontiac 
47450 Woodward Ave. Pontiac, MI 48342 Phone: (248) 758-3200 



Kermit Williams, District 7 
President 
Randy Carter, District 4 
President Pro Tern 

PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

Patrice Waterman, District 1 
Megan Shramsld, District 2 
Mary Pietila, District 3 
Gloria Miller, District 5 
Dr. Doris Taylor Burks, District 6 

It is this Council's mission "To serve the citizens of Pontiac by committing to help provide an enhanced quality of life 
for its residents, fostering the vision of a family-friendly community that is a great place to live, work and play. ,, 

Website: http://pontiac.mi.us/council/meeting agendas and minutes/index.php 

FORMAL MEETING 
August 18, 2020 

6:00P.M. 
185th Session of the 10t1, Council 

Call to order 

Invocation 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Authorization to Excuse Councilmembers 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 

Approval of the Minutes 
1. August 11, 2020 

Subcommittee Report 
2. Public Safety for July 2020 

Special Presentations (Special Presentations are limited to 10 minutes.) 
3. Rehmann Robson Audit Report for the Period ending June 31, 2020. 

Presentation Presenters: Mark Tschirhart and Tracey Kasparek, Rehmann Robson 

4. Census Update with Statistics & Census Events. 
Presentation Presenter: Mayor Waterman 

5. Update: Parks & Recreation, Neighborhood Empowerment Projects (NEP) and Other Program Partnerships. 
Presentation Presenters: Mayor Waterman, Vern Gustafsson, Planning Manager, Gavin McGuire and Russell 
Harris, Boys and Girls Club. 

Recognition of Elected Officials 

Garland S. Doyle, M.P.A., Interim City Clerk 
Office of the City Clerk 47450 Woodward Pontiac, Michigan 48342 Phone (248) 758-3200 
Website: http ://pontiaccityclerk.com 



Agenda Address 

Ordinances and Resolutions 
City Clerk 

6. Resolution to Approve the Salary Change for the Paii-Time Customer Service Representative (CSR)-City 
Clerk's Office from $5000.00 to $16,762. The increase is due to increasing the number of work hours for the 
CSR to accolillilodate having to allocate the majority of the Special Assistant to the Clerk time to the Medical 
Marihuana application review process (This resolution will need to be deferred for one week and considered 
with the Resolution for the budget amendment to increase account 101-255-702.000 Salaries & Wages 
from $15,000 to $30,000 in order to allocate the majority of the Special Assistant to the Clerk work hours 
to the Medical Marihuana application review process. The Special Assistant to the Clerk salary will not 
change. Both of these resolutions are necessary to help expedite the Medical Marihuana Application 
Review Process.) 

Finance Department 
7. Adoption of an Emergency Ordinance to Amend Emergency Ordinance 2346 to extend $400 Supplemental 

Payment for Health to General Employees Retirement System- GERS retirees until August 31, 2021 (The 
Retirement Administrator has requested that a correction be made to the ordinance that both Finance 
and the City Attorney presented to the City Council for approval on August 6, 2020.) 

8. Adoption of an Emergency Ordinance to Amend Emergency Ordinance 2357 to extend $400 Supplemental 
Payment for Health to Police and Fire retirees until August 31, 2021 (The Retirement Administrator has 
requested that a correction be made to the ordinance that both Finance and the City Attorney presented 
to the City Council for approval on August 6, 2020.) 

Public Comment 

Mayor, Clerk and Council Closing Comments 

Adjournment 

Upcoming Special Presentations 
September 1, 2020 

1. Medical Marihuana Monthly Application Review Process Update from the Office of the City Clerk 
2. Village at Bloomfield Development Update 
3. Pontiac Votes Community Challenge 

September 15, 2020 
City of Pontiac Retired Employees Association (CPREA) Status Update 





August 11, 2020 Study 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

184th Session of the Tenth Council 
Call to order 
A Study Session Meeting of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order electronically on 
Tuesday, August 11, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. by Council President Kermit Williams. 

Roll Call 
Members Present: Carter, Miller, Pietila, Shramski, Watem1an and Williams. 
Mayor Waterman was present. 
Clerk announced a quorum. 

Authorization to Excuse Councilmembers 
Excuse Councilperson Shramski & Taylor-Burks for personal reasons. Moved by 

Councilperson Waterman and second by Councilperson Pietila. Councilperson Waterman withdrew her 
motion and Councilperson Pietila withdrew her second. 

20-365 Excuse Councilperson Taylor-Burks for personal reasons. Moved by Councilperson 
Waterman and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Ayes: Pietila, Shramski, Waterman, Williams, Carter and Miller 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Amendments to the Agenda 
20-366 Motion to add on Court Presentation. Moved by Councilperson Miller and second by 
Councilperson Carter. 

Ayes: Shramski, Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller and Pietila 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

20-367 Motion to add on Census Report. Moved by Councilperson Shramski and second by 
Councilperson Miller. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller, Pietila, and Shramski 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

20-368 Motion to add on Cleaning Resolution. Moved by Councilperson Shramski and second 
by Councilperson Carter. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller, Pietila and Shramski 
No: None 
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August 11, 2020 Study 

Motion Carried 

20-369 Motion to add on Census Resolution. Moved by Councilperson Shramski and second 
by Councilperson Carter. 

Ayes: Williams, Carter, Miller, Pietila, Shramski and Waterman 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

20-370 Motion to withdraw Census Report from the agenda. Moved by Councilperson Carter 
and second by Councilperson Shramski. 

Ayes: Miller, Pietila, Shramski, Waterman, Williams, and Carter 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Approval of the Amended Agenda 
20-371 Motion to approve the amended agenda. Moved by Councilperson Pietila and second 
by Councilperson Miller. 

Ayes: Pietila, Shramski, Waterman, Williams, Carter and Miller 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Presentation 
50th District Court Chief Judge Walker and Lynette Ward, Court Administrator discuss the emergency 
repair that needs to be made to the carpet at the courthouse. 

Approval of the Minutes 
20-372 Approval formal meeting minutes for August 6, 2020. Moved by Councilperson 
Shramski and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Ayes: Shramski, Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller and Pietila 
No:None 
Motion Carried 

Public Comment 
Two (2) individuals submitted a public comment read by the City Clerk 

Suspend the Rules 
20-373 Motion to suspend the rules to vote. Moved by Councilperson Waterman and second by 
Councilperson Miller. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller, Pietila and Shramski 
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August 11, 2020 Study 

Resolutions 
City Clerk 

No: None 
Motion Carried 

20-374 Resolution to authorize the Interim City Clerk to publish a notice in a newspaper of 
general circulation at least one week before consideration of the proposed budget amendment to 
increase account 101-255-702.000 Salaries & Wages from $15,000 to $30,000. This increase is due to 
allocating the majority of the Special Assistant to the Clerk work hours to the Medical Marihuana 
application review process. The Special Assistant to the Clerk salary will not change. Moved by 
Councilperson Waterman and second by Councilperson Pietila 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac approved the FY 2020-2021 budget on June 29, 2020; and 
WHEREAS, the adopted FY 2020-2021 General Fund (101) includes Medical Marihuana Applications 
Dept (255); and 
WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac received its first medical marihuana application on August 8, 2019; and 
WHEREAS, the 21 day application period for provisioning centers was January 6-27, 2020. The City 
received 103 provisioning center applications. As of August 6, 2020, the City has received a total of 111 
medical marihuana applications including 5 grower, 2 processor and 1 secure transporter applications; and 
WHEREAS, the budget amendment to the Medical Marihuana Applications Dept (255) is necessary to 
allocate more of the Special Assistant to the Clerk work hours to the medical marihuana application 
review process; 
WHEREAS, the City Clerk is requesting that the salaries and wages account 101-255-702.000 in Dept 
(255) be increased from $15,000 to $30,000; and 
WHEREAS, section 5 .106 of the Charter states "after adoption of the appropriations ordinance, and upon 
at least one week's notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the City, the Council by a resolution of 
five members, may amend such ordinance to authorize the transfer of an unused balance appropriated for 
one purpose to another purpose, or to appropriate available revenues not previously appropriated."; and 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council hereby authorizes the Interim City Clerk 
to publish a notice in a newspaper of general circulation at least one week before consideration of the 
proposed budget amendment to increase account 101-255-702.000 salaries and wages from $15,000 to 
$30,000. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller, Pietila and Shramski 
No: None 
Resolution Passed. 

Suspend the Rules 
20-375 Motion to Suspend the Rules to vote. Moved by Councilperson Pietila and second by 
Councilperson Miller. 

Ayes: Williams, Miller, Pietila, Shramski and Waterman 
No: Carter 
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August 11, 2020 Study 

Motion Carried 

Resolutions 
Economic Development 
20-376 Resolution to approve the following contracts as recommended by the George W. 
Auch Company per their letter dated July 23, 2020: (1) Structural Repairs to DRV Contractors, 
LLC, in the amount of $2,793,345.00; (2.) Concrete Foundation to Cl Contracting in the amount of 
$15,620.00; (3.) Masonry to Davenport Masonry in the amount of $24,400.00; (4.) Architectural 
Renovations to Dennco Construction in the amount of $108,300.00; (5.) Painting to Accurate in the 
amount of $94,800.00; (6.) Fire Suppression to Professional Sprinlder in the amount of $199,980.00; 
(7.) Plumbing to Tempco Mechanical in the amount of $106,800.00; and (8.) Underpass Lighting to 
Ferndale Electric in the amount of $487,800.00. Furthermore, that the Mayor be authorized to sign 
and execute these contracts on behalf of the City of Pontiac. Moved by Councilperson Pietila and second 
by Councilperson Miller. 

WHEREAS, The City of Pontiac is subject to the terms of a certain Settlement Agreement that 
require repair and maintenance work to be performed on the Phoenix Center, such work being outlined in 
the terms of the Agreement, including Exhibit 2; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Pontiac approved and retained IDS to complete architectural and 
engineering services to identify and plan for all work required under the Settlement Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, On May 1, 2020 a complete scope of work and pre-bid cost estimate was presented to 
the City for its consideration and direction, whereupon the City Council elected to allocate a partial amount 
of funding to supp01i financing the required work in the amount of $7,000,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Pontiac's construction manager, architectural professionals and special 
counsel for economic development immediately re-structured the recommended work to support the limited 
funding allocation and presented a revised time line and phased scope of work to the City Council that would 
maintain the required phasing of construction steps and utilize the funding support as allocated; and 

WHEREAS, AUCH Construction prepared bid packages for the partial release of work in accord 
with the amount of supported funding, published those bids in strict accord with the purchasing rules of the 
City of Pontiac, opened and read the bids on July 21, 2020, presented the bids and the appropriate summary 
o the City Clerk on July 23, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, AUCH has now recommended the award of contracts based upon the received bids 
that upon award would represent an estimated total cost to the City of Pontiac of $6,624,060.00 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Pontiac does hereby accept the 
recommendation of the George W Auch Company dated July 23, 2020 and accept and award the following; 

A. Structural Repairs to DRV Contractors, LLC in the amount of $2,793,345.00 
B. Concrete Foundation to CI contracting in the amount of $15,620.00 
C. Masonr to Davenport Masonry in the amount of $24,400.00 
D. Architectural Renovations to Dennco Construction in the amount of $108,300.00 
E. Painting to Accurate in the amount of $94,800.00 
F. Fire Suppression to Professional Sprinkler in the amount of $199,980.00 
G. Plumbing to Tempco Mechanical in the amount of$106,800.00 
H. Underpass Licensing to Ferndale Electric in the amount fo $487,800.00 
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August 11, 2020 Study 

Ayes: Pietila and Waterman 
No: Carter, Miller, Shramski and Williams 
Resolution Failed. 

Communications from the Mayor 
20-377 Received item 5 William's International Development Agreement - Student 
Scholarships and item 6 Update: CARES Act. Moved by Councilperson Waterman and second by 
Councilperson Miller. 

Ayes: Miller, Pietila, Shramski, Waterman, Williams and Carter 
No: None 

Suspend the Rules 
20-378 Motion to Suspend the Rules to vote on item 7 & 8. Moved by Councilperson Pietila 
and second by Councilperson Shramski. 

Resolutions 

Ayes: Pietila, Shramski, Waterman, Williams, Carter and Miller 
No: None 
Motion Carried. 

20-379 Resolution for Census. Moved by Councilperson Shramski and second by 
Councilperson Pietila. 

WHEREAS, during the Council meeting on Thursday, August 6, 2020, the Mayor indicated that there will 
be a series of four ( 4) outdoor concerts eve1y Friday for the month of August, promoting census registration 
with the first being held on Friday, August 7, 2020 in the parking lot of Pontiac City Hall; and, 
WHEREAS, the Council as well as the residents of the City of Pontiac need to be apprised as to the number 
of registrants, the monetary sources and the expenditures. 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Pontiac City Council requests that the 
Mayor provide a written weekly census update, to be submitted to the Interim Clerk and included in 
Council's Agenda. The first census report shall be included in the Tuesday, August 18, 2020 Council 
Agenda. All census reports are to include; the number of patrons that attended the event, the number of 
citizens that registered for the census during the event, the total amount of dollars expended for each census 
event, the amount of any and all overtime paid to City employees, and a breakdown of all funding sources 
including sponsors, reflecting the monetary allocation of each. 

Ayes: Shramski, Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller and Pietila 
No:None: 
Resolution Passed. 

20-380 Resolution for Cleaning. Moved by Councilperson Shramski and second by 
Councilperson Carter. 

5 



August 11, 2020 Study 

WHEREAS, during the Council meeting on Thursday, August 6, 2020, the Mayor indicated that there will 
be a series of four ( 4) outdoor concerts evety Friday for the month of August, promoting census registration 
with the first being held on Friday, August 7, 2020 in the parking lot of Pontiac City Hall; and, 
WHEREAS, it was discovered that the concert event on August 7, 2020 did not have portable restrooms 
and if needed, the patrons were directed to use the restroom facilities inside City Hall; and, 
WHEREAS, in light of COVID-19, this was not and is not safe and increases the possible spread of the 
virus; and, 
WHEREAS, on April 14, 2020, the Pontiac City Council was presented with an emergency resolution (an 
Agenda Ad-on) to engage RNA RM, Elite Cleaning Team LLC and Restoration 1, and to Immediately 
Authorize the Mayor to Deep Clean and Sanitize All City Buildings at a Cost Not to Exceed $15,000.00 
and, 
WHEREAS, Council passed the emergency motion overwhelmingly with six ayes and no nayes; and, 
WHEREAS, the resolution stressed, that in an effort to mitigate the spread of COVID-19, Mayor Waterman 

directed that all City facilities be deep cleaned, disinfected and sanitized; and, 
WHEREAS, the following City owned facilities were to be professionally cleaned, disinfected and 
sanitized: 50th District Court, Ruth Peterson Senior Center, Bowens Senior Center, Pontiac Youth 
Recreation and Enrichment Center (PYREC) and City Hall offices; and, 
WHEREAS, since the re-opening of City Hall on July 1, 2020, there has been an influx of traffic in all of 
the City buildings with the exception of the Pontiac Youth Recreation and Enrichment Center (PYREC); 
and, 
WHEREAS, the Council chambers and the Council's conference room have been used by other groups, 
there was voting traffic in several City buildings and again, the restrooms in City Hall were available for 
public use during the concert last Friday. 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Pontiac City Council in an attempt to reduce 
the spread of the COVID-19, authorizes the Mayor to contract with Restoration 1 in an amount not to exceed 
$15,000.00 for the cleaning, sanitizing and disinfecting of City Hall, 5ot11 District Court and Ruth Peterson 
Senior Center and Bowens Senior Center. 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that if future concerts or events are held at City Hall within the next three 
(3) weeks and or anytime during the pandemic, City Hall is to be closed to the public and portable restrooms 
are to be provided for public use. 

Adjournment 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Carter, Miller and Shramski 
No: Pietila 
Resolution Passed. 

Council President Kermit Williams adjourned the meeting at 7:07 p.m. 
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WAT F 
M T 

2495 Crescent Lake Road" Waterford, MI 48329 
Phone: 248.673.0405 "Fax: 248.674.4095 

www.waterfordmi.gov 

Ill Matthew Covey Fire Chief" Carl Wallace Deputy Fire Chief" John Phebus Fire Marshal 

MONTHLY FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

For the City of Pontiac 

July 2020 
Total Pontiac Fire Station calls - month: 423 Average Response Time 5.12 per call 

Total calls for Pontiac Stations - YTD: 2670 

City Calls: Fires: 47 EMS: 230 False Alarms: 27 Other: 119 

Pontiac YTD, Fires: 169 6.33% EMS: 1558 58.35% False Alarms: 198 7.42% Other: 745 

Month Count Response Times month average 

FS-6 Fires -13 

EMS-45 

FS-7: Fires - 18 

EMS-88 

FS-8: Fires-10 

EMS-55 

FS-9: Fires-5 

EMS-42 

Fire Injuries to personnel: 0 
Incidents for month: 

5.23 49 

5.14 329 

5.39 63 

5.12 607 

5.37 27 

5.04 325 

6.04 20 

4.33 282 

Fire Injuries to civilian: 0 

YTD Count 

Call volume has decrease year to date -5.54%, due to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 

Notable Event: 

• Fire Chief appointed to the Oakland County Radio Policy Committee 
• Purchased decon sprayer for all fire station to help with the COVID-19 Pandemic 

• Purchased chemical (Hospital grade) wall units to help with the COVID-10 Pandemic 

• All fire station still closed to the public. 



Oakland County Sheriff's Office 
Pontiac Substation 

2020 
8/14/2020 16:11 

Road Patrol/DB January February March st Sept Totals 

Road Patrol Arrests: 369 366 333 265 348 321 300 2,302 
Traffic Citations: 786 646 508 152 243 256 281 2,872 
Detective Bureau Warrants: 83 77 99 139 127 111 94 730 
Cases Assigned to Detectives: 380 304 381 327 370 410 381 2,553 
Appearance Citations: 6 6 6 5 6 11 7 47 
DNA Swabs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Domesic Violence Arrests 

jstate Law Warrants: 28 21 40 43 46 47 47 

Directed Patrol Unit 

Felony Arrests: 22 19 42 75 72 44 47 321 
Misdemeanor Arrests in Custody: 0 1 12 12 9 14 3 51 
Appearance Citations: 1 1 1 0 2 4 2 11 
Traffic Citations: 2 0 0 0 0 0 9 11 
Controlled Buys: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Handguns Seized: 3 1 9 13 14 14 16 70 
Long Guns Seized: 0 0 0 1 0 4 2 7 
Search Warrants Executed: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Violent Crimes Statistics 

Armed Robberies 12 11 5 10 7 7 6 58 
Homicides: 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 5 
Discharged Firearm (Injuries): 3 1 1 3 1 3 3 15 



Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 PR 20 20-May 20-Jun 

48340 4.9 5 4.8 4.7 4.6 4.8 
48341 5 5 5.1 5 4.9 4.9 
48342 4.9 4.8 4.8 4.9 4.9 4.75 

Monthly 4.93 4.93 4.9 4.86 4.8 4.78 

20-Jul 

48340 5 
48341 4.8 
48342 4.8 

Monthly 4.89 



Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 PR 20 20-May 20-Jun 

48340 4.9 5 4.8 4.7 4.6 4.8 
48341 5 5 5.1 5 4.9 4.9 
48342 4.9 4.8 4.8 4.9 4.9 4.75 

Monthly 4.93 4.93 4.9 4.86 4.8 4.78 

20-Jul 

48340 5 
48341 4.8 
48342 4.8 

Monthly 4.89 
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City of Pontiac 
June 30, 2019 
Audit Results 

Presented by: 

Mark Tsc'hirhart, Principal 

Tracey Kasparek, Senior Manager 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• Independent Auditors' Report (pg 1) 

- Unmodified ("clean") opinion 

• Management's Discussion alnd Analysis (pg 6) 

- Narrative overview of the financial activities of the 
City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• Government-wide Financial Statements {pg 17) 

- Includes all activities of the primary government and 
its component units. 

- Reported on the full accrual basis of accounting 

• Includes long-term assets and liabilities not included in the 
fund financial statements 

- Capital assets 

- Long-term debt 

- Net pension asset/liability 

- Net other postemployment benefit liability 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• Governmental Fund Financial Statements (pg 
22) 

- Information is presented separately for each 
major fund. These include: 

• General Fund 

• Major Streets Fund 

• Loca I Streets 

• Sanitation Fund 

• District Court 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• General Fund Actual Results 

Total Revenues 

Total Expenditures 

Net Transfers 

Net Change 

Beginning Fund Balance 

Ending Fund Balance 

$ 37,329,582 

(34,897,265) 

(1,269,456) 

1,162,861 

17,422,150 

$ 18,585,011 



Overview of Financial Statements 

20,000.000 

15,000,000 

10,000,000 

5,000,000 

(5,000,000) 

GF Fund 'Balance 
Last 8 Years 

• 2012 • 2013 • 2014 • 2015 • 2016 • 2017 • 2018 • 2019 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• General Fund Fund Balance 

Nonspendable 

Committed 

Assigned 

Unassigned 

General Fund 

Fund Balance I % of Total 

Classifications I Expenditures 

$ 30,209 

3,200,000 

2,800,000 

12,554,802 

$ 18,585,011 

36% 

53% 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• General Fund Budget to Actual (pg 106) 
- - , I - - - - -- - -• •- 1 I 

Actual Over 

Original I l Final I 
I (Under) Final 

Budget i l Budget Actual I Budget 
I 

Total Revenues $ 35,678,654 $ 35,678,654 $ 37,329,582 $ 1,650,928 

Total Expenditures (34,040,755) (37,545,819) (34,897,265) (2,648,554) 

Net Transfers (1,634,555) (1,707,845) (1,269,456) {438,389) 

Net Change 3,344 (3,575,010} 1,162,861 4,737,871 

Beginning Fund Balance 17,422,150 17,422,150 17,422,150 

Ending Fund Balance $ 17,425,494 $ 13,847,140 $ 18,585,011 $ 4,737,871 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• Property taxes and special 
assessments 

• Income taxes 

• State revenue 

• Other revenue 

GF REVENUES 



Overview of Financial Statements 
• Actual Results of Other Governmental Funds 

Detail for Nonmajor Funds can be seen at pg 114 
-- - 1 -

- District --
1

1- NonritaJor Major : I Local I 

I Streets : I Streets Sanitation Court 
I 

Funds 
I -

Total Revenues $ 5,998,310 $ 1,653,660 $ 3,743,559 $ 2,037,475 $ 5,700,457 

Total Expenditures (6,187,229) {2,613,045) (3,782,087) ( 2,942,908) (4,629,285) 

Net Transfers 18,484 14,125 291 904,827 {169,695) 

Net Change {170,435) {945,260) (38,237) (606) 901,477 

Beginning Fund Balance 2,663,403 5,933,352 6,215,848 2,093 5,859,469 

Ending Fund Balance $ 2,492,968 $ 4,988,092 $ 6,177,611 $ 1,487 $ 6,760,946 



Overview of Financial Statements 

• Business-type Activities (pg 30) 
- Parking Enterprise Fund 

- Internal Service Funds 

• Fiduciary Funds (pg 34) 
- Pension and Other Postemployment Trust Funds 

- Agency Funds 

• Component Units (pg 37) 
- Tax Increment Finance Authority 

- Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 



Conclusion 

• Internal Control and Compl iance 

- No findings that were considered to be material 
weaknesses. 

- No findings that were considered to be significant 
deficiencies. 

• Management Letter 

- No management letter comments included as 
other matters 



Rehmann Robson 
1500 W. Big Beaver Road 
2nd Floor 
Troy, MI 48084 
Ph: 248.952.5000 
Fx: 248.952.5750 
rehmann.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 

December 23, 2019 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Pontiac 
Pontiac, Michigan 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the Oty of Pontfoc (the "City") as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and have 
issued our report thereon dated December 23, 2019. We did not audit the financial statements of the 
General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA, and the Police 
and Fire Retirement System. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports 
thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinion on the financial statements and this report, insofar 
as they relate to the General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement System 
VEBA, and the Police and Fire Retirement System, are based solely on the reports of other auditors. 
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated September 19, 2019, our responsibility, as described 
by professional standards, is to form and express opinions about whether the financial statements that 
have been prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City solely for the 
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 
control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you. 

We have provided our findings regarding internal control over financial reporting and compliance noted 
during our audit in a separate letter to you dated December 23, 2019. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in 
our engagement letter and in our meeting about planning matters on August 12, 2019. 
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Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm has complied with all relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence. 

Qualitative Aspects of the City's Significant Accounting Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the City is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. 

There have been no initial selections of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting 
policies or their application during the year. 

No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform 
you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of 
significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management's current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management's current 
judgments. 

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements were: 

• Management's estimate of the useful lives of depreciable capital assets is based on the length 
of time it is believed that those assets will provide some economic benefit in the future. 

• Management's estimate of the accrued compensated absences is based on current hourly 
rates and policies regarding payment of sick and vacation banks. 

• Management's estimate of the allowance for uncollectible receivable balances is based on 
past experience and future expectation for collection of various account balances. 

• Management's estimate of the insurance claims incurred but not reported is based on 
information provided by the entity's third-party administrators and subsequent claims 
activity. 

• The assumptions used in the actuarial valuations of the pension and other postemployment 
benefits plans are based on historical trends and industry standards. 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined that they 
are reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the 
applicable opinion units. 
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Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of 
the audit. 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate 
them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also 
communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 
transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole and each 
applicable opinion unit. In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, 
corrected misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit 
procedures. None of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by 
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as 
a whole. 

The schedule of adjustments passed is included with management's written representations in 
Attachment B to this letter, and summarizes uncorrected financial statement misstatements whose 
effects in the current and prior periods, as determined by management, are immaterial, both individually 
and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole and each applicable opinion unit. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to the City's financial statements or the auditors' report. No such 
disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in Attachment 
B to this letter. 

Management's Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of 
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating and 
regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks 
of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the 
City's auditors. 
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Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements 

Our responsibility for the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, as 
described by professional standards, is to evaluate the presentation of the supplementary information in 
relation to the financial statements as a whole and to report on whether the supplementary information 
is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. We made 
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and 
the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards 

Generally accepted accounting principles (GMP) are continually changing in order to promote the 
usability and enhance the applicability of information included in external financial reporting. While it 
would not be practical to include an in-depth discussion of every upcoming change in professional 
standards, Attachment A to this letter contains a brief overview of recent pronouncements of the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and their related effective dates. Management is 
responsible for reviewing these standards, determining their applicability, and implementing them in 
future accounting periods. 

This information is intended solely for the use of the governing body and management of the City of 
Pontiac and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

LLC 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

AttachmentA - Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards I Regulations 
For the June 30, 2019 Audit 

The following pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) have been released 
recently and may be applicable to the City in the near future. We encourage management to review the 
following information and determine which standard(s) may be applicable to the City. For the complete 
text of these and other GASB standards, visit www.gasb.org and click on the "Standards & Guidance" tab. If 
you have questions regarding the applicability, timing, or implementation approach for any of these 
standards, please contact your audit team. 

GASB 84 II Fiduciary Activities 

Effective 12/15/2019 (your FY 2020) 

This standard establishes new criteria for determining how to report fiduciary activities in governmental 
financial statements. The focus is on whether the government is controlling the assets, and who the 
beneficiaries are. Under this revised standard, certain activities previously reported in agency funds may be 
reclassified in future periods. Due to the number of specific factors to consider, we will continue to assess 
the degree to which this standard may impact the City. 

GASB 87 11111 Leases 

Effective 12/15/2020 (your FY 2021) 

This standard establishes a single model for reporting all leases (including those previously classified as 
operating and capital). Lessees will now report offsetting intangible lease assets and lease liabilities equal 
to the present value of future lease payments. Lessors will report offsetting lease receivables and deferred 
inflows of resources. 

GASB 89 II Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period 

Effective 12/ 1512020 (your FY 2021) 

This standard eliminates the requirement for governments to capitalize interest during the construction 
period for business-type activities. As this simplifies the accounting for interest, early implementation is 
encouraged. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

GASB 90 II Majority Equity Interests 

Effective 12115/2019 (your FY 2020) 

This standard addresses situations in which a government acquires a majority of the equity interest in a 
legally separate organization, and whether such holdings should be reported as an investment or a 
component unit. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Attachment A - Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards/ Regulations 
For the June 30, 2019 Audit 

GASB 91 11111 Conduit Debt Obligations 
Effective 12115/ 2021 (your FY 2022) 

This standard defines "conduit debt obligations", where a government issues debt whose proceeds are 
received and repaid by a third-party obligor without the issuer being primarily liable. The standard requires 
issuers to disclose conduit debt obligations, but not to record a liability unless it is more likely than not that 
a commitment made by the issuer will require it to support one or more debt payments for a conduit debt 
obligation. We do not expect this standard to have any significant effect on the City. 

II 11111 1111 1111 1111 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Attachment B - Management Representations 
For the June 30, 2019 Audit 

Following are the written representations that we requested from management. 
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- Rehmann Robson 
675 Robinson Road 
Jackson, Ml 49203 

[»EIRDRE V\T ATERivIAN 

MAYOR 

CITY OF PONTIAC: 

December 23, 2019 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component 
units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Pontiac, Michigan 
(the "City"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, for the purpose of expressing opinions on whether the basic financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows, where 
applicable, and the respective budgetary comparison for the general fund and each major special 
revenue fund of the City in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted for governments in 
the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items 
are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a 
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or 
misstatement. 

We confirm that, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately 
informing ourselves as of December 23, 2019: 

Financial Statements 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated 
September 19, 2019, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of the 
various opinion units referred to above in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We have reviewed, approved, 
and taken responsibility for the. financial statements and related notes. 

2. We have reviewed and approved the various adjusting journal entries that were proposed by you for 
recording in our books and records and reflected in the financial statements. 

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

4. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control to preV!=nt and detect fraud. 

5. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair 
value, are reasonable. 

47450 Woodward Avenue e Pontiac, Michigan 48342 
Direct: (248) 758--3181 ° Appointments: (248) 758-3326 a Fa,'<: (248) 758-3292 
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6. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. For the purposes of this letter, related parties 
mean members of the governing body; board members; administrative officials; immediate families 
of administrative officials, board rnenmers, and members of the governing body; and any companies 
affiliated with or owned by such individuals. 

7. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which U.S. GAAP requires 
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

8. The effects of uncorrected misstatements summarized in the attached schedule and aggregated by 
you during the current engagement are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the 
applicable opinion units and to the financial statements as a whole. 

9. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

10. With regard to items reported at fair value: 
a. The underlying assumptions are reasonable and they appropriately reflect management's intent 

and ability to carry out its stated courses of action. 
b. The measurement methods and related assumptions used in determining fair value are 

appropriate in the circumstances and have been consistently applied. · 
c. The disclosures related to fair values are complete, adequate, and in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 
d. There are no subsequent events that require adjustments to the fair value measurements and 

disclosures included in the financial statements. 
11. All component units, as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, are included and other joint 

ventures and related organizations are properly disclosed. 
12. All funds and activities are properly classified. 
13. All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements­

and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments, and GASB Statement 
No. 37, Basic Financial Statements-and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local 
Governments: Omnibus, for presentation as major are identified and presented as such and all other 
funds that are presented as major are considered important to financial statement users. 

14. All components of net position and fund balance classifications have been properly reported. 
15. All revenues within the statement of activities have been properly classified as program revenues, 

general revenues, contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanent 
fund principal. 

16. All expenses have been properly classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement 
of activities, and allocations, if any, have been made on a reasonable basis. 

17. All interfund and intra-entity transactions and balances have been properly classified and reported. 
18. Special items and extraordinary items have been properly classified and reported. 
19. Deposit and investment risks have been properly and fully disclosed. 
20. Capital assets, including infrastructure assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and if applicable, 

depreciated. 
21. All required supplementary information is measured and presented within the prescribed guidelines. 
22. We believe that the actuarial assumptions and methods used to measure pension and other 

postemployment benefit liabilities and costs for financial accounting purposes are appropriate in the 
circumstances. 

Information Provided 

23. We have provided you with: 
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a. Access to all information, of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements of the various opinion units referred to above, such as 
records, documentation, meeting minutes, and other matters; 
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b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and 
c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to 

obtain audit evidence. 
24. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 

statements. 
25. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may 

be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 
26. We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves: 

a. Management; 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

27. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity's financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, vendors, regulators, or others. 

28. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements and we have not consulted legal counsel 
concerning litigation or claims. 

29. We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity's related parties and all the related party 
relationships and transactions of which we are aware. 

30. There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with or 
deficiencies in accounting, internal control, or financial reporting practices. 

31. The government has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities. 

32. We have disclosed .to you all guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the government is 
contingently liable. 

33. We have identified and disclosed to you the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant 
agreements that could have a direct and material effect on financial statement amounts, including 
legal and contractual provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds. 

34. There are no: 
a. Violations or possible violations of laws or regulations, or provisions of contracts or grant 

agreements whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as 
a basis for recording a loss contingency, including applicable budget laws and regulations. 

b. Unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has advised are probable of assertion and must 
be disclosed in accordance with GASB-62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and A/CPA Pronouncements. . 

c. Other liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed by 
GASB-62. 

35. The government has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances 
on such assets nor has any asset or future revenue been pledged as collateral, except as disclosed to 
you. 

36. We have complied with all aspects of grant agreements and other contractual agreements that would 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance. 

37. We have disclosed to you all significant estimates and material concentrations known to management 
that are required to be disclosed in accordance with GAS8-62. Significant estimates are estimates at 
the balance sheet date that could change materially within the next year. Concentrations refer to 
volumes of business, revenues, available sources of supply, or markets or geographic areas for which 
events could occur that would significantly disrupt normal finances within the next year. 
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Supplementary Information in Relation to the Financial Statements as a Whole 

38. With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements: 
a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of the supplementary information in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
b. We believe the supplementary information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior 

period. 
d. We believe the significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or 

presentation of the supplementary information, and the basis for our assumptions and 
interpretations, are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances. 

Required Supplementary Information 

39. With respect to the required supplementary information accompanying tne financial statements: 
a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the prese-ntation of the required supplementary 

information in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

b. We believe the required supplementary information, including its form and content, is measured 
and fairly presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior 
period. 

d. We believe the significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or 
presentation of the required supplementary information, and the basis for our assumptions and 
interpretations, are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances. 

Deirdre Waterman, Mayor 

~&:0/·~~ 
Ja~s-DiSessa, Deputy or 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Sch~c:lul§! of Adjustm~nts Passed(SOAP) 
For the June 30, 2019 Audit 

In accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we have prepared the following schedule of proposed audit 
adjustments, which we believe are immaterial both individually and in the aggregate. We are providing this schedule 
to both management and those charged with governance to receive their assurance that they agree that the amounts 
listed below are not material to the financial statements, either individually or in the aggregate, and do not need to 
be recorded. 

Self-insurance Worker's Compensation 
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 

Agency fund 
Open bond listing variance $ 

Effect of Passed Adjustment - Over(Under)Statement 
Beginning .. · . j 

Equity· J Revenues 

59,967 $ $ $ 
===== 

(13,150) $ (13,150) $ 
======== 

$ 

B2 

. . E,cpe11ses/ 
Expenditures 

$ (59,967) 

$ 



Year Ended 
June 30, 2019 

J~F\_ehmann 
f3,.,,s/ness wisdov,, deft'vered. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Pontiac 
Pontiac, Michigan 

Report on the Financial Statements 

December 23, 2019 

Rehmann Robson 
1500 W. Big Beaver Road 
2nd Floor 
Troy, MI 48084 
Ph: 248.952.5000 
Fx: 248.952.5750 
rehmann.com 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Pontiac, Michigan (the "City), as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Independent Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit 
the financial statements of the General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire 
Retirement System VEBA, and Police and Fire Retirement System which represent 99.8%, 100% and 100%, 
respectively, of the assets, net position, and additions of the fiduciary funds. Those statements were 
audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to 
the amounts included for the General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement 
System VEBA and the Police and Fire Retirement System are based solely on the reports of the other 
auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. The financial statements of the General City Employees' Retirement System, the 
Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA and the Police and Fire Retirement System were not audited in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

CPAs & Consultants Wealth Advisors Corporate Investigators 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Pontiac, Michigan, as of June 30, 2019, 
and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year 
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management's 
discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison schedules for the general fund, major streets special 
revenue fund, local streets special revenue fund, sanitation special revenue fund, and district court 
special revenue fund and the schedules for the pension and other postemployment benefit plans, as listed 
in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and other auditors 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the required supplementary information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The other supplemental information is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The other supplemental information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 23, 
2019, on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 

~ 1.,-l_,,._, LLC 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Mcin_agernent's Disc_1.1ssion and Analy~js 

As management of the City of Pontiac (the "City"), we offer readers of the City's financial statements this narrative 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. We encourage readers 
to consider the information presented here and contact City Administration at 248-758-3322 if you have any questions. 

Financial Highlights 

Total net position 
Change in total net position 
Fund balances, governmental funds 
Change in fund balances, governmental funds 
Unassigned fund balance, general fund 
Change in fund balance, general fund 
Long-term debt outstanding 
Change in long-term debt 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

$277,958,210 
24,368,559 
39,006,115 

909,800 
12,554,802 

1,162,861 
8,807,480 

(8,061,156) 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial statements. The City's basic 
financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, 
and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains supplementary information in addition to the basic 
financial statements themselves. 

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with 
a broad overview of the City's finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 

The statement of net position presents financial information on all of the City's assets, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City's net position changed during the most recent fiscal 
year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless 
of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will 
only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes and earned and unused vacation leave). 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues (government activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a 
significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of 
the City include general government, public safety, public works, community development, community and human 
services, and recreation and culture. The business-type activities of the City include the Phoenix Center (parking fund). 

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but also two 
legally separate Tax Increment Finance Authorities and a legally separate Brownfield Redevelopment Authority, known as 
component units, for which the City is financially accountable. Financial information for these component units are 
reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary government itself. 

Fund Financial Statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that 
have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can 
be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions as reported as governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements; however, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund 
financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable 
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in assessing a government's near-term 
financing requirements. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Management's Discussion ancl Analysis 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to 
compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities 
in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the 
government's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds 
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison 
between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The City maintains numerous individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately for each major fund 
(general, major streets, local streets, sanitation, and district court) and combined for the nonmajor funds in the 
governmental funds balance sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in 
fund balance. Individual fund data for the nonmajor funds is found in the supplementary information. 

In compliance with the City's budget ordinance, the City prepared a three-year budget for fiscal years 2018-19, 2019-20, 
and 2020-21. The City Council of the City of Pontiac adopted the 2018-19 fiscal year budget by function. This allows City 
officials responsible for the expenditures authorized in the budget to expend City funds up to, but not to exceed, the total 
appropriation authorized for each function. A budgetary comparison schedule has been provided for the General Fund and 
each major special revenue fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 

The City has received the Government Finance Officers Association award for Distinguished Budget Presentation for fiscal 
years 2017-18 and 2018-19. The City has applied for the award again in fiscal year 2020. That 2020 budget document 
includes a five-year balanced budget for fiscal years 2019-20, 2020-21, 2021-22, 2022-23, and 2023-24. 

Proprietary funds are used by the City to provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail. Two types of proprietary funds are used. enterprise funds are used to report the same 
functions as presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The parking fund is the 
City's only enterprise fund. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs 
internally among the City's various functions. The City uses internal service funds to account for costs related to workers' 
compensation, insurance, and accrued employee time off in the workers' compensation fund, the insurance fund, and the 
employee sick and vacation fund, respectively. Because all of these services predominantly benefit governmental rather 
than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. 
The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Phoenix Center which is the City's only 
enterprise fund. Conversely, internal service funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary 
fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal service funds is provided in the form of combining 
statements in the other supplemental information section of this report. 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held by the government for the benefit of outside parties. Fiduciary 
funds are not reported in the government-wide financial statement because the fund's resources are not available to 
support the programs of the City. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data 
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Other Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
required supplementary information. This is limited to this management's discussion and analysis and the schedules for the 
pension and other postemployment benefit plans and budgetary information for the City's general fund and major special 
revenue funds. 

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with the nonmajor governmental funds and internal service 
funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary information. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Managell'lent'sDiscussion and Analysis 

Government-wide Overall Financial Analysis 

The following table shows, in a condensed format, the net position as of the current and prior years: 

Governmental .Activities 

2019 I 2018 
Assets 

Net Position 

Business_:free Acti'li_ties 
2of9 ·•·• --' l --2018 2018 

Current and other assets 
Capital assets, net 

Total assets 

$248,202,241 $293,063,859 $ 4,243,230 $ 5,066,635 $252,445,471 $298,130,494 

Deferred outflows of 
resources 

Liabilities 
Current and other liabilities 
Long-term debt outstanding 

Total liabilities 

Deferred inflows of 
resources 

Net position: 
Investment in 

capital assets 
Restricted 
Unrestricted (deficit) 

Total net position 

91,319,437 89,438,932 9,292,755 9,857,616 100,612,192 99,296,548 
339,521,678 382,502,791 13,535,985 14,924,251 353,057,663 397,427,042 

50,890,759 

115,918,067 
8,807,480 

124,725,547 

1,165,954 

91,319,437 
239,473,682 
(66,272,183) 

$264,520,936 

2,412,557 

107,948,776 
16,868,636 

124,817,412 

20,256,532 

391,169 

468,961 

468,961 

20,919 

994,666 

994,666 

181,338 

51,281,928 

116,387,028 
8,807,480 

125,194,508 

1, 186,873 

89,438,932 9,292,755 9,857,616 100,612,192 
241,993,682 2,219,753 2,251,608 241,693,435 

(91,591,210) __ 1_, 9_2_4,_7_66 ____ 1_,6_3_9_,0_2_3 ___ (6_4_, 3_4_7_,4_1_7) 

$239,841,404 $ 13,437,274 $ 13,748,247 $277,958,210 

2,412,557 

108,943,442 
16,868,636 

125,812,078 

20,437,870 

99,296,548 
244,245,290 
(89,952,187) 

$253,589,651 

As noted earlier, net position over time may serve as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the case of 
the City, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $277,958,210 
at the close of the most recent fiscal year. $100,612,192 of the City's net position reflects its investment in capital assets 
(e.g. land, buildings, machinery, equipment, vehicles, and infrastructure). The City uses these capital assets to provide a 
variety of services to its citizens. Accordingly, these assets are not available for future spending. 

An additional portion of the City's net position, $241,693,435, represents resources that are subject to external restrictions 
on how they may be used. The remaining balance of ($64,347,417) is unrestricted and could be used to meet the 
government's ongoing obligations to its citizens and creditors. 

The City's overall net position increased by $24,368,559 from the prior fiscal year. The reasons for the overall increase are 
discussed in the following sections for governmental activities and business-type activities. 

Governmental activities, During the current fiscal year, net position for governmental activities, increased $24,679,532 
from the prior fiscal year for an ending balance of $264,520,936. This increase is primarily due to a decrease in the liability 
and related deferred inflows and outflows of the City's OPEB systems by a net total of $23,486,683. Additionally, net 
position increased as a result of a decrease in the City's long-term debt obligations of $8,061, 156. These increases were 
offset by a decrease in the City's GERS net pension asset and an increase of the Police and Fire net pension liability and 
related deferred inflows and outflows of both plans by a net total of $6,497,302. 

Business-type activities. The City's business-type activities consists of the parking fund. The City owns the Phoenix 
Center parking structure, which was the subject of litigation that was settled in November of 2018. As a result of the 
settlement, the City is obligated to repair the structure and provide routine maintenance. During the current fiscal year, 
net position for business-type activities decreased $310,973 from the prior fiscal year for an ending balance of 
$13,437,274. This is the result of depreciation of capital assets of $564,861 and litigation-related building maintenance 
costs that were not expected or budgeted for during the year. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Management's Discussion arid Analysis 

The following table shows the changes of the net position during the current year: 

Change in Net Position 
Governmental· Activities Busjness-typeActivities 

.. 
Total 

2019 2()18 2019 2018 2.019 2018 
Program revenues: 

Charges for services $ 4,313,235 $ 4,339,774 $ 520 $ 15,128 $ 4,313,755 s 4,354,902 

Operating grants 12,928,077 12,268,135 164,925 12,928,077 12,433,060 

Capital grants 1,130,030 1,972,784 1,130,030 1,972,784 

General revenues: 
Property taxes 12,429,041 11,904,598 12,429,041 11,904,598 

Income taxes 14,537,062 13, 152,028 14,537,062 13,152,028 

Unrestricted state shared 

revenues 10,013,232 9,791,923 10,013,232 9,791,923 

Unrestricted investment 
earnings 871,598 327,058 47,975 18,568 919,573 345,626 

Cable franchise fees 547,547 550,765 547,547 550,765 

Other general revenues 266,744 266,744 

State revenue 471,724 471,724 

Total revenues 57,508,290 54,307,065 48,495 198,621 57,556,785 54,505,686 

Change in Net Position 
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 
Expenses: 

General government s 5,626,651 s 9,326,686 s s s 5,626,651 s 9,326,686 

Public safety 16,650,436 28,348,986 16,650,436 28,348,986 

Public works 10,098,286 12,087,764 10,098,286 12,087,764 

Community development (1,530,006) 1,315,867 (1,530,006) 1,315,867 

Community and human 

services 348,277 411,864 348,277 411,864 

Recreation and culture 1,635,114 595,224 1,635,114 595,224 

Parking 359,468 659,442 359,468 659,442 

Total expenses 32,828,758 52,086,391 359,468 659,442 33,188,226 52,745,833 

Change in net position 24,679,532 2,220,674 (310,973) (460,821) 24,368,559 1,759,853 

Net position beginning of year 239,841,404 237,620,730 13,748,247 14,209,068 253,589,651 251,829,798 

End of year $264,520,936 $239,841,404 s 13,437,274 s 13,748,247 $277,958,210 $253,589,651 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Managem~nt's Discussion i\ndAnalysis 

Financial Analysis of the City's Funds 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. 

Governmental Funds. The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, 
and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's financing requirements. In 
particular, unassigned fund balance serves as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for discretionary 
use as they represent the portion of fund balance which has not yet been limited to use for a particular purpose by either 
an external party, the City itself, or a group or individual that has been delegated authority to assign resources for 
particular purposes by the Pontiac City Coun~il. 

At June 30, 2019, the City's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $39,006,115 an increase of $909,800 
in comparison with the prior year. Approximately 32% of this amount, $12,554,802, constitutes unassigned fund balance, 
which is available for spending at the government's discretion. The remainder of the fund balance is either nonspendable, 
restricted, committed or assigned to indicate that it is 1) not in a spendable form ($83,486), 2) restricted for particular 
purposes ($20,367,827), 3) committed for particular purposes ($3,200,000), or 4) assigned for particular purposes 
($2,800,000). 

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of 
the General Fund was $12,554,802, while total fund balance increased to $18,585,011. As a measure of the general fund's 
liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total general fund 
expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents approximately 36% of the total general fund expenditures, while total 
fund balance represents approximately 53% of that same amount. 

The fund balance of the City's general fund for fiscal year 2019 was $18,585,011, an increase of $1, 162,861 from the prior 
fiscal year. The increase was mainly due to the City collecting $1,141,974 of additional income tax receipts, net of 
refunds, as compared to the prior year. Other revenue sources that increased compared to prior year were the personal 
property tax exemption reimbursement ($132,760), and state shared revenue ($221,309). 

The major street fund, a major fund, had a $170,435 decrease in fund balance during the current fiscal year which 
decreased the overall fund balance to $2,492,968. This is a result of one time additional expenditures on capital road 
projects as compared to prior year. Major road projects for fiscal year 2019 were Joslyn Road, Hill Street, University Drive, 
and South Boulevard. 

The local street fund, a major fund, had a $945,260 decrease in fund balance during the current fiscal year which 
decreased the overall fund balance to $4,988,092. The decrease in fund balance was expected and budgeted for during the 
time the budget was originally adopted. The original budget projected fund balance to decrease approximately $1.3 
million. The decrease is mainly due to one time additional expenditures on capital road projects as compared to prior year. 
Major road projects for fiscal year 2019 were Kettering, Irwin, and Ferry Streets. 

The sanitation fund, a major fund, had a $38,237 decrease in fund balance during the current fiscal year which decreased 
the overall fund balance to $6,177,611. The decrease in fund balance was expected and included in the originally adopted 
budget. The original budget projected fund balance to decrease by approximately $939,000. Total expenditures came in 
less than what was projected for the year. 

The district court fund, a major fund, had a $606 decrease in fund balance during the current fiscal year which decreased 
the fund balance to $1,487. This decrease was due to utilization of fund balance to cover the cost of operating 
expenditures during the year. 

Proprietary Funds. The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. 

Net position of the parking fund at the end of the fiscal year was $13,437,274. The total decrease in net position for the 
proprietary fund was $310,973 (parking fund is the only propriety fund of the City). This was primarily caused by 
depreciation of capital assets of $564,861. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Management's [)iscussion and Analysis 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Original budget compared to final budget. Over the course of the year, the City amended the budget five times to take 
into account events during the year. The significant portion of which was for use of unused appropriations for capital outlay 
from the previous fiscal year. The other amendments were for the following events that happened during the year: 5% 
salary increases, setting up the MIDC fund, Phoenix Center Settlement, and Williams International Education funding. 

Final budget compared to actual results. The most significant differences between estimated and actual amounts were 
as follows: 

Total revenues exceeded the final budget by $1,650,928 which is mostly due to property tax collections exceeding the 
final budget estimates by $624, 119 and income tax collections, net of refunds, exceeding final budget estimates by 
$1,006,678. Property tax chargebacks were less than anticipated by $566,815 causing actual revenue to be more than 
budget. Finally, the City exceeded the final budget estimates for State Shared Revenue by $461,154. 

Total expenditures came in $2,648,554 less than budgeted. Significant savings resulted from less than anticipated 
expenditures for the following: 

The general government function other services and charges expenditures were less than anticipated. 
Expenditures were about $397k less than budget mainly due to unspent District Project money. 
Public safety function came in about $154k less than budget mainly due to sheriff overtime expenditures being 
less than anticipated. Building maintenance services for the police and fire departments also came in under 
Public works function was about $587k less than budget. $298k of that amount is due to personnel expenditures 
being less than anticipated. The other part of that amount is made up of the other services and charges line items, 
asset management, and utilities street lighting. 
Health and welfare function had $150k available funds for tele-van services at the end of the fiscal year. 
Community and economic development function was about $832k under budget at the end of the fiscal year. This 
was due to a combination of factors. Personnel services came in $352k less than budgeted. Civil engineering 
expenditures were less than anticipated. Also, TIFA contributions from the general fund were less than budgeted 
due to higher than anticipated property tax capture. 
Recreation and culture function was about $210k less than budget, mainly due to the other services and charges 
line item, grant matching. 
Other functions -The retiree fringe benefits contribution was about $319k less than anticipated. 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

Capital assets. The City's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 
2019, amounts to $100,612,192 (net of accumulated depreciation). The investment in capital assets includes land, 
buildings, machinery and equipment, vehicles, and infrastructure. 

Land s 25,105,058 s 25,105,058 s 3,042,537 s 3,042,537 s 28,147,595 s 28,147,595 
Construction in progress 3,232,385 1,589,687 3,232,385 1,589,687 

Streets and bridges 61,084,399 61,533,603 61,084,399 61,533,603 

Buildings and improvements 740,269 684,336 6,250,218 6,815,079 6,990,487 7,499,415 
Machinery and equipment 645,391 252,195 645,391 252,195 
Vehicles 326,624 71,182 326,624 71,182 
Land improvements 185,311 202,871 185,311 202,871 
Total s 91,319,437 s 89,438,932 s 9,292,755 s 9,857,616 $100,612,192 s 99,296,548 

Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note 5 of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Maoagernent's Discussion and Analysis 

Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total indebtedness of $8,807,480. 

The City's total indebtedness decreased by $8,061, 156 during the current fiscal year primarily due to the Phoenix Center 
Settlement which reduced debt by $4,550,000. Reduction of the TIFA financial guarantee also decreased indebtedness by 
approximately $3.5 million. 

Presently, the City does not have any debt that is rated by any of the debt rating agencies related to governmental 
activities and business-type activities. 

State statute limits the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to ten percent of its total 
assessed valuation. The current debt limitation for the City is approximately $69. 6 million. 

Additional information on the City's long-term debt can be found in Note 7 of the financial statements. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates 

The City's largest source of revenue is local income tax. Income tax revenue continues to outpace budget 
assumptions. The City's second largest source of revenue is from City, Village, and Township revenue sharing. City 
property tax collections are the third largest source of revenue for Pontiac. 

Significant new construction projects are in the process of being developed in the City, mainly funded by the gas 
and weight tax and a prior year transfer from the general fund's accumulated fund balance. 

Charges for general liability insurance are proving to be less than anticipated as the City continues to settle 
outstanding lawsuits or prevail at levels less than anticipated. The number of lawsuits filed against the City has 
decreased significantly from several years ago. 

Because of improving economic conditions, sales prices in the housing market are steadily increasing. 

The City is significantly reducing the number of dilapidated housing units in the City through a strong demolition 
program of dangerous structures. 

Effective September 1, 2013, the City received permission from the State Treasurer to temporarily modify collective 
bargaining agreements by eliminating the City's responsibility to provide and fund health insurance, life insurance, optical 
insurance, hearing insurance, and dental insurance benefits for its retirees for two years or the period of receivership, 
whichever is longer. A group of retirees sued the City and sought a temporary restraining order, which was denied by the 
federal District Court, but later remanded after a hearing by the full 6th Circuit Court of Appeals. In addition, the City 
received permission from the State Treasurer to temporarily suspend contributions to the Police and Fire Retiree Prefunded 
Group Health and Insurance Trust during the period of receivership. This action is also subject of litigation (see Note 17). 

As of November 2018, the City and the Retirees Association (CPREA) have entered into a tentative settlement agreement 
(that was approved by the Pontiac City Council and District Court). If approved by the IRS, the settlement will resolve the 
City's obligation to provide health insurance to those retirees through a creation of a new VEBA utilizing a portion of assets 
from the General Employees Retirement system and all assets of the Police and Fire VEBA system. The City's initial 
contribution to the new VEBA created by this settlement will be $4,250,000 less any awards against the City in the Board of 
Trustees Police and Fire VEBA vs City of Pontiac litigation. 

On July 31, 2019, a judgement was entered regarding the FY 2012 annual contribution of $3,473,923 in the Board of 
Trustees Police and Fire VEBA vs City of Pontiac litigation. The City was directed to pay the FY 2012 contribution of 
$3,473,923 plus interest of $600,052 for a total award of $4,073,975 to the VEBA. The City and the VEBA entered into a 
settlement on October 31, 2019 which would offset the receivables owed from the VEBA to the City as of October 31, 2019 
against the award of $4,073,975 and prospectively monies the VEBA will be indebted to the City relating to insurance 
premium payments until the $4,073,975 was paid in full. In addition, the award in the VEBA case of $4,073,975 would 
offset the initial contribution of $4,250,000 mandated in the settlement of the Retired Employees Association vs City of 
Pontiac case, with the difference of $176,025 owed at the time of the creation of the new VEBA if approved by the IRS, 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Requests for Information 

This financial report is intended to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors with a general overview of the 
City's finances and to show the City's accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or 
need additional information, we welcome you to contact the Deputy Mayor at Pontiac City Hall, 47450 Woodward Ave., 
Pontiac, Michigan, 48342. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Net Position 
June 30, 2019 

Primary Government 
--:-:= _- --------1 -

Business,type Ccimporient Governmental i 

Activities •·· / Activities. Totals Units 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 40,967,465 $ 2,390,695 $ 43,358,160 s 532,157 
Receivables, net 10,097,840 3,032 10,100,872 29,571 
Other assets 4,878,857 4,878,857 
Restricted assets 2,122,397 2,122,397 
Capital assets not being depreciated 28,337,443 3,042,537 31,379,980 
Capital assets being depreciated, net 62,981,994 6,250,218 69,232,212 
Net pension asset 190,135,682 1,849,503 191,985,185 

Total assets 339,521,678 13,535,985 353,057,663 561,728 

Deferred outflows of resources 
Deferred charge on refunding 511,707 
Deferred pension amounts 47,146,996 391,169 47,538,165 
Deferred other postemployment benefit amounts 3,743,763 3,743,763 

Total deferred outflows of resources 50,890,759 391,169 51,281,928 511,707 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,007,404 104,750 11,112,154 172,671 
Unearned revenue 466,427 466,427 
Long-term liabilities: 

Due within one year 1,496,070 1,496,070 1,410,000 
Due in more than one year 7,311,410 7,311,410 18,380,000 
Financial guarantee 4,653,307 

Net pension liability ( due in more than one year) 37,303,303 37,303,303 
Net other postemployment benefit 

liability (due in more than one year) 67,140,933 364,211 67,505,144 

Total liabilities 124,725,547 468,961 125,194,508 24,615,978 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Deferred pension amounts 1,165,954 20,919 1,186,873 

Net position 
Investment in capital assets 91,319,437 9,292,755 100,612,192 
Restricted for; 

Roads 8,201,484 8,201,484 
Drug enforcement 227,440 227,440 
Capital projects 3,016,941 3,016,941 
Sanitation 4,012,386 4,012,386 
Senior activities 1,032,821 1,032,821 
Community development 30,335 30,335 
Home buyers assistance 3,638 3,638 
Cable television 1,200,486 1,200,486 
Telecommunications 57,750 57,750 
Building inspection 924,178 924,178 
Pension benefits 220,766,223 2,219,753 222,985,976 

Unrestricted (deficit) (66,272, 183) 1,924,766 (64,347,417) (23,542,543) 

Total net position (deficit) s 264,520,936 s 13,437,274 s 277,958,210 s (23,542,543) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Activities 
- - -

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Program ;Revenues 

Operating Capital 
Charges Grants and Grants and Net (Expense) 

Functions/Programs Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions Revenue 

Primary government 
Governmental activities: 

General government $ 5,626,651 $ 1,374,504 $ 2,398,535 $ $ (1,853,612) 
Public safety 16,650,436 308,152 2,684,070 (13,658,214) 
Public works 10,098,286 2,486,388 7,518,501 1,180,246 1,086,849 
Community development (1,530,006) 121,806 310,617 (52,426) 1,910,003 
Community and human services 348,277 (348,277) 
Recreation and culture 1,635,114 22,385 16,354 2,210 (1,594,165) 

Total governmental activities 32,828,758 4,313,235 12,928,077 1,130,030 (14,457,416) 

Business-type activities -
Parking fund 359,468 520 (358,948) 

Total primary government $ 33,188,226 $ 4,313,755 $ 12,928,077 $ 1,130,030 $ (14,816,364) 

Component units 
Tax Increment Financing Authority $ 1,649,162 $ 75,000 $ 632,824 $ - $ (941,338) 

continued ... 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Activities 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Primary Governmen_t 

Governmental l Business-type 
Activities ! Activities 

I 
Compcment 

Totals Units 

Changes in net position 
Net expense $ (14,457,416) $ (358,948) $ (14,816,364) $ (941,338) 

----'----'---'-

General revenues 
Property taxes 
Income taxes 
State-shared revenue (unrestricted) 
Unrestricted investment earnings 
Cable franchise fees 
Other general revenues 
State revenue 

Total general revenues 

Change in net position 

Net position, beginning of year 

Net position, end of year $ 

12,429,041 
14,537,062 
10,013,232 

871,598 
547,547 
266,744 
471,724 

39,136,948 

24,679,532 

239,841,404 

264,520,936 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

19 

$ 

12,429,041 1,491,334 
14,537,062 
10,013,232 

47,975 919,573 
547,547 
266,744 
471,724 197,210 

47,975 39,184,923 1,688,544 

(310,973) 24,368,559 747,206 

13,748,247 253,589,651 (24,289,749) 

13,437,274 $ 277,958,210 $ (23,542,543) 

concluded. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Balance Sheet 
-- - ' -- ---

Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2019 

Major Local 
General Streets Streets Sanitation 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 17,280,341 $ 2,521,641 $ 5,731,393 $ 4,334,375 
Accounts receivable, net 597,316 145,962 110,500 
Taxes receivable, net 4,686,960 8,994 
Interest receivable 20,322 2,097 6,927 2,959 
Due from other governments 1,705,412 896,476 272,953 
Due from other funds 724,424 
Prepaids 30,209 
Restricted assets 2,122,397 

Total assets $ 25,044,984 $ 3,566,176 $ 6,011,273 $ 6,579,226 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable $ 1,999,870 $ 483,539 $ 876,227 $ 307,519 
Accrued wages 108,580 6,411 9,788 1,441 
Unearned revenue 
Due to other governments 862,262 81,492 
Due to other funds 
Deposits payable 495,150 

Total liabilities 3,465,862 489,950 886,015 390,452 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Unavailable revenue • taxes and 

due from other governments 2,994,111 583,258 137,166 11, 163 

Fund balances 
Nonspendable 30,209 
Restricted 2,492,968 4,988,092 6,177,610 
Committed 3,200,000 
Assigned 2,800,000 
Unassigned 12,554,802 

Total fund balances 18,585,011 2,492,968 4,988,092 6,177,611 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows 
of resources and fund balances $ 25,044,984 $ 3,566,176 $ 6,011,273 $ 6,579,226 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Nonmajor 
District Governmental 
,Court Funds Totals 

$ 896,434 $ 7,463,521 $ 38,227,705 
36,727 890,505 
6,628 4,702,582 
5,759 38,064 

2,874,841 
724,424 

1,487 51,789 83,486 
2,122,397 

$ 897,921 $ 7,564,424 $ 49,664,004 

$ 36,283 $ 248,375 $ 3,951,813 
62,740 38,049 227,009 

466,427 466,427 
65,153 43,199 1,052,106 

724,424 724,424 
7,834 800 503,784 

896,434 796,850 6,925,563 

6,628 3,732,326 

1,487 51,789 83,486 
6,709,157 20,367,827 

3,200,000 
2,800,000 

12,554,802 

1,487 6,760,946 39,006,115 

$ 897,921 $ 7,564,424 $ 49,664,004 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Reconciliation 
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
to Net Position of Governmental Activities 
June 30, 2019 

Fund balances - total governmental funds 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are 
different because: 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and 
therefore are not reported in the funds. 

Capital assets not being depreciated 
Capital assets being depreciated, net 

Because the focus of governmental funds is on short-term financing, some 
assets will not be available to pay for current expenditures. Those assets 
(i.e., receivables) are offset by deferred inflows in the governmental funds 
and, therefore, are not included in fund balance. 

Certain pension and other postemployment benefit-related amounts, such as the net 
pension and other postemployment benefit assets/liabilities and deferred amounts 
are not due and payable in the current period or do not represent current financial 
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds. 

Net pension liability 
Net pension asset 
Net other postemployment benefit liability 
Deferred outflows related to the net pension asset and liability 
Deferred inflows related to the net pension asset and liability 
Deferred outflows related to the net other postemployment benefit liability 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain 
equipment maintenance to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the 
internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the statement 
of net position. 

Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period, and therefore 
are not recorded in the funds. 

Financial guarantee 
Lawsuit settlement 
Landfill closure and postclosure costs 

Net position of governmental activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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$ 39,006,115 

28,337,443 
62,981,994 

3,732,326 

(37,303,303) 
190,135,682 
(67,140,933) 
47,146,996 
(1,165,954) 
3,743,763 

3,453,503 

(3,430,308) 
(2,800,000) 
(2,176,388) 

$ 264,520,936 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Major Local 

General Streets Streets Sanitation · 
Revenues 

Property taxes and special assessments $ 8,403,182 $ $ $ 1,865,787 
Income taxes 14,456,678 
Federal revenue 85,972 
State revenue 10,557,441 5,880,723 1,550,925 103,490 
Charges for services 954,247 15,851 1,671,488 
Fines and forfeitures 8,000 
Licenses and permits 192,758 
Interest and rental revenue 997,953 30,733 102,735 102,794 
Other revenue 1,673,351 71,003 

Total revenues 37,329,582 5,998,310 1,653,660 3,743,559 

Expenditures 
Current: 

General government 8,738,249 
District court 
Public safety 19,856,095 
Public works 2,098,159 6,187,229 2,613,045 3,782,087 
Community and economic development 1,560,859 
Community and human services 
Recreation and culture 510,475 
Retiree fringe benefits 2,133,428 

Capital outlay 

Total expenditures 34,897,265 6,187,229 2,613,045 3,782,087 

Revenues over (under) expenditures 2,432,317 (188,919) (959,385) (38,528) 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 248,585 18,484 14,125 291 
Transfers out (1,518,041) 

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,269,456) 18,484 14, 125 291 

Net changes in fund balances 1,162,861 (170,435) (945,260) (38,237) 

Fund balances, beginning of year 17,422,150 2,663,403 5,933,352 6,215,848 

Fund balances, end of year $ 18,585,011 $ 2,492,968 $ 4,988,092 $ 6,177,611 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements, 
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Nonmajor 
District Go~ernmentai 
Court Funds Totals 

$ $ 2,186,274 $ 12,455,243 
14,456,678 

85,972 
182,896 316,267 18,591,742 
773,290 111,085 3,525,961 

1,079,420 41,197 1,128,617 
2,370,973 2,563,731 

1,869 122,868 1,358,952 
551,793 2,296,147 

2,037,475 5,700,457 56,463,043 

282,892 9,021,141 
2,942,908 2,942,908 

2,051,401 21,907,496 
14,680,520 
1,560,859 

348,277 348,277 
987,338 1,497,813 

2,133,428 
959,377 959,377 

2,942,908 4,629,285 55,051,819 

(905,433) 1,071,172 1,411,224 

946,047 55,305 1,282,837 
(41,220) (225,000) (1,784,261) 

904,827 (169,695) (501,424) 

(606) 901,477 909,800 

2,093 5,859,469 38,096,315 

$ 1,487 $ 6,760,946 $ 39,006,115 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Reconciliation 
Net Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
to Changes in Net Position of Governmental Activities 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are 
different because: 

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the statement 
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as 
depreciation expense. 

Capital assets purchased/constructed 
Depreciation expense 

Revenues recorded in the statement of activities in the prior year that did not provide 
current financial resources are reported as revenues in the funds in the current year. 

Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of 
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the funds. 

Change in net other postemployment benefit liability 
Change in net pension asset/ liability 
Change in financial guarantee 
Change in landfill closure and postclosure liability 
Change in accrual for lawsuit settlement 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain 
activities, such as self-insurance, to individual funds. The change in the net 
position of the internal service funds is reported with governmental activities. 

Change in net position of governmental activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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$ 909,800 

5,716,195 
(5,143,967) 

1,024,759 

23,486,683 
(6,497,302) 
3,489,338 

(9,630) 
4,550,000 

(2,846,344) 

$ 24,679,532 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

• statement of Net Positfon 
Proprietary Funds 
June 30, 2019 

Business-type 
Activities 

·Parking 
Enterprise 

fund S.ervice funds ; 
Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash and investments $ 2,390,695 $ 2,739,760 
Accounts receivable 1,492,567 
Due from other governments 99,281 
Interest receivable 3,032 
Prepaids 4,795,371 

Total current assets 2,393,727 9,126,979 

Noncurrent assets: 
Capital assets not being depreciated 3,042,537 
Capital assets being depreciated, net 6,250,218 
Net pension asset 1,849,503 

Total noncurrent assets 11,142,258 

Total assets 13,535,985 9,126,979 

Deferred outflows of resources 
Deferred pension amounts 391,169 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 104,750 4,143,699 
Accrued liabilities 1,127,062 
Accrued wages 1,931 
Current portion of 

compensated absences 205,198 
Total current liabilities 104,750 5,477,890 

Noncurrent liabilities: 
Net other postemployment benefit liability 364,211 
Compensated absences 195,586 

Total noncurrent liabilities 364,211 195,586 

Total liabilities 468,961 5,673,476 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Deferred pension amounts 20,919 

Net position 
Investment in capital assets 9,292,755 
Restricted for pension benefits 2,219,753 
Unrestricted 1,924,766 3,453,503 

Total net position $ 13,437,274 $ 3,453,503 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Business:type 
Activities 

Parking·• 

Enterprise 
Fund 

Operating revenues 
Charges for services s 
Property taxes 520 
Other revenue 

Total revenues 520 

Operating expenses 
Insurance 
Operating and maintenance costs 419,900 
Reduction in other post employment benefit obligation liability (625,293) 
Workers' compensation expense 
Depreciation 564,861 
Miscellaneous expense 

Total operating expenses 359,468 

Operating loss (358,948) 

Nonoperating revenues 
Interest income 47,975 

Loss before transfers (310,973) 

Other financing sources 
Transfers in 

Change in net position (310,973) 

Net position, beginning of year 13,748,247 

Net position, end of year s 13,437,274 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Governmental 
Activities 

~''~--'--

Service Funds 

s 5,018,426 

694,869 

5,713,295 

8,837,773 

249,885 

4,605 

9,092,263 

(3,378,968) 

31,200 

(3,347,768) 

501,424 

(2,846,344) 

6,299,847 

s 3,453,503 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Cilsh Flows 
Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Business-type 
Activities 

l'ark.ing 
Enterprise 

Fund 
Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash received from customers $ 520 $ 
Cash payments to suppliers (288,457) (6,200,906) 
Cash payments to employees (31,029) 
Cash received from interfund services 4,608,775 

Net cash used by operating activities (287,937) (1,623,160) 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities 
Transfers in 501,424 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest income received 48,560 31,200 

Net change in cash and investments (239,377) (1,090,536) 

Cash and investments, beginning of year 2,630,072 3,830,296 

Cash and investments, end of year $ 2,390,695 $ 2,739,760 

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used by 
operating activities 

Operating loss $ (358,948) $ (3,378,968) 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to 

net cash used by operating activities: 
Depreciation expense 564,861 
Change in: 

Accounts receivable (1,099,915) 
Due from other governments (27,116) 
Interest receivable 33 
Prepaids (749,075) 
Net pension asset 583,443 
Deferred outflows of resources (391,169) 
Accounts payable 100,107 4,084,237 
Accrued liabilities (421,327) 
Accrued wages 419 
Due to other governments (519) 
Net other postemployment benefit liability (625,293) 
Compensated absences (31,448) 
Deferred inflows of resources (160,419) 

Net cash used by operating activities $ (287,937) $ (1,623,160) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
Fiduciary Funds 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments at fair value: 

U.S. government obligations and agencies 
Government agency notes and debentures 
Mortgage-backed securities 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 
U.S government securities 
U .S government mortgage-backed securities 
Commercial mortgage pools 
Asset-backed securities 
Corporate and other bonds 
Foreign bonds and notes 
Limited partnerships 
Domestic -stock 

Short-term investments 
Equities 
Domestic equities 
Private equities 
Foreign equities 
Real estate 
Real estate investment trusts 

Accrued interest and 
dividends receivable 

Due from broker 
Other receivables 
Due from other governments 
Due from Police and Fire Retirement 

System VEBA 

Total assets 
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Pension .. 
i 

. ~nclOther I 
Postemployl'Tlen~ 

Trust Fu~d~ ! 

$ 1,016,070 $ 1,626,717 

1,433,597 
62,163,411 

1,354,648 
250,142 

21,122,769 
34,358,612 
1,727,405 
1,921,301 

30,162,503 
119,100 

83,289,873 
116,875,110 
21,715,177 
21,760,227 

226,259,625 
11,477,137 
39,966,376 
18,428,545 

752,159 

1,551,313 
5,073 

4,082,643 

86,983 

7,077 

701,879,799 $ 1,633,794 

continued ... 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
Fiduciary Funds 

Liabilities 
Due to City of Pontiac 
Due to Police and Fire Retirement System 
Accounts payable and other 
Due to other governments 
Deposits payable 

Total liabilities 

Net position restriced for 
Pension benefits 
Other postemployment benefits 

Total net position 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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[)ec:emt?er 31, 
.. 2018 

·pension 
ahd Other .1 

Poste~pl~ymend 
.... . ?·•·· .. •.··, I 
Tru;;,t Funds I 

$ 72,493 $ 
86,983 

1,061,948 
70,587 

1,563,207 

1,221,424 $ 1,633,794 

660,812,181 
39,846,194 

$ 700,658,375 

concluded. 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 
Pension and Other Postemployment Benefit Trust Funds 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Additions 

Investment income: 
Interest and dividend income 
Net decrease in fair value 
Less investment expenses 

Net investment loss 

Contributions -
Employer 

Miscellaneous and litigation revenue 

Total additions 

Deductions 
Retirees' pension benefits 
Retiree health benefit payments 
Administrative expenses 

Total deductions 

Change in net position 

Net position, beginning of year 

Net position, end of year 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Pension j 

. and O!her J 

Postemployrnent: 

Tr-us1: Funds I 

$ 14,786,174 
(44,281,701) 

(3,797,987) 

(33,293,514) 

6,486,532 

86,213 

(26,720,769) 

48,830,726 
2,304,955 
1,095,039 

52,230,720 

(78,951,489) 

779,609,864 

$ 700,658,375 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Statement of Net Position 
Discretely Presented Component Units 
June 30, 2019 

Assets 
Cash and investments 
Receivables, net 

Total assets 

Deferred outflows of resources 
Deferred charge on refunding 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 
Long-term liabilities: 

Due within one year 
Due in more than one year 
Financial guarantee 

Total liabilities 

Net position 
Unrestricted ( deficit) 

-

Tax Increment 
Finance_ 

· Authority 

s 264,926 
29,571 

294,497 

511,707 

172,658 

1,410,000 
18,380,000 
4,653,307 

24,615,965 

s (23,809,761) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Brownfield 
Redevelopment 

Authority Totals 

s 267,231 s 532,157 
29,571 

267,231 561,728 

511,707 

13 172,671 

1,410,000 
18,380,000 
4,653,307 

13 24,615,978 

s 267,218 s (23,542,543) 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Statement of Activities 
Discretely Presented Component Units 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

---

Brownfield-Tax Increment 
Finance Redevelopment 

Authority Authority Totals 
Expenses 

Financial guarantee s 632,824 s s 632,824 
Interest on long-term debt 1,016,338 1,016,338 

Total expenses 1,649,162 1,649,162 

Program revenues 
Operating grants and contributions 632,824 632,824 

Net program expense (1,016,338) (1,016,338) 

General revenues 
Property taxes 1,457,438 33,896 1,491,334 
Charges for services 75,000 75,000 
State revenue 197,210 197,210 

Total general revenues 1,729,648 33,896 1,763,544 

Change in net position 713,310 33,896 747,206 

Net position (deficit), beginning of year (24,523,071) 233,322 (24,289,749) 

Net position (deficit), end of year s (23,809,761) s 267,218 s (23,542,543) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Notes to Financial Statements 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies of the City of Pontiac, Michigan (the "City") conform to accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the standard setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles, which are primarily set forth in the GASB's 
Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards (GASB Codification). Following 
is a summary of the significant policies: 

Reporting Entity 

The City of Pontiac, Michigan was incorporated on March 15, 1861 and operated under a council-strong 
mayor form of government until March 19, 2009 when an Emergency Financial Manager was appointed. 
Starting in early 2000's, the City's general fund began having a structural deficit that eventually prompted 
a preliminary review of the City's financial condition by the State of Michigan on July 31, 2007 in 
accordance with Section 12( 1) of Public Act 72 of 1990. The State concluded from the review that a serious 
financial problem did exist and ultimately appointed an Emergency Manager to run the City on March 19, 
2009. This Emergency Manager served until June 30, 2010. A second Emergency Manager was appointed and 
served from July 4, 2010 to September 8, 2011. A third Emergency Manager was appointed on September 
12, 2011. On August 19, 2013, the Emergency Manager appointed a City Administrator to manage the day-to­
day operations of the City (Order S-332), issued a final order, (Order S-334), (which was later amended), 
and submitted his resignation to the governor who appointed a Receivership Transition Advisory Board 
(RTAB) in accordance with Public Act 436 of 2012 to monitor the operations of the City. As of April 30, 2016 
the City Administrator position was eliminated and the State relinquished most of the control to the local 
officials. The State of Michigan, through the RTAB, retained control and final say over major litigation cases 
and contracts in excess of $500,000 as well as all budget amendments. On August 1, 2017, the State's 
Treasury Department announced that the Pontiac Receivership Transition Advisory Board would be 
dissolved and that effective immediately, city officials would once again have full power over Pontiac's 
internal operations and finances. Currently, the City directly manages and staffs treasury, city clerk, 
human resources, finance, executive offices, purchasing operations, and parts of DPW operations while 
other major functions and responsibilities of the City have been subcontracted with other government 
agencies or private service providers. The accompanying financial statements present the City and its 
component units, entities for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Although blended 
component units are legal separate entities, in substance, they are part of the City's operations. Each 
discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial 
statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from the City (see discussion below for description). 

Discretely Presented Component Units 

The Tax Increment Financing Authority (TIFA) was created to promote economic growth and business 
development within the community. The TIFA's governing body consists of not less than 7 or more than 13 
persons appointed by the mayor, subject to the approval of the City Council. A member shall hold office 
until the member's successor is appointed. An appointment to fill a vacancy shall be made by the mayor for 
the unexpired term only. Internally prepared financial statements for the TIFA can be obtained from the 
City of Pontiac finance department at 47450 Woodward, Pontiac, Michigan 48342. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Notes to Financial Statements 

The Brownfield Redevelopment Authority was created to remediate contaminated properties located 
within the City of Pontiac and to promote economic growth for these properties through the use of 
captured property taxes. The properties included are listed as contaminated by the Environmental 
Protection Agency. Each authority shall be under the supervision and control of a board chosen by the 
governing body (City Council). The governing body may by majority vote designate the trustees of the 
board of the Tax Increment Financing Authority as the Brownfield Redevelopment Board, which City 
Council did by resolution on December 18, 1997. Internally prepared financial statements for the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority can be obtained from the City of Pontiac finance department at 47450 
Woodward, Pontiac, Michigan 48342. 

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its 
component units. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these financial 
statements. Governmental activities, normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenue, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for 
support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate component 
units for which the primary government is financially accountable. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenue. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. Program revenue includes (1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenue are reported instead as general revenue. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund, fiduciary fund, and component unit 
financial statements. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the 
year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recognized as soon as it is both measurable 
and available. Revenue is considered to be available if it is collected within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenue to 
be available if it is collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. The following major 
revenue sources meet the availability criterion: state-shared revenue, state gas and weight tax revenue, 
district court fines, and interest associated with the current fiscal period. Conversely, some property taxes 
and income taxes will be collected after the period of availability; receivables have been recorded for 
these, along with an "unavailable revenue" deferred inflows of resources. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, 
debt service expenditures, expenditures relating to compensated absences, and claims and judgments are 
recorded only when payment is due. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

General fund. The general fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial 
resources of the general government, except those accounted for and reported in another fund. 

Major streets special revenue fund. The major streets fund receives allocations of State collected 
gasoline taxes and license fees to be used for the maintenance, repair, and construction of streets and 
bridges within the City. 

Local streets special revenue fund. The local streets fund receives allocations of State collected 
gasoline taxes and license fees to be used for the maintenance, repair, and construction of streets and 
bridges within the City. 

Sanitation special revenue fund. Under authority of State law, the City levies a special property tax 
levy earmarked to support the cost of operating a weekly rubbish collection and disposal service. This 
fund accounts for the tax levy proceeds, household rubbish fees, and host fees. It also records the 
expenditures for rubbish collection, hauling and disposal, recycling, composting, and trash cleanup. 

District court special revenue fund. The district court fund accounts for receipts and disbursements 
directly related to the operations of the district court. The financial resources of this fund are 
committed for district court operations. 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

Parking fund. The parking fund accounts for the activities of City-owned parking structures and lots. 
Funding is provided primarily through user charges. 

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 

Special revenue funds. Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of 
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes other 
than debt service or capital projects. 
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Capital project funds. Capital project funds are used to account for and report financial resources that 
are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or 
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets. 

Internal service funds. Internal service funds account for risk management services and insurance 
benefits provided to other departments of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis and accrued sick and 
vacation time. 

Pension and other postemployment benefits trust funds. The pension and other postemployment 
benefits trust funds account for the activities of the General Employees' Retirement System, Police and 
Fire Retirement System, and Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA, which accumulates resources for 
pension and other postemployment benefit payments to qualified employees. 

Agency funds. The agency funds account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity. Agency funds 
are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve the measurement of results of 
operations. 

All funds are shown for the year ended June 30, 2019, except for the pension and other postemployment 
benefit trust funds, which are shown for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. 

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is 
available, the City's policy is to first apply restricted resources. When an expense is incurred for purposes 
for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used, it is the City's 
policy to spend funds in this order: committed, assigned, and unassigned. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenue 
and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with a proprietary fund's principal 
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenue of the City's proprietary funds relates to charges to 
customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and 
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenue and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenue and expenses. 

Property Tax Revenue 

Property taxes are levied on each July 1 on the taxable valuation of property as of the preceding 
December 31 and are payable in two installments. Summer taxes are considered delinquent on 
September 1, at which time penalties and interest are assessed. Winter taxes are considered delinquent on 
February 15 of the following year, at which time a 3 percent penalty is assessed. Summer and winter taxes 
(including any penalty and interest) are turned over to Oakland County for collection. 

The City of Pontiac 2018 tax is levied and collectible on July 1, 2018 and is recognized as revenue in the 
year ended June 30, 2019, when the proceeds of the levy are budgeted and available for the financing of 
operations. 
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The 2018 taxable valuation of the City of Pontiac totaled approximately $697 million (a portion of which is 
abated and a portion of which is captured by the TIFA and Brownfield), on which taxes levied consisted of 
11.2691 mills for operating purposes, 2.8171 mills for refuse collection and disposal, 1.4085 mills for capital 
improvement, 1.4994 for youth recreation, and .4998 mill for senior activities. This resulted in $7.21 
million for operating, $1.80 million for refuse collection and disposal, $0.90 million for capital 
improvement, $0.95 million for youth recreation, and $0.32 million for senior activities. These amounts are 
recognized in the respective general fund, special revenue funds, and capital projects fund financial 
statements as property tax revenue. 

Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Position or Equity 

Deposits and Investments 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with a 
maturity of three months or less when acquired. Investments are stated at fair value. Pooled investment 
income is generally allocated to each fund using a weighted average method. 

Receivables and Payables 

In general, outstanding balances between funds are reported as "due to/from other funds." Activity 
between funds that result from the allocation of available cash balances at the end of the fiscal year is 
referred to as "advances to/from other funds." Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as "internal balances." All trade and property tax receivables are shown as net of allowance for 
uncollectible amounts. 

Prepaid Items 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid 
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Restricted Assets 

The City has set cash aside for the future closure and post-closure care for the landfill. These assets have 
been classified as restricted assets in the sanitation fund. 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment, are reported in the applicable governmental 
or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined 
by the City as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $50,000 for buildings and building 
improvements, $25,000 for land improvements, $20,000 for vehicles and $10,000 for all other assets when 
valued individually and have an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Such assets are recorded at 
historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded 
at acquisition cost at the date of donation. 
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Buildings, land improvements, equipment, and vehicles are depreciated using the straight-line method over 
the following useful lives: 

Streets and bridges 
Land improvements 
Building and improvements 
Machinery and equipment 
Vehicles 
Furniture and fixtures 
Water and sewer systems 
Street and traffic signs 

Deferred Outflows of Resources 

Years 

20-50 
10-45 
5-50 
5-20 

6 
5-10 

25-100 
10 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, 
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as 
an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City reports deferred outflows of resources 
for change in expected and actual investment returns, assumptions, and benefits provided in its pension 
and postemployment benefit plans as well as for the deferred charge on refunding. A deferred refunding 
charge results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This 
amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 

Compensated Absences 

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused sick and vacation pay benefits. 
All sick and vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund 
financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only for employee 
terminations as of year end. The City funded the liability in the sick and vacation internal service fund 
through contributions from the general fund and court fund in the prior year. 

Long-term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund-type statement of net position. Bond 
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest 
method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. In the fund financial 
statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts during the current period. 
The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts are reported as other financing uses. 
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Deferred Inflows of Resources 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to one or more future periods and so will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has deferred inflows of resources 
related to pension. The governmental funds also report unavailable revenues, which arise only under a 
modified accrual basis of accounting, that are reported as deferred inflows of resources. These amounts 
are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 

Fund Balances 

Governmental funds report nonspendable fund balance for amounts that cannot be spent because they are 
either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. Restricted 
fund balance is reported when externally imposed constraints are placed on the use of resources by 
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments. Committed fund balance is reported 
for amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of 
the government's highest level of decision-making authority, the City Council. A resolution by the City 
Council is required to establish, modify, or rescind a fund balance commitment. The City reports assigned 
fund balance for amounts that are constrained by the government's intent to be used for specific purposes, 
but are neither restricted nor committed. The City Council has delegated the authority to assign fund 
balance to the Finance Department. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general 
fund. 

When the government incurs an expenditure for purposes for which various fund balance classifications can 
be used, it is the government's policy to use restricted fund balance first, then committed fund balance, 
assigned fund balance, and finally unassigned fund balance. 

Pensions and Other Postemployment Benefits 

For purposes of measuring the net pension and other post employment benefit liabilities, deferred outflows 
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and other postemployment benefits, and 
pension and other postemployment benefit expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
plan and additions to/deductions from the plan fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
basis as they are reported by the plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

Reclassification 

As of July 1, 2018, the City reclassified approximately $62K of fund balance from the cemetery special 
revenue fund into the general fund. 
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2. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

Construction Code Fees 

The City oversees building construction, in accordance with the State's Construction Code Act, including 
inspection of building construction and renovation to ensure compliance with the building codes, The City 
charges fees for these services. The law requires that collection of these fees be used only for construction 
code costs, including an allocation of estimated overhead costs. The City accounts for construction code 
activity in the building inspection special revenue fund. 

3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

The following is a reconciliation of deposits and investment balances for the primary government and the 
component units of as June 30, 2019: 

Primary 
Government 

.component 
·Units Total 

Statement of net position 
Cash and investments 
Restricted assets 

$ 43,358,160 $ 
2,122,397 

532,157 $ 43,890,317 
2,122,397 

Statement of fiduciary net position 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 

2,642,787 
695,137,717 

Total 532,157 $ 743,261,061 =$========== 

Bank deposits (demand accounts and certificates of deposit) 
Investments in securities, mutual funds and similar vehicles: 

U.S. treasury securities 
Oakland County Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) 
Money markets 
General Employees' Retirement System 
Police and Fire Retirement System 
Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA 

Cash on hand 

2,642,787 
695,137,717 

$ 743,793,218 

$ 34,344,639 

999,249 
11,927,777 

364,294 
453,826,138 
206,419,137 

35,908,512 
3,472 

$ 743z793,218 

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes local governmental 
units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, and savings and 
loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The law also allows investments outside the State of 
Michigan when fully insured. The local unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other direct 
obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; repurchase 
agreements; bankers' acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two highest 
classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; obligations of the State 
of Michigan or its political subdivisions, which are rated as investment grade; and mutual funds composed 
of investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by local units of government in Michigan. 
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The pension and other employee benefit trust funds are also authorized by Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965, 
as amended, to invest in certain reverse repurchase agreements, stocks, diversified investment companies, 
annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities, mortgages, real estate (if the trust 
fund's assets exceed $250 million), debt or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local 
government obligations, and certain other specified investment vehicles. 

The City has designated 9 banks for the deposit of its funds. The City deposits and investment policies are 
in accordance with statutory authority. 

The Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) has designated one bank for the deposit of its funds. The 
investment policy adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized 
investment in all allowable investments under Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965. The PFRS's deposits and 
investment policies are in accordance with statutory authority. 

The General Employees' Retirement System (GERS) has designated one bank for the deposit of its funds. 
The investment policy adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized 
investment in all allowable investments under Michigan Public Act 347 of 2012, as amended. The GERS's 
deposits and investment policies are in accordance with statutory authority. 

The Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA (PFVEBA) has designated one bank for the deposit of its funds. 
The investment policy adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized 
investment in mutual or commingled funds, but not the remainder of state statutory authority as listed 
above. The PFVEBA's deposits and investment policies are in accordance with statutory authority. 

The City, pension funds, and other employee benefit trust funds' cash and investments are subject to 
several types of risk, which are examined in more detail below. The following information includes the 
Police and Fire Retirement System, General Employees' Retirement System and Police and Fire Retirement 
System VEBA balances as of December 31, 2018 because these funds are maintained on a calendar year 
basis. 

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the 
City's deposits may not be returned. 

City • State law does not require and the City does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At 
year end, the City had $35,149,493 of bank deposits (certificates of deposit, checking, and savings 
accounts) of which $1,494,742 was covered by federal deposit insurance and $2,122,397 was collateralized. 
The City believes that due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, it is 
impractical to insure all deposits. As a result, the City evaluates each financial institution with which it 
deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; only those institutions with an acceptable 
estimated risk level are used as depositories. 
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Police and Fire Retirement System - The PFRS does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At 
year end the PFRS did not have any bank deposits (checking, and savings accounts) that were uninsured and 
uncoltateralized. The PFRS evaluates each financial institution with which it deposits funds and assesses 
the level of risk of each institution; only those institutions with an acceptable estimated risk level are used 
as depositories. 

General Employees' Retirement System - The GERS does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. 
At year end, the GERS had no bank deposits (certificates of deposit, checking, and savings accounts) that 
were uninsured and uncollateralized. The GERS continues to evaluate each financial institution with which 
it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; only those institutions with an acceptable 
estimated risk level are used as depositories. 

Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA - The PFVEBA does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit 
risk. At year end, the PFVEBA had $842,052 of bank deposits (checking account) that were uninsured and 
uncollateral ized. 

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments. Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities 
that are in the possession of an outside party. 

City - The City's investment policy requires that investment securities be held in third-party safekeeping 
by a designated institution and that the safekeeping agent follow the procedure of delivery vs. payment. As 
of June 30, 2019, none of the City's investments were exposed to risk since the securities are held in the 
City's name by the counterparty. 

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will decrease as a result of a 
rise in interest rates. 

City - The City's investment policy states that no more than 25 percent of the portfolio be invested beyond 
12 months, and the weighted average maturity of the portfolio shall never exceed one year. The total 
portfolio, including cash, is in compliance with the City policy. At year end, the average maturities of 
investments are as follows: 

lnvestrnerit 

Debt securities -
U.S. treasury securities 

Oakland County LGIP 
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$ 999,249 
11,927,777 

WElighted I 
~verctge .... I 
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Police and Fire Retirement System - The PFRS's investment policy restricts the average duration of an 
actively managed portfolio to not differ from the benchmark duration by more than 25 percent. At year 
end, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment 

U.S. government agencies 
U.S. government mortgage-backed securities 
U.S. government treasury bonds 
Corporate bonds 

Fair Value 

$ 10,124,029 
2,578,057 

10,998,740 
14,000,403 

Weighted 
Average_ 
Maturity 
(years) 

1.03 
12.19 
8.26 
4.00 

General Employees' Retirement System - The GERS's investment policy does not restrict investment 
maturities. At year end, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Investment 

Asset-backed securities 
Commercial mortgage pools 
Corporate bonds 
Government agencies 
Government bonds 
Government mortgage-backed securities 
Government issued commercial mortgage-

backed securities 
Municipal/provincial bonds 
Nongovernment-backed CMOs 

$ 

50 

Fair Value 

1,222,866 
1,689,948 

14,971,522 
2,795,389 

45,458,595 
31,780,555 

19,858 
13,889,569 

37,457 

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(years) 

2.62 
27.47 
10.03 
1.24 
6.92 

21.31 

0.23 
2.48 
16.41 
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Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA - The PFVEBA's investment policy does not restrict investment 
maturities. At year end, the average maturities of investments are as follows: 

Corporate: 
Asset-backed 
Bonds 

Investment 

Collateralized mortgage obligations 
Private placement 

Foreign bonds 
U.S. government: 

Collateralized mortgage obligations 
Mortgage-backed 
TIPS 

$ 

Fair Value 

698,435 
1,165,990 

206,000 
24,588 

119,100 

44,142 
1,354,648 
1,433,597 

Wejghted 
Average 
Maturity 
(years) 

4.87 
5.93 

27.75 
4.74 
4.22 

37.68 
25.89 
4.39 

Credit Risk. State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations. 

City - The City has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of year end, 
the credit quality rating of debt securities and money market funds are as follows: 

Rating 
Investment Fair Value Rating Organization 

Oakland County LGIP $ 11,927,777 Not rated n/a 
Money markets 364,294 Not rated n/a 
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Police and Fire Retirement System • State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two 
ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The PFRS's investment policy limits 
investments rated in the top four major grades as determined by Standard Et Poor's or Moody's, As of year 
end, the credit quality rating of debt securities are as follows: 

Ratfng 
Investment Fair Value . Rating Organization 

Corporate bonds $ 2,925,874 AA S&P 
Corporate bonds 10,175,488 A S&P 
Corporate bonds 899,041 BBB S&P 
Government agencies 10,124,029 AA S&P 

General Employees' Retirement System · State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two 
ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The System's investment policy 
limits investments in domestic fixed-income securities; the overall quality rating of each high-grade 
portfolio must be BBB or an equivalent rating; for domestic equity investments, the securities must be the 
equivalent of Standard Et Poor's A 1 or Moody's P·1. As of year end, the credit quality ratings of debt 
securities are as follows: 

Rating 
Investment Fair Value Rating Organization 

Asset-backed securities $ 379,578 Aaa Moody's 
Asset-backed securities 843,288 Unrated n/a 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 1,347,950 Aaa Moody's 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 341,998 Aa Moody's 
Corporate bonds 172,576 Aaa Moody's 
Corporate bonds 604,612 Aa Moody's 
Corporate bonds 9,679,230 A Moody's 
Corporate bonds 4,515,104 Baa Moody's 
Governmental agencies 1,982,902 Aaa Moody's 
Governmental agencies 812,487 Aa Moody's 
Government bonds 43,419,605 Aaa Moody's 
Short-term investment funds 12,403, 127 Unrated n/a 
Municipal/Provincial bonds 1,340,942 Aaa Moody's 
Municipal/Provincial bonds 6,587,306 Aa Moody's 
Municipal/Provincial bonds 5,961,321 Unrated n/a 
Nongovernment-backed C.M.O.s 37,457 Unrated n/a 
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Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA - The PFVEBA has no investment policy that would further limit its 
investment choices. As of year end, the credit quality ratings of debt securities are as follows: 

Rating 
Investment Fair Value Rating Organization 

Corporate: 
Asset-backed securities $ 162,553 Aaa Moody 
Asset-backed securities 21,137 Aa1 Moody 
Asset-backed securities 20,010 Aa2 Moody 
Asset-backed securities 494,735 Not rated n/a 
Bonds 14,814 Aa1 Moody 
Bonds 25,229 A1 Moody 
Bonds 91,273 A2 Moody 
Bonds 283,906 A3 Moody 
Bonds 644,946 Baa 1 and below Moody 
Bonds 105,822 Not rated n/a 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 85,379 Aaa Moody 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 33,530 Aa1 Moody 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 19,848 Aa2 Moody 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 39,745 Aa3 Moody 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 27,498 A3 Moody 
Private placement 24,588 Baa1 and below Moody 

Foreign bonds 30,022 Aa2 Moody 
Foreign bonds 29,697 Aa3 Moody 
Foreign bonds 59,381 Baa1 and below Moody 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

City - The City's investment policy states that no more than 25 percent of the overall cash and investment 
portfolio may be invested in the securities of a single issuer, except for securities of the U.S. Treasury. At 
year end, there were no individual investments with a fair value that represent 25% or more of the City's 
investments. 

Police and Fire Retirement System - At year end, there were no individual investments with a fair value 
that represent 5% or more of the System's investments. 

General Employees' Retirement System - At year end, there were no individual investments with a fair 
value that represent 5% or more of the System's investments. 

Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA - At year end, there were no individual investments with a fair 
value that represent 5% or more of the Trust's investments. 
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Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that an investment denominated in the currency of a foreign country could 
reduce its U.S. dollar value, as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. 

City - The City does not have any securities subject to foreign currency risk. 

General Employees' Retirement System - The pension system restricts the amount of investments in 
foreign currency-denominated investments to 10 percent of total pension system investments. At December 
31, 2018, the only type of investments which were subject to foreign currency risk were equity 
investments. The total amount of equity investments which were subject to foreign currency risk at year 
end was $12,973,693. At year end, the System had a total foreign currency translation loss of $511,088 
related to equity investments. 

Australian Dollar 
British Pound 
Canadian Dollar 
Denmark Krone 
European Euro 
Hong Kong Dollar 
Japanese Yen 
Mexican Peso 
Swedish Krona 
Swiss Franc 

Fair Value Measurements 

Security 

$ 

Fair Value 

975,038 
1,662,878 

271,134 
644,970 

3,714,599 
1,613,327 

866,804 
569,773 
959,219 

1,695,951 

City - The City categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments within the fair value hierarchy 
established by generally accepted accounting principles. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs - other than quoted prices - included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Finally, Level 3 inputs are 
unobservable and are based on estimates and assumptions. These levels are determined by the 
management's review of the type and substance of investments held by the City. 
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The City had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019: 

Debt securities -
U.S. treasury securities 

Investments measured at NAV 
Oakland county investments 

Total investments 

Quoted Prices inJ 
Active Markets ! 

for Identical 
Assets·. 

(Level 1) 

$ $ 

Significant 
Other Significant 

Unobservable 
Inputs 

(Level3) 

999,249 $ ~-----

Fair Yalue at 
June 30, 2019 

$ 999,249 

11,927,777 

$ 12,927,026 

Valuation Techniques. The City used quoted market prices for similar securities in determining the inputs 
used to categorize the fair value measurements of its investments. 

Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share 

The City holds shares or interests in investment pools where the fair value of the investments are measured 
on a recurring basis using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment companies as a 
practical expedient. 

At the year ended June 30, 2019, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and redemption rules of those 
investments is as follows: 

Fair Value 

Oakland County LGIP $ 11 , 92 7, 777 

Unfunded 
Commitments 

Redemption 
Frequency, if 

Eligible 

No restrictions 

Redemption 
Notice Period 

None 

The Oakland County Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) invests assets in a manner which will seek 
the highest investment return consistent with preservation of principal and meet the daily liquidity needs 
of participants. The Oakland County (LGIP) is not registered with the SEC and does not issue a separate 
report. The fair value of the position in the pool is not the same as the value of the pool shares, since the 
pool does not meet the requirements under GASB 79 to report its value for financial reporting purposes at 
amortized cost. 
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Police and Fire Retirement System - The Trust categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair 
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The Trust had the following 
recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2018: 

Debt securities: 
U.S. government securities 
U.S. government mortgage­

backed securities 
Corporate bonds 

Equity securities - common 
stock 

Total investments at fair value 

Investments measured at NAV 

Equities funds 
Bond fund 
Limited partnerships 
Real estate funds 

Total investments at NAV 

Total investments 

Quoted Prices in 1 

.Active Markets 
for Identical 

Assets 

(Level 1) 

$ $ 

50,396,411 

$ 50,396,411 $ 

Significant 
Other Significant 

Unobservable Fair Value at 
Inputs Inputs December 31, 

(level 2) (Level 3) 2018 

21,122,769 $ $ 21,122,769 

2,578,057 2,578,057 
14,000,403 14,000,403 

50,396,411 

37,701,229 $ 88,097,640 

66,478,699 
8,204,905 

14,366,222 
21,178,673 

110,228,499 

$ 198,326,139 

Equity securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. 

The fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2018 was determined primarily based on level 2 inputs. 
The fair value of these investments is based on prices that have been evaluated by independent pricing 
services. Such evaluated prices may be determined by using inputs such as interest rates and yield curves 
that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. 
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The valuation method for investments measured at the net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) is 
presented on the following table: 

Redemption 
Unfunded Frequency, if Redemption 

Fair Va-lue Commitments Eligible Notice Period 

Equities funds $ 66,478,699 $ Monthly Up to 30 days 
Bond fund 8,204,905 Monthly 15 days 
Limited partnerships 14,366,222 Quarterly 10 days 
Real estate funds 21,178,673 Quarterly 10 days 

$ 110,228,499 $ 

The equities funds includes investments in U.S. and non U.S. publicly traded equities. The fair values of the 
investments in this fund have been estimated using the net asset value per share of the investments. 

The bond fund includes investments predominantly in U.S. and foreign government securities. The fair 
values of the investments in this fund have been estimated using the net asset value per share of the 
investments. 

The limited partnership class includes investments predominantly in private debt. The fair values of the 
investments in these funds have been estimated using net asset value per share of the investments. 

The equity real estate class includes investments in funds whose objective is to acquire, develop, own, and 
operate a diversified portfolio of real estate investments. The fair values of the investments in this class 
have been estimated using net asset value per share of the investments. 
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General Employees' Retirement System - The System categorizes its fair value measurements within the 
fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The System had the following 
recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2018: 

Quoted Prices inj Significant 
Active Markets Other. Significant 

for Identical Observable Unobservable Fair.Value at 
Assets Inputs' Inputs December 31, 

(Level1) (LE!yel 2) (Level 3) 2018 
Debt securities: 

U.S. treasury securities $ $ 45,458,595 $ $ 45,458,595 
U.S. agencies 2,795,389 2,795,389 
Municipal/provincial 13,889,569 13,889,569 
Commercial mortgage backed 1,747,263 1,747,263 
Residential mortgage backed 31,780,555 31,780,555 
Corporate bonds 14,971,522 14,971,522 
Asset backed 1,222,866 1,222,866 

Equity securities: 
Common stock 232,064,425 232,064,425 
Exchange-traded funds 875,624 875,624 

Private equity funds 11,477,137 11,477,137 
Short-term investment fund 12,403,127 12,403, 127 

Total investments at fair value $ 245,343,176 $ 111,865,759 $ 11,477,137 368,686,072 

Investments measured at NAY 
International equities fund 37,289,685 
Real estate fund 34,226,741 
Domestic equities fund 13,203,319 

Total investments at NAY 84,719,745 

Total investments $ 453,405,817 

Debt securities fair value at December 31, 2018 was determined primarily based on Level 2 inputs. The fair 
value of these investments is based on prices that have been evaluated by independent pricing services. 
Such evaluated prices (which is the value of the bond less accrued interest) may be determined by using 
inputs such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals, maturities, 
call features, and ratings, among other factors. 

The fair value of private equity investments at December 31, 2018 was determined primarily based on 
Level 3 inputs. The System estimates the fair value of these investments based on a review of an 
independent auditor's report for each fund and each fund's General Partner's assessment of fair value. The 
General Partner's estimates may include the use of pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or 
similar techniques taking into account the characteristics of the underlying assets. Currently, there remains 
$3 million in unfunded commitments to these funds. 
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The valuation method for investments measured at the net asset value (NAY) per share (or its equivalent) is 
presented on the following table: 

Redemption 
Unfunded Frequency, if Redemption' 

Fair Value Commitments Eligible Notice Period 

International equities fund s 37,289,685 s Daily/monthly 10 days 
Monthly/ 

Real estate fund 34,226,741 quarterly 10-180 days 
Domestic equities fund 13,203,319 Daily 10 days 

s 84,719,745 s 
The international equities fund includes investments in mainly non-U.S. publicly traded equities and other 
assets. The fair values of the investments in this fund have been estimated using the net asset value per 
share of the investments. 

The real estate funds class includes several real estate funds that invest primarily in U.S. commercial real 
estate. The fair values of the investments in this fund have been estimated using the net asset value of the 
System's ownership interest in partners' capital. 

The domestic equities fund includes investments in investment grade fixed-income securities issued by U.S. 
and non-U.S. agencies and other governments, corporate, and other issuers. The fair values of the 
investments in this fund have been estimated using the net asset value per share of the investments. 
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Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA - The Trust categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair 
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The Trust had the following 
recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2018: 

Quoted Prices in Significant 
Active Markets Other Significant 

for Identical Observable Unobservable Fair Value at 
Assets Inputs Inputs •December 31, 

.(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2018 
Debt securities: 

U.S. government obligations 
and agencies $ $ 1,433,597 $ $ 1,433,597 

Mortgage-backed securities 1,354,648 1,354,648 
Collateralized mortgage 

obligations 250,142 250,142 
Asset-backed securities 698,435 698,435 
Corporate bonds 1,190,578 1,190,578 
Foreign bonds and notes 119,100 119,100 

Equity securities: 
Common stock 21,760,227 21,760,227 
Real estate investment 

trusts 752,159 752, 159 

Total investments at fair value $ 22,512,386 $ 5,046,500 $ 27,558,886 

Investments measured at NAV 
Bond fund 3,723,216 
Limited partnerships 2,811,609 

Total investments at NAV 6,534,825 

Total investments $ 34,093,711 

Equity securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. 

The fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2018 was determined primarily based on Level 2 inputs. 
The fair value of these investments is based on prices that have been evaluated by independent pricing 
services. Such evaluated prices may be determined by using inputs such as interest rates and yield curves 
that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. 

The Trust did not have any investments determined primarily based on Level 3 inputs at December 31, 
2018. 
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The valuation method for investments measured at the net asset value (NAY) per share (or its equivalent) is 
presented on the following table: 

Bond fund $ 
Limited partnerships 

$ 

Fair Value 

3,723,216 $ 
2,811,609 
6,534,825 $ 

Unfunded 

====== 

Redemption 
Frequency, if 

Eligible 

Monthly 
Quarterly 

Redemption 
Notice Period 

15 days 
10 days 

The bond fund is an investment in a fund that invest predominantly in U.S. and foreign government 
securities. The fair values of the investments in this fund have been estimated using the net asset value per 
share of the investments. 

The limited partnership class includes investments predominantly in private debt. The fair values of the 
investments in these funds have been estimated using the net asset value per share of the investments. 

In addition, the Trust has an investment for approximately $1,219,052 reported at amortized cost in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 79. This investment is not subject to any limitations or restrictions on 
withdrawals. 

4. RECEIVABLES 

Receivables as of year end for the City's governmental and business-type activities in the aggregate, 
including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows: 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activitie.s 

Taxes $ 18,564,007 $ 
Accounts 2,474,525 
Intergovernmental 2,974,122 
Interest receivable 38,064 3,032 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (13,952,878) 

Net receivables $ 10!097!840 $ 3!032 

At June 30, 2019, approximately $3. 7 million of the net receivables in governmental activities are not 
expected to be collected within one year. 
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows: 

Beginning Ending 
Balance Additions Transfers Balance 

Governmental activities 
Capital assets not being 

depreciated: 
Land $ 25,105,058 $ $ $ 25,105,058 
Construction in progress 1,589,687 3,027,632 (1,384,934) 3,232,385 

Total capital assets 
not being depreciated 26,694,745 3,027,632 (1,384,934) 28,337,443 

Capital assets being 
depreciated: 

Streets and bridges 298,246,441 3,265,826 1,157,418 302,669,685 
Buildings and improvements 40,648,275 157,492 40,805,767 
Machinery and equipment 661,622 243,859 227,516 1,132,997 
Vehicles 714,903 329,663 1,044,566 
Land improvements 374,952 374,952 

Total capital assets 
being depreciated 340,646,193 3,996,840 1,384,934 346,027,967 

Less accumulated 
depreciation for: 

Streets and bridges (236,712,838) (4,872,448) (241,585,286) 
Buildings and improvements (39,963,939) (101,559) (40,065,498) 
Machinery and equipment (409,427) (78,179) (487,606) 
Vehicles (643,721) (74,221) (717,942) 
Land improvements (172,081) (17,560) (189,641) 

Total accumulated 
depreciation (277,902,006) (5,143,967) (283,045,973) 

Total capital assets 
being depreciated, net 62,744,187 (1,147,127) 1,384,934 62,981,994 

Governmental activities 
capital assets, net $ 89,438,932 $ 1,880,505 $ $ 91,319,437 
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Beginning 
Balance Additions Disposals 

Business-type activities 
Parking fund 

Capital assets not being depreciated -
Land s 3,042,537 s s 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings and improvements 33,573,313 
Traffic signs 57,182 

Total capital assets being depreciated 33,630,495 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings and improvements (26,758,234) (564,861) 
Traffic signs (57,182) 

Total accumulated depreciation (26,815,416) (564,861) 
Total capital assets 

being depreciated, net 6,815,079 (564,861) 

Parking fund capital assets, net s 9,857,616 s (564,861) $ 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

Depreciation of governmental activities by function 
General government 
Public safety 
Public works 
Community and human services 

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 

Depreciation of business-type activities by function 
Parking 

$ 102,639 
34,397 

4,962,803 
44,128 

$ 5,143,967 

$ 564,861 

Ending 
Balance 

s 3,042,537 

33,573,313 
57,182 

33,630,495 

(27,323,095) 
(57,182) 

(27,380,277) 

6,250,218 

$ 9,292,755 

Construction Commitments - At year end, the City's commitments with contractors are as follows: 

Governmental activities: 
Nichols Heating & Cooling 
Great Lakes Contracting Solutions, LLC 
Cadillac Asphalt, LLC 
North American Construction Ent, LLC 
Pamar Enterprises, Inc. 
Michigan Joint Ceiling 

$ 

$ 
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501,518 52,808 

1,246,070 1,054,880 
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1,617,807 
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6. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS 

At June 30, 2019, the composition of interfund balances is as follows: 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund 

General fund District court fund 

· .Amount 

$ 724,424 

The above balances generally resulted from a time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services 
are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 
payments between funds are made. 

For the year ended June 30, 2019, interfund transfers reported in the fund financial statements are 
comprised of the following: 

Fund Transferred from 

General fund 

District court 

PA-48 telecommunication 
allocation 

Fund Transferred To 

District court fund (1) (2) 
Major street (1) 
Local street ( 1) 
Sanitation fund ( 1) 
Nonmajor governmental funds (1) 
Internal service funds ( 1 ) ( 5) 

General fund (3) 
MIDC grant fund (6) 

General fund (4) 

Total 

Amount 

$ 946,047 
18,484 
14,125 

291 
37,670 

501,424 

23,585 
17,635 

225,000 

~ 11 784!261 

During the fiscal year transfers were used to (1) Transfer for approved salary increases mid-year (2) 
Transfer for subsidy of District Court operations (3) Transfer for parking fine collections (4) Transfer for 
allowable expenditures under Metro Act (5) Retiree health care settlement (6) City match on MIDC grant. 
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7. LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term debt activity can be summarized as follows: 

Beginning Ending Due Within 
Balance Additions Reductions Balance OneYear 

Governmental activities 
Other long-term obligations: 

2007C TIF A Bond 
Financial Guarantee $ 6,919,646 $ $ (3,489,338) $ 3,430,308 $ 590,872 

Compensated 
absences 432,232 (31,448) 400,784 205,198 

Landfill closure and 
postclosure costs 2,166,758 9,630 2,176,388 

Phoenix Center 
Settlement 7,350,000 (4,550,000) 2,800,000 700,000 

Total governmental 
activities $ 16,868,636 $ 9,630 $ (8,070,786) $ 8,807,480 $ 1,496,070 

Beginning Ending Due Within 
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year 

Component units 
Direct Borrowings and 

Direct Placements: 
$31,080,000 2007 C 
TIFA Bonds, due in 
annual installments 
of $590,000 to 
$1,985,000 through 
the year 2031; 
interest at 3.50% to 
5.00% $ 21,150,000 $ $ (1,360,000) $ 19,790,000 $ 1,410,000 

Other long-term obligation: 
Financial guarantee 4,020,483 632,824 4,653,307 

Total component units $ 25,170,483 $ 632,824 $ (1,360,000) $ 24,443,307 $ 1,410,000 
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the obligations are as follows: 

Governmental Activities Component Units 
Direct Borrowings and Direct. 

Other. long-term obligations Placements 
Year Ended 
_June 30, Principal Interest Prin~ipa! 

2020 s 1,290,872 s s 1,410,000 s 928,363 
2021 1,232,457 1,470,000 870,200 
2022 1,456,011 1,860,000 796,700 
2023 1,417,025 1,985,000 703,700 
2024 348,781 1,715,000 604,450 

2025-2029 485,162 8,030,000 1,857,663 
2030-2031 3,320,000 223,424 

s 6,230,308 s s 19,790,000 s 5,984,500 

Compensated absences and separation accruals in governmental activities of $400,784 are payable upon 
retirement or termination of eligible employees; therefore, specific payment dates are not determinable. 
Also, the landfill closure and postclosure cost accrual of $2,176,388 has no fixed maturity dates; therefore; 
it has been excluded from the above summary. 

The compensated absences liability attributable to the governmental activities is recorded in the employee 
sick and vacation internal service fund. The landfill closure and postclosure costs represent the cumulative 
amount of closure and postclosure are costs reported to date based on the use of 100 percent of the 
estimated capacity of the landfill. The City has established a sick and vacation internal service fund for the 
liquidation of the compensated absences liability. The sanitation fund would be used to liquidate the 
landfill closure and post closure costs. 

Financial Guarantee 

In 2007, the City guaranteed the 10-year, $1.315 million TIFA 2 2007C series, the 17-year, $3.28 million 
TIFA 2 2007C series, and the 24-year, $24.45 million TIFA 3 2007C series revenue bond issuances of the Tax 
Increment Finance Authority (TIFA), a legally separate authority located within the City, in accordance 
with a resolution adopted by the City. The bonds mature annually through May 1, 2017, May 1, 2024 and 
May 1, 2031, respectively, with semiannual interest payments. In the event that the TIFA is unable to make 
a payment, the City is required to make that payment. As a result of declining revenues that occurred in 
2014 and prior, the City determined in fiscal year 2014 that it was more likely than not that the City would 
be required to pay a percentage of the remaining portion of the TIFA's debt service payments based on this 
guarantee. During fiscal year 2019, total TIFA debt service amounted to $2,342,762 of which $632,824 was 
paid by the City and $1,709,938 was paid by the TIFA. The amount of the remaining financial guarantee 
liability recognized is the best estimate of the discounted present value of the future outflows expected to 
be incurred as a result of the guarantee. 

The agreement also provides for the TIFA to reimburse the City for any debt service amounts paid for by 
the City. Accordingly, the TIFA has a liability recorded in the amount of $4,653,307 at June 30, 2019. This 
liability has been recorded as a long-term liability in the combining statement of net position for the 
discretely presented component units as funds to reimburse the general fund are not expected to be 
available until all TIFA debt service has been paid in full. 
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Phoenix Center Settlement 

The City settled litigation with Ottawa Towers regarding demolition of the Phoenix Center Parking Garage 
on November 13, 2018. The settlement agreement requires that the City retain ownership of the Phoenix 
Center and perform $6 million of repairs on the Phoenix Center over a period of ten years from the time of 
settlement. Additionally, the City is required to pay annual installments of $700,000 to Ottawa Towers 
through November 2022. The City is currently exploring its options for funding the required structural 
repairs to the Phoenix Center. 

8. RESTRICTED ASSETS 

The balance of the restricted asset accounts are as follows: 

Cash and investments -
Landfill closure and postclosure costs 

9. LANDFILL - CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE COSTS 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 2,122,397 

State and federal laws and regulations require the City to place a final cover on its landfill site when it 
stops accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 30 
years after closure. Although closure and postclosure care costs will be paid only near or after the date 
that the landfill stops accepting waste, the City reports a portion of the closure and postclosure care costs 
as an expense in the government-wide statements in each period based on the acres of the entire 
permitted site used as of each balance sheet date. The $2,176,388 reported as landfill closure and 
postclosure liability at June 30, 2019 represents the cumulative amount reported to date based on the 
closure and postclosure costs related to the acres of the permitted site that have been used. 

These amounts are based on what it would cost to perform all closure and postclosure care in current 
dollars. Effective October 15, 2006, the City closed the landfill. The Michigan Department of Environmental 
Quality is in the process of examining closure/postclosure costs. On a volume basis versus site acreage 
basis, approximately 100 percent of landfill capacity is used as of June 30, 2019. Actual costs may be 
higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations. 

The City is required by state and federal laws and regulations to make contributions to a trust to finance 
closure and postclosure care. The City is in compliance with these requirements and, at June 30, 2019, 
investments and deposits held in trust of $2,122,397 are held for these purposes. These are reported as 
restricted assets on the balance sheet. The total fund balance in the sanitation special revenue fund has 
been restricted as well. The City expects that future inflation costs will be paid from interest earnings on 
these contributions. However, if interest earnings are inadequate or additional postclosure care 
requirements are determined (due to changes in technology or applicable laws or regulations, for 
example), these costs may need to be covered by future tax revenue. 
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1 0. RISK MANAGEMENT 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, torts, errors and omissions, and 
employee injuries (workers' compensation), as well as medical benefits provided to employees. The City 
has purchased commercial insurance for medical and dental, workers' compensation, and general liability 
expense claims and participates in the Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority risk pool for claims 
relating to property loss, torts, and errors and omissions. 

The Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority (the "Authority") risk pool program operates as a claims 
servicing pool for amounts up to member retention limits, and operates as a common risk-sharing 
management program for losses in excess of member retention amounts. Although premiums are paid 
annually to the Authority that the Authority uses to pay claims up to the retention limits, the ultimate 
liability for those claims remains with the City. The City estimates the liability for general liability claims 
that have been incurred through the end of the fiscal year, including claims that have been reported as 
well as those that have not yet been reported. 

For medical, dental and workers' compensation, the City was fully insured in the last three fiscal years. 
However, for prior years in which the City was not fully insured, a liability is estimated for workers' 
compensation claims that have been reported as well as those that have not yet been reported. As of 
June 30, 2019, reported claims related to medical and dental for prior years have been paid and no 
additional claims are expected to be reported. 

These liabilities are recorded in internal service funds. Changes in the estimated liability for the past two 
fiscal years were as follow: 

General Liability Worke_rs' Compensation 

2019 2018 2019 2018 
Unpaid claims -

Beginning of year $ 492,720 $ 697,674 $ 1,055,669 $ 1,609,172 
Incurred claims (adjustments) 890,415 199,018 83,759 (344,810) 
Claim payments (1,239,808) (403,972) (155,693) (208,693) 
Unpaid claims -

End of year $ 143,327 $ 492,720 $ 983,735 $ 1,055,669 
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11, DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN a GENERAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

Plan Description. The General Employees' Retirement System is a single-employer defined benefit pension 
plan that is administered by the City of Pontiac General Employees' Retirement System; this plan covers 
substantially all employees of the City, except police and fire employees. The system provides retirement 
benefits, as well as death and disability benefits. Employees may receive a cost-of-living adjustment as a 
percentage of their base amount, pursuant to the collective bargaining agreement in effect at their date of 
retirement. The plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplemental information for the system. That report may be obtained by writing to the system at 
47450 Woodward, Pontiac, Michigan 48342. 

Method Used to Value Investments. Investments are reported at estimated fair value. Short-term 
investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded on a national or 
international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. Mortgages are 
valued on the basis of future principal and interest payments and are discounted at prevailing interest 
rates for similar instruments. Investments that do not have an established market value are reported at 
estimated fair value as determined by the System's management. These estimates are determined using 
audited financial statements issued by the private equity companies or limited partnerships in which such 
investments are held, adjusted by management as deemed appropriate based on known circumstances. 

Approximately 22 percent of the System's assets are not publicly traded, and therefore do not have a 
readily determinable market value. Because these investments are not readily marketable, their estimated 
value is subject to uncertainty, and therefore may differ significantly from the values that would have 
been used had a ready market for these securities existed. The difference could be material. 

Investment Policy. The System's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may 
be amended by the board of trustees by a majority vote of its members. It is the policy of the board of 
trustees to pursue an investment strategy that manages risk through the prudent diversification of the 
portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset classes. The System's investment policy discourages the 
use of cash equivalents, except for liquidity purposes, and aims to refrain from dramatically shifting asset 
class allocations over short time spans. 

Rate of Return. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 
pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was (4.63%). The money-weighted rate 
of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing 
amounts actually invested. 

Benefits Provided. The System provides retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits. 
Employees may receive cost-of-living adjustments as a percentage of their retirement allowance, pursuant 
to the collective bargaining agreement or employment agreement in effect at their date of retirement. 
The obligation to contribute to and maintain the System was established by City ordinance and negotiations 
with the employees' collective bargaining units. 
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Contributions. Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan constitution requires that financial benefits 
arising on account of employee service rendered in each year be funded during that year. Accordingly, the 
board of trustees retains an independent actuary to determine the annual contribution. The actuarially 
determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by plan 
members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
Contribution requirements of plan members are established by the board of trustees in accordance with 
the city ordinance, union contracts, and plan provisions. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the active 
members were not required to contribute to the System. The City is required to contribute at an 
actuarially determined rate. In accordance with the actuary recommendation, the City did not have to 
make a contribution to the System in the current year. Administrative costs are financed through 
investment earnings. 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. At December 31, 2018, plan membership consisted of the following: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 
Active employees 

1,123 
118 
29 

Total membership 1 270 

The plan is closed to all new hires after April 1, 2013, except for those new hires that are hired under the 
Michigan Association of Public Employees (representing the 50th District Court employees) collective 
bargaining agreement. 

Reserves. In accordance with state law, the City establishes reserves for various purposes. The balance of 
the reserve accounts at December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

Reserve / Group 

Retiree reserve 
Employee reserve 

Balance 

$ 225,505,181 
318,449 

Net Pension Asset. The City's net pension asset was measured as of December 31, 2018. 

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2018. The valuation used the following actuarial assumptions applied to all periods included 
in the measurement. 

Inflation 
Salary increases 
Investment rate of return 

2.25% 
3.6 - 7.4%, average, including inflation 
7.0%, net of pension plan investment expense, 
including inflation 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Health Annuitant Mortality Table (unadjusted) projected to 2021 
using a static projection based on the two-dimensional MP-2014 improvement scale. 
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Long-term Expected Rate of Return. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 
was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimates of expected future real rates of 
return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the 
pension plan's target asset allocation as of December 31, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 

Domestic equity · Large Cap 
Domestic equity · Mid Cap 
Domestic equity · Small Cap 
International equity 
Emerging markets equity 
Fixed income · Core 
Real estate 
Private equity 

Target 
Allocation 

20.00% 
17.50% 
12.50% 

5.00% 
5.00% 

25.00% 
10.00% 

5.00% 

100.00% 

·.Long-term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

4.95% 
5.71% 
5.71% 
5.24% 
6.35% 
1.99% 
4.19% 
0.00% 

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.0%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the 
current contribution rate and the City's contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference 
between actuarially determined contribution rates and the employee rates. Based on those assumptions, 
the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 
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Changes in the Net Pension Asset. The components of the change in the net pension asset are summarized 
as follows: 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension 
Liability Net Position Asset 

(a) (b) (a)-(b) 

Balances at December 31, 2017 $ 267,204,400 $ 506,436,677 $ (239,232,277) 

Changes for the year: 
Service cost 147,521 147,521 
Interest 17,725,816 17,725,816 
Changes in benefit terms 3,470,936 3,470,936 
Differences between expected and 

actual experience 1,839,373 1,839,373 
Benefit payments, including refunds of 

employee contributions (28,199,311) (28,199,310) ( 1) 
Net investment loss (23,328,559) 23,328,559 
Administrative expense (770,714) 770,714 
Miscellaneous other charges/revenue 35,826 (35,826) 

Net changes (5,015,665) (52,262,757) 47,247,092 

Balances at December 31, 2018 $ 2621188,735 $ 45411731920 $(191,985 1185) 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the net 
pension asset of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 7.0%, as well as what the City's net pension 
asset would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (6.0%) or 1% higher (8.0%) than 
the current rate: 

City's net pension asset 

Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate 

(6.0%) (7.0%). 
1% Increase 

(8,()%) 

$ (167,374,423) $ (191,985,185) $ (212,924,998) 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
provided in Note 16. 
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $2,589,361. At 
June 30, 2019, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions from the following sources: 

Net Deferred 
Deferred Deferred Outflows 

Outflows of Inflows of (Inflows) of 
Resources Resources Resources 

Difference between expected and actual 
experience $ $ 1,186,873 $ (1,186,873) 

Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan investments 31,796,495 31,796,495 

Total $ 31 17961495 $ 111861873 $ 30!609!622 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension 
will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended Amount 

2020 $ 11,628,479 
2021 3,786,928 
2022 4,026,579 
2023 11,273,322 
2024 (105,686) 

Total $ 30,609!622 

12. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

Plan Description. The Police and Fire Retirement System is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan 
that is administered by the City of Pontiac Police and Fire Retirement System; this plan covers all police 
and fire employees of the City. The system provides retirement benefits, as well as death and disability 
benefits. Employees may receive a cost of living adjustment as a percentage of their base amount, 
pursuant to the collective bargaining agreement in effect at their date of retirement. The plan issues a 
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplemental 
information for the system. That report may be obtained by writing to the system at 47450 Woodward, 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342. 

Partial Termination and Plan Closure. In 2011, a partial termination of the pension plan for police and fire 
employees was deemed to have occurred when the City contracted with the Oakland County sheriff for 
policing services. This resulted from the termination of active employee positions at the City under the 
executive orders issued by the Emergency Manager. As of March 1, 2012, the City contracted with 
Waterford Township to provide fire services and the plan no longer had any active employees. As a result, 
for purposes of computing the actuarial determined contribution to the System from the City, the actuary 
is expressing the amount as a level dollar amount amortized on a closed basis, rather than as a level 
percent of payroll. 
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Method Used to Value Investments. Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are 
reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange 
are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. Mortgages are valued on the basis of 
future principal and interest payments and are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar 
instruments. The fair value of real estate investments is based on audited financial statements. 
Investments that do not have an established market value are reported based on estimated fair values. 
These estimates are determined using financial statements issued by the private equity companies in which 
such investments are held, adjusted by management as deemed appropriate based on known 
circumstances. 

Investment Policy. The pension plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established 
and may be amended by the pension board by a majority vote of its members. It is the policy of the 
pension board to pursue an investment strategy that manages risk through the prudent diversification of 
the portfolio across a broad selection of distinct asset classes. The pension plan's investment policy aims to 
maintain a target asset mix with some ability to rebalance the mix of order to meet the investment 
objectives. 

Rate of Return. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 
pension plan investments was (4.19%). The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment 
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

Benefits Provided. The retirement system provides retirement benefits, as well as death and disability 
benefits. Employees may receive cost-of-living adjustments as a percentage of their base amounts, 
pursuant to the collective bargaining agreement or employment agreement in effect at their date of 
retirement. The benefit terms and the obligation to contribute to and maintain the retirement system was 
established by City ordinance and negotiations with the employees' collective bargaining units. 

Contributions. State law requires public employers to make pension contributions in accordance with an 
actuarial valuation. The Retirement System hires an independent actuary for this purpose and annually 
contributes the amount determined to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, 
with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Employees were required to make 
pension contributions based on the city ordinance, union contracts, and plan provisions; however, given 
that the plan is now closed, there are no longer any active members of the plan. The Retirement System's 
required contribution is determined after consideration of the required contribution rate of employees. For 
the year ended December 31, 2018, the City's required and actual contribution was $2,412,557. There were 
no contributions due from members during fiscal year 2018. 
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Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. At December 31, 2018, plan membership consisted of the following: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 

431 
136 

Total membership 567 

Reserves. As of December 31, 2018, the Plan's legally required reserves have been fully funded as follows: 

The retiree reserve is to be computed annually by the actuary as the present value of estimated benefit 
payments for all current retirees. The amounts reserved may be used solely to pay monthly retiree benefit 
payments. 

The employee reserve is credited as employees make contributions; the Plan maintains a record of the 
amount contributed by each employee. 

The balances of the reserve accounts (required and actual reserves) at December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

Retiree reserve 
Employer reserve 

Required 
Reserve 

Amount 
Funded 

$ 243,941,564 $ 205,428,732 
1,209,529 1,209,529 

Net Pension Liability. The City's net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2018. 

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2018. The valuation used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included 
in the measurement (there are no assumptions related to inflation and salary increases as there was a 
partial termination and plan closure in 2011 ): 

Investment rate of return 

Cost of living adjustments 

7.5%, net of pension plan investment expense, 
including inflation 
2.0%, per year up to 24 years 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table with generational improvements 
using scale MP-2018. 
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimates of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the 
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real 
rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of 
December 31, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 

Domestic equity 
International equity 
Domestic bonds 
International bonds 
Real estate 
Other assets 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

45.00% 
12.00% 
18.00% 

5.00% 
10.00% 
10.00% 

100.00% 

Long0term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

5.74% 
6.94% 
2.01% 
3.02% 
3.81% 
5.43% 

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that City's contributions will be made at 
actuarially determined rates. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current and deferred 
employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to 
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability. The components of the change in the net pension liability are 
summarized as follows: 

i Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension 

Liability Net Position Liability I 
Balances at December 31, 2017 s 247,226,144 $ 232,221,141 s 15,005,003 

Changes for the year: 
Interest 17,768,283 17,768,283 
Changes in benefit terms 464,793 464,793 
Differences between expected and 

actual experience (451,296) (451,296) 
Employer contributions 2,412,557 (2,412,557) 
Changes of assumptions (434,944) (434,944) 
Benefit payments, including refunds of 

employee contributions (20,631,416) (20,631,416) 
Net investment loss (7,116,516) 7,116,516 
Administrative expense (257,590) 257,590 
Other 10,085 (10,085) 

Net changes (3,284,580) (25,582,880) 22,298,300 

Balances at December 31, 2018 s 243,941,564 s 206,638,261 s 37,303,303 
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the net 
pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the City's net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% tower (6.5%) or 1% higher 
(8.5%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease 
(6,5%) 

--- -----
Current 

Discount Rate 
(7.5%) 

1% Increase 
(8.5%) 

City's net pension liability $ 62,545,188 $ 37,303,303 $ 16,129,443 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
provided in Note 16. 

Pension Expense and Def erred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $6,251,447. At 
June 30, 2019, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources: 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

on pension plan investments $ 13,608,242 $ 
Contributions subsequent to measurement date 2,133,428 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Total $ 15,741,670 =$======== 

Net Deferred 
Outflows 

(Inflows) of 
Resources 

$ 13,608,242 
2,133,428 

$ 15,741,670 

The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date wilt be recognized as a reduction in the net pension liability for the year ending 
June 30, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension wilt be 
recognized in pension expense as follows: 

2f_ear_]1Jcje~ Amount 

2020 $ 4,902,839 
2021 1,744,383 
2022 2,192,898 
2023 4,768,122 

Total $ 13,608,242 
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13. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN 

Defined Contribution Plan. Beginning January 1, 2002, the City began providing pension benefits to its full­
time nonunion employees and elected officials through a 401 (a) defined contribution plan. Nonunion 
employees and elected officials were given the option to participate in the defined contribution plan or the 
defined benefit plan. Effective July 1, 2005, SAEA members were also given the option to participate in the 
plan. In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the plan plus 
investment earnings. Employees are eligible to participate from the date of employment. As established by 
City Council, the City contributes nine percent of the employees' gross earnings and employees are 
required to contribute three percent. 

The City of Pontiac entered into a Defined Contribution Plan agreement with the Municipal Employees' 
Retirement System of Michigan (MERS). The Agreement is to provide retirement benefits effective 
August 1, 2015 for all full-time employees of the City and 50th District Court hired as full time after 
January 1, 2011 and not a member of GERS. The Employer /Employee contribution are listed below. 
Vesting is immediate. Employer contributions for each employee plus interest allocated to the employees' 
account are immediately vested. 

Employee Employer 
contribution contribution 

0.67% 0.33% 
1.00% 0.50% 
2.00% 1.00% 
4.00% 2.00% 
5.00% 2.50% 
6.00% 3.00% 
8.00% 4.00% 
10.00% 5.00% 
12.00% 6.00% 
14.00% 7.00% 

The City's total payroll during the current year was $4,553,595. The current year contribution was 
calculated based on covered payroll of $1,725,873, resulting in employer contributions of $56,014 and 
employee contributions of $96,839. As of June 30, 2019, there were 33 plan participants in the City's 
Michigan Employee MERS defined contribution plan, and one employee participating in the City's 401 A 
defined contribution plan. 

Deferred Compensation Plan. The City offers to all its employees a deferred compensation plan created in 
accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The plan permits the employees to defer a portion of 
their salary until future years. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, 
retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency. 
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14. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM VEBA 

Plan Description. The Police and Fire Retiree Prefunded Group Health and Insurance Trust (the "Trust") 
was established as an irrevocable prefunded group health and insurance trust fund for health, optical, 
dental, and life insurance benefits for retirees who are members of the Police and Fire Retirement System 
of the City of Pontiac, and who retired on or after August 22, 1996. The Trust was created as an Internal 
Revenue Code 501 (c)(9} Trust (VEBA). The Trust issues a publicly available financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplemental information for the system. That report may be obtained 
by writing to the Trust at 700 Tower Drive, Suite 300, Troy, Michigan 48098. 

The City is required by declaration of trust and agreement, dated August 22, 1996, to contribute on a 
percentage of covered payroll which the trustees have deemed to be based on actuarial recommended 
amounts. During the City's fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the City did not make any contributions into 
the Trust, which is reported in the City's financial statements as a pension and other postemployment 
benefit trust fund. 

Contributions that were scheduled to be made to the Trust for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010 in the amount of $2,635,156 and $2,104,382, respectively, were not remitted to the Trust by the City 
in those years. During 2011, the Trust filed a lawsuit against the plan sponsor to compel payment on past· 
due contributions. In March 2013, a settlement agreement was reached between the Trust and the plan 
sponsor, and the City remitted a payment for past-due contributions in the amount of $3,243,923. 
Contributions for 2012 were the subject of a separate lawsuit. No employer contributions have been made 
for fiscal years 2012 and later. 

On April 4, 2017, the City of Pontiac, Michigan announced that a tentative settlement had been reached 
with regards to retiree health care. As of the date of this report, the settlement has been approved by the 
plaintiffs and the City. The settlement is still pending approval by the U.S. District Court and Internal 
Revenue Service. If fully approved, the settlement agreement would provide health care funding for all 
Pontiac retirees via the creation of a new VEBA by utilizing certain overfunded assets from the City of 
Pontiac General Employees' Retirement System and this Trust. In addition, this agreement was intended to 
resolve the Trust's pending lawsuit against the City seeking payment of the FY 2012 annual contribution in 
the amount of $3,473,923. 

On July 31, 2019, a judgement was entered regarding the Board of Trustees and Fire VEBA FY 2012 annual 
contribution of $3,473,923. The City was directed to pay the FY 2012 contribution of $3,473,923 plus 
interest of $600,052 for a total award of $4,073,975 to the VEBA. The City and the VEBA entered into a 
settlement on October 31, 2019 which would offset the receivables owed from the VEBA to the City as of 
October 31, 2019 and prospectively monies the VEBA will be indebted to the City relating to insurance 
premium payments until the $4,073,975 was paid in full. In addition, the award in the VEBA case of 
$4,073,975 would offset the initial contribution of $4,250,000 mandated in the settlement of the Retired 
Employees Association vs City of Pontiac case. 

Method Used to Value Investments. Investments are reported at estimated fair value. Dividend income is 
recorded on the ex-dividend date. Income from other investments is recorded as earned on an accrual 
basis. In accordance with the policy of stating investments at fair value, net unrealized appreciation or 
depreciation for the year is reflected in the statement of changes in trust net position. Investments that do 
not have an established market value are reported at estimated fair value as determined by the Trust's 
management. These estimates are determined using financial statements issued by the private equity 
companies in which such investments are held and adjusted by management as deemed appropriate based 
on known circumstances. 
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Investment Policy. The Trust's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may 
be amended by the Trust's board by a majority vote of its members. It is the policy of the Trust's board to 
pursue an investment strategy that manages risk through the prudent diversification of the portfolio across 
a broad selection of distinct asset classes. The Trust's investment policy discourages the use of cash 
equivalents, except for liquidity purposes, and aims to refrain from dramatically shifting asset class 
allocations over short time spans. 

Rate of Return. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 
OPEB plan investments was (6.82%). The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment 
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

Benefits Provided. The Trust provides health, optical, dental, and life insurance benefits for retirees who 
are members of the Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Pontiac and retired on or after 
August 22, 1996. During 2013, the board of trustees passed a resolution to expand membership to retirees 
who retired prior to August 22, 1996. The pre-August 22, 1996 retirees were covered by the Trust effective 
September 1, 2013 through April 1, 2014. All such benefits are paid out of the Trust. 

Contributions. Historically, the Trust has been primarily funded by employer contributions. The trustees 
voted to implement funding at the actuarial recommended rate beginning on July 1, 2006. Contributions 
for the City's fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 have been actuarially determined as a part of the 
December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation at $82,480. However, scheduled contributions were not paid to the 
Trust by the City. In the current year, the Trust recorded a contribution receivable and corresponding 
revenue in the amount of $4,073,975 related to a court judgment against the City in favor of the Trust. 

Certain retirees are required to contribute toward the premiums paid on their behalf. Benefit expense for 
the year ended December 31, 2018 was $2,304,955, which is net of $673,199 in retiree contributions 
toward premiums. 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. At December 31, 2018, plan membership consisted of the following: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 
Other retirees who could elect 

Total membership 

80 

177 
59 
84 
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Net OPEB Liability. The City's net OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2018. 

Actuarial Assumptions. The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2018. The valuation used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included 
in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Inflation 
Healthcare cost trend rate 

Mortality 

Investment rate of return 

2.25% 
8. 50% decreasing 0. 5% per year to an ultimate rate 
of 5% for 2026 and later years 
SOA RPH-2006 Total Dataset Mortality Table fully 
generational with SS 2018 improvement scale 
7.50% net of OPEB plan investment expense, 
including inflation 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimates of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the 
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real 
rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of 
December 31, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 

Domestic equity 
International equity 
Domestic bonds 
International bonds 
Alternative assets 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

52.50% 
12.50% 
15.00% 

5.00% 
15.00% 

100.00% 

Long~term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

5.74% 
6.94% 
2.01% 
3.02% 
5.77% 

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at December 31, 2018 was 6.90 
percent; however, the discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at the beginning of the year 
was 6.50 percent. 

The OPEB plan's fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate incorporates a municipal bond rate 
which was 4.11 percent at December 31, 2018. The source of that bond rate was the Bond Buyer GO 20· 
Bond Municipal Bond Index. The long-term expected rate of return was applied to projected benefit 
payments from 2019 · 2057 and the municipal bond rate was applied to the remaining periods. 

81 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability. The components of the change in the net OPEB liability are summarized 
as follows: 

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary : Net OPEB 
Liability Net Position Liability 

(a) (b) (a) - (b) 

Balances at December 31, 2017 s 47,032,505 s 40,952,046 s 6,080,459 

Changes for the year: 
Interest 2,983,381 2,983,381 
Differences between expected and 

actual experience (2,597,547) (2,597,547) 
Employer contributions 4,073,975 (4,073,975) 
Changes of assumptions (2,409,464) (2,409,464) 
Benefit payments, including refunds of 

employee contributions (2,304,955) (2,304,955) 
Net investment loss (2,848,439) 2,848,439 
Administrative expense (55,482) 55,482 

Net changes (4,328,585) (1,105,852) (3,222,733) 

Ba~ncesatDecember31, 2018 s 42,703,920 s 39,846,194 s 2,857,726 

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the net OPEB 
liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 6. 9%, as well as what the City's net OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (5.9%) or 1% higher (7.9%) than the 
current rate: 

Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1%lncrease 

(5. 9%) (6.9%) (7.9%) 

City's net OPEB liability s 9,308,498 s 2,857,726 s (2,335,731) 

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend. The following presents the 
net OPEB liability of the City, calculated using the healthcare cost trend rate of 8. 5%, as well as what the 
City's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1% lower 
(7.5%) or 1% higher (9.5%) than the current rate: 

City's net OPEB liability 

1%"f~trease 
··. ;;,(9.5%) 

$ (2,676,020) $ 2,857,726 $ 9,655,040 

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position is 
provided in Note 16. 
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OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB. For 
the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized OPEB expense of $4,252,891. At June 30, 2019, the City 
reported deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

on pension plan investments $ 3,743,763 $ 
======== 

Net Deferred 
.. Outflows 

(Inflows) of 
.Resources-

$ 3,743,763 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as 
follows: 

Year Ended 
June 30, Amount 

2020 $ 850,918 
2021 850,918 
2022 850,918 
2023 1,191,009 

Total $ 3,743,763 

15. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CITY OF PONTIAC RETIREE HEALTH CARE PLAN 

Plan Description and Benefits Provided. The City provides medical, prescription, and core dental benefits 
for General retirees and Police and Fire retirees not eligible for the Police and Fire Retiree Prefunded 
Group Health and Insurance Trust noted above. This is a single-employer defined benefit plan 
administered by the City. The benefits are provided under collective bargaining agreements. 

Contributions. The collective bargaining agreements do not require employee contributions. The City has 
no obligation to make contributions in advance of when the insurance premiums are due for payment (in 
other words, this may be financed on a "pay-as-you-go" basis). 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. At December 31, 2018, plan membership consisted of the following: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 

Total membership 

83 

716 
10 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

Actuarial Assumptions. The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2018. The valuation used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included 
in the measurement: 

Inflation 
Healthcare cost trend rate 

Mortality 

2.75% 
8. 50% decreasing 0.25% per year to an ultimate 
rate of 5.00% for 2026 and later years 
SOA RPH-2006 Total Dataset Mortality Table fully 
generational with SS 2017 improvement scale 

Discount Rate. Because the OPEB plan does not have a dedicated trust, there are no assets projected to 
make projected future benefit payments. Therefore, the discount rate incorporates a municipal bond rate 
which was 4.11 percent at December 31, 2018. The source of that bond rate was the Bond Buyer GO 20-
Bond Municipal Bond Index. 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability. The components of the change in the total OPEB liability are 
summarized as follows: 

Total OPEB 
Liability 

(a) 

Balances at December 31, 2017 $ 80,432,528 

Changes for the year: 
Interest 2,693,118 
Differences between expected and 

actual experience (8,545,849) 
Changes of assumptions (5,607,379) 
Benefit payments, including refunds of 

employee contributions (4,325,000) 
Net changes (15,785,110) 

Balances at December 31, 2018 $ 64,647,418 
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Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the total 
OPEB liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 4.11%, as well as what the City's total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 % lower (3.11%) or 1 % higher (5.11 %) 
than the current rate: 

City's total OPEB liability 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(4.11%) 
1% Increase 

(5.11%) 

$ 73,335,675 $ 64,647,418 $ 57,616,843 

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend. The following presents the 
total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1 % lower or 1 % higher than the current rate: 

City's total OPEB liability 

1% Decrease 
(7.5% 

Decreasing to 
4.0%) 

Healthcare 
Cost Trend 
Rate (8.5% 

Decreasing to 
5.0%) 

1% Increase 
(9.5% 

Decreasing to 
6.0%) 

$ 57,289,136 $ 64,647,418 $ 73,578,908 

OPEB Expense. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized OPEB expense of ($11,460,110). 

For the governmental activities, the total OPEB liability is generally liquidated by the general fund. 
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16. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR INDIVIDUAL PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT FUNDS 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 
Investments at fair value: 

U.S. government obligations 
and agencies 

Government agency notes and debentures 
Mortgage-backed securities 
Collateralized mortgage obligations 
U.S. government securities 
U.S. government mortgage-backed 

securities 
Commercial mortgage pools 
Asset-backed securities 
Corporate and other bonds 
Foreign bonds and notes 
Limited partnerships 
Domestic stock 
Short-term investments 
Equities 
Domestic equities 
Private equities 
Foreign equities 
Real estate 
Real estate investment trusts 

Accrued interest and 
dividends receivable 

Due from broker 
Other receivables 
Due from Police and Fire 

Retirement System VEBA 

Total assets 

Plan Net Position as of Decembe.r 31, 2018 

General.City 
Employees' Police and Fire Police and Fire 
Retirement Retirement · Retirement 

System System Syst~rn VEBA Total 

420,321 $ $ 595,749 $ 1,016,070 

1,433,597 1,433,597 
62,163,411 62,163,411 

1,354,648 1,354,648 
250,142 250,142 

21,122,769 21,122,769 

31,780,555 2,578,057 34,358,612 
1,727,405 1,727,405 
1,222,866 698,435 1,921,301 

14,971,522 14,000,403 1,190,578 30,162,503 
119,100 119,100 

51,433,793 25,321,255 6,534,825 83,289,873 
116,875,110 116,875,110 

12,403,127 8,092,998 1,219,052 21,715,177 
21,760,227 21,760,227 

226,259,625 226,259,625 
11,477,137 11,477,137 
39,966,376 39,966,376 

18,428,545 18,428,545 
752,159 752,159 

1,240,663 258,486 52,164 1,551,313 
5,073 5,073 

8,668 4,073,975 4,082,643 

86,983 86,983 

455,075,469 206,764,606 40,039,724 701,879,799 

continued ... 
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Liabilities 
Due to City of Pontiac 
Due to Police and Fire 

Retirement System 
Accounts payable and 

other 

Total liabilities 

Net position restricted for 
pension and other 
employee benefits 

Additions 
Investment income: 

Interest and dividend 
income 

Net decrease in 
fair value 

Less investment 
related expenses 

Net investment loss 

Contributions -
Employer 

Miscellaneous and 
litigation revenue 

Total additions 

P_La11Net Positi<>_11_a_s_gf DecembE!L31, 2018 . _ 

GeneralCity 
Employees' 

· Retirement 
System 

·•Retirement 
System 

$ $ 

901,549 126,345 

901,549 126,345 

Police and Fire 
Retirement 

System VEBA Total 

$ 72,493 $ 72,493 

86,983 86,983 

34,054 1,061,948 

193,530 1,221,424 

$ 454,173,920 $ 206,638,261 $ 39,846,194 $ 700,658,375 

concluded. 

Changes in Plan Net Position for the Year Ended 
December 31, 2018 

General City 
Employees' Police and Fire Police and Fire 
Retirement 

System 
Retirement 

System 
Retirement 

System VEBA Total 

$ 9,235,936 $ 4,748,967 $ 801,271 $ 14,786,174 

(29,725,262) (11,058,902) (3,497,537) (44,281,701) 

(2,839,233) --~(8_0_6,_58_1~) --~(1_5_2,~1_73~) __ (3_, 7_9~7,_98_7~) 

(23,328,559) (7,116,516) (2,848,439) (33,293,514) 

2,412,557 4,073,975 6,486,532 

47,079 10,085 29,049 86,213 

(23,281,480) (4,693,874) 1,254,585 
--'-'---'--'-----'--'---

(26,720,769) 

continued ... 
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Changes in Plan Net Position fodhe Year Ended 
December 31, 20.18 

General City 
Employees' 
Retirenient Retirement Retirement 

System System System VEBA Total 
Deductions (continued) 

Retirees' pension benefits $ 28,199,310 $ 20,631,416 $ $ 48,830,726 
Retiree health benefit 

payments 2,304,955 2,304,955 
Administrative expenses 781,967 257,590 55,482 1,095,039 

Total deductions 28,981,277 20,889,006 2,360,437 52,230,720 

Change in net position (52,262,757) (25,582,880) (1,105,852) (78,951,489) 

Net position: 
Beginning of year 506,436,677 232,221,141 40,952,046 779,609,864 

End of year $ 454,173,920 $ 206,638,261 $ 39,846,194 $ 700,658,375 

concluded. 

17. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Cost Settlements - The City receives grants from the State of Michigan and various federal agencies to 
fund specific projects. Final determination of grant amounts is subject to audit by the responsible 
agencies. The City does not believe that disallowed costs will exceed amounts provided for disallowances 
by an amount material to the financial statements. 

Litigation - There are various claims and legal actions pending against the City and its various operating 
units, many of which are either partially or fully covered by insurance. The City is defending against these 
actions. In the opinion of City management, the ultimate amount of loss, if any, resulting from these 
claims and legal actions will not be material to the financial position of the City, except for the following 
matter: 

Retired Employees Association vs City of Pontiac. On April 4, 2017, the City announced that a 
tentative agreement had been reached regarding retiree healthcare in this case. A final settlement was 
agreed upon in November 2018. As of the date of this report, the settlement has been approved by the 
plaintiffs and the City. The settlement is still pending approval by the U.S. District Court and Internal 
Revenue Service. 

Once fully approved, the settlement agreement will provide healthcare funding for all Pontiac retirees 
via the creation of a new VEBA by utilizing a portion of assets from the City of Pontiac General 
Employees' Retirement System and all assets from the Police and Fire VEBA trust. Per the agreement, 
the City's initial contribution to the new VEBA will be $4,250,000 less any awards against the City in the 
Board of Trustees Police and Fire VEBA vs City of Pontiac litigation. 
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Board of Trustees Police and Fire VEBA vs. City of Pontiac. The City has been in litigation with the 
Police and Fire VEBA Board of Trustees relating to a prior Emergency Manager order allowing the City to 
not make the annual contribution to the VEBA Trust for the period ending June 30, 2012 for the amount 
of $3,473,923. 

On July 31, 2019, a judgement was entered regarding the Board of Trustees and Fire VEBA FY 2012 
annual contribution of $3,473,923. The City was directed to pay the FY 2012 contribution of $3,473,923 
plus interest of $600,052 for a total award of $4,073,975 to the VEBA. The City and the VEBA entered 
into a settlement on October 31, 2019 which would offset the receivables owed from the VEBA to the 
City as of October 31, 2019 and prospectively monies the VEBA will be indebted to the City relating to 
insurance premium payments until the $4,073,975 was paid in full. In addition, the award in the VEBA 
case of $4,073,975 would offset the initial contribution of $4,250,000 mandated in the settlement of 
the Retired Employees Association vs City of Pontiac case. 

18. TAX ABATEMENTS 

The City received reduced property tax revenues during the year as a result of industrial facilities tax 
exemptions (IFT's), brownfield redevelopment agreements and other agreements entered into by cities, 
villages, townships, and authorities within the City. 

The IFT's were entered into based upon the Plant Rehabilitation and Industrial Development Districts Act, 
(known as the Industrial Facilities Exemption), PA 198 of 1974, as amended. IFT's provide a tax incentive 
to manufacturers to enable renovation and expansion of aging facilities, assist in the building of new 
facilities, and to promote the establishment of high tech facilities. Properties qualifying for IFT status are 
taxed at 50% of the millage rate applicable to other real and personal property in the City. The 
abatements amounted to $128,314 in reduced City tax revenues for the year. 

Brownfield redevelopment agreements are intended to reimburse taxpayers that remediate environmental 
contamination on their properties. These agreements were entered into based upon the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Act, PA 381 of 1996, as amended. Under this act, a municipality may create a brownfield 
redevelopment authority to develop and implement brownfield projects. Tax increment financing may be 
used as a tool for property redevelopment. The abatements amounted to $21,719 in reduced City tax 
revenues for the year. 

The City also has entered into agreements under the State Housing Development Authority Act, PA 346 of 
1966. Under this act, a municipality may allow a payment of a service charge in lieu of taxes to provide 
housing to elderly persons of low to moderate income. The abatements amounted to $566,653 in reduced 
City tax revenues for the year. 

Finally, the City entered into agreements under the New Personal Property Tax Exemption Act, PA 328 of 
1998, as amended. This act affords a 100% property tax exemption for specific businesses located within 
eligible distressed communities. The abatements amounted to $1,662,769 in reduced City tax revenues for 
the year. 
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19. DETAILS OF FUND BALANCE CATEGORIES AND CLASSIFICATIONS 

Fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a government is bound to 
observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported in governmental funds, is as follows: 

Nonspendable 
Prepaid items 

Restricted 
Roads 
Drug enforcement 
Capital projects 
Sanitation 
Senior activities 
Community 

development 
Home buyers 

assistance 
Cable television 
Youth recreation 
Telecommunications 
Building inspection 

Total restricted 

Committed 
Youth recreation 

Assigned 
Phoenix Center 

Settlement 

Unassigned 

Total fund balances 

fCl, OPERATING LEASE 

$ 

General 

---,---j --

1 
I 

Major Streets; Local Streets Sanitation 

30,209 _$'--____ $'--____ $'-----

3,200,000 

2,800,000 

12,554,802 

2,492,968 

2,492,968 

4,988,092 

6,177,610 

4,988,092 6,177,610 

$ 

$18,585,011 $ 2,492,968 $ 4,988,092 $ 6,177,611 $ 

Nonmajor l Total 
District 
.Court 

Governmental Governmental 
Funds j ___ Funds 

1,487 $ 51,789 _$'--_8_3..c.,4_8_6_ 

227,440 
3,012,945 

1,031,559 

30,335 

3,638 
1,200,377 

220,955 
57,750 

924,158 
6,709,157 

7,481,060 
227,440 

3,012,945 
6,177,610 
1,031,559 

30,335 

3,638 
1,200,377 

220,955 
57,750 

924,158 
20,367,827 

3,200,000 

2,800,000 

12,554,802 

1,487 $ 6,760,946 $39,006, 115 

The City entered into leases for buildings under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. The total lease expense for the 
year ending June 30, 2019 was $356,000. The future minimum lease payments for these leases are as follows: 

2020 $ 382,000 
2021 382,000 
2022 70,000 

$ 834,000 

1111111111111111 
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Required Supplementary Information 
General Employees' Retirement System 

Schedule of Changes in the City's Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios 

Year Ended June 30, 

2015 2016 2017 2018 
Change in total pension liability 

Service cost $ 279,187 $ 314,272 $ 324,671 $ 350,549 
Interest 19,973,828 19,232,034 17,944,933 17,598,425 
Changes in benefit terms 5,407,365 10,658,814 
Differences between expected 

and actual experience (2,538,358) (23,548,600) 5,189,027 871,705 
Changes in assumptions 9,124,140 15,686,953 
Benefit payments, including refunds 

of member contributions (27,507,232) (28,052,593) (27,119,534) (26,916,912) 
Net change in total pension liability (9,792,575) (17,523,382) 12,026,050 2,562,581 

Total pension liability, beginning 279,931,726 270,139,151 252,615,769 264,641,819 

Total pension liability, ending (a) 270,139,151 252,615,769 264,641,819 267,204,400 

Change in plan fiduciary net position 
Net investment income (loss) 29,460,854 (3,414,613) 34,606,547 67,868,606 
Benefit payments, including refunds 

of member contributions (27,507,232) (28,052,593) (27,119,534) (26,916,912) 
Administrative expense (699,715) (954,593) (683,083) (696,340) 
Other 37,357 5,748 29,291 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 1,253,907 (32,384,442) 6,809,678 40,284,645 

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 490,472,889 491,726,796 459,342,354 466, 152,032 

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) 491,726,796 459,342,354 466,152,032 506,436,677 

City's net pension asset, ending (a)-(b) $ (221,587,645) $ (206,726,585) $ (201,510,213) $ (239,232,277) 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
of the total pension liability 182.0% 181.8% 176.1% 189.5% 

Covered payroll $ 1,478,241 $ 1,528,731 $ 1,540,472 $ 1,450,352 

City's net pension asset as a 
percentage of covered payroll 14990.0% 13522.8% 13081.1% 16494.8% 

2019 

$ 147,521 
17,725,816 
3,470,936 

1,839,373 

(28,199,311) 
(5,015,665) 

267,204,400 

262, 188,735 

(23,328,559) 

(28,199,310) 
(770,714) 

35,826 
(52,262,757) 

506,436,677 

454,173,920 

$ (191,985,185) 

173.2% 

$ 1,427,628 

13447.8% 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of data will be 
presented. 
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Required Supplementary lnformatjon 
General Employees' Retirement System 

Schedule of the Net Pension Asset 

i Plan Net I 
Position as ' I l 

Fiscal Year 

I 
Per~entage.ofj 

Ended Plan Net Net Pension Total Pension l 
June 30, Position Liability (Asset) I Liability 

2015 $270,139,151 $ 491,726,796 $ (221,587,645) 182.03% 
2016 252,615,769 459,342,354 (206,726,585) 181.83% 
2017 264,641,819 466,152,032 (201,510,213) 176.14% 
2018 267,204,400 506,436,677 (239,232,277) 189.53% 
2019 262,188,735 454,173,920 (191,985,185) 173.22% 

Net· Pension 
Asset as 

Covered Percentage of 
Pi:lyroll Payroll' 

$ 1,478,241 14990.0% 
1,528,731 13522.8% 
1,540,472 13081.1% 
1,450,352 16494.8% 
1,427,628 13447.8% 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of 
data will be presented. 
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Required Supplementary Information 
General Employees' Retirement System 

Schedule of Contributions 

June 30, 

2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 

Actuarially 
Determined 
Contribution 

$ 

Contfibiffions l . 
in Relation to 'I· 

the Actuarially 
Determined 
Contribution j 

$ 

Contribution 
Deficiency 

(Excess) 

$ $ 

· Covered 
Payroll 

1,478,241 
1,528,731 
1,540,472 
1,450,352 
1,427,628 

Contributions 
as Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll 

0.0% 
0.0% 
0.0% 
0.0% 
0.0% 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of 
data will be presented. 

Notes to Schedule of Contributions 

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, two years and 
a half years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions are 
reported. The most recent valuation is as of December 31, 2018. 

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal 
Amortization method Level dollar, open 
Remaining amortization period 30 years 
Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed market 
Inflation 2.50% 
Salary increases 3.6 - 7.4% (includes inflation) 
Investment rate of return 7.0% 
Retirement age Age-based table of rates are specific to the type 

of eligibility condition 
Mortality rates The RP-2014 Health Annuitant Mortality Table (unadjusted) 

projected to 2021 using a static projection based on the 
two-dimensional MP-2014 improvement scales 
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Required Sllpplementary Information 
General Employees' Retirement System 

Schedule of Investment Returns 

. Fiscal Year 
Ended Annual 

June 30, Return <1> 

2015 6.76% 
2016 -0.84% 
2017 7.79% 
2018 15.31% 
2019 -4.63% 

(lJ Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expenses 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of 
data will be presented. 
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Required Supplementary Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System 

Schedule of Changes in the City's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 

Year Ended .June 30, 
----- ---------- -

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
---------- ------' 

Change in total pension liability 
Interest s 17,801,885 s 17,667,136 s 18,142,691 s 18,015,944 s 17,768,283 
Changes in benefit terms 1,179,108 780,417 765,616 464,793 
Differences between expected 

and actual experience 67,662 4,777,253 2,964,382 (575,621) (451,296) 
Changes in assumptions 3,437,195 (2,147,637) (606,903) (434,944) 
Benefit payments, including refunds 

of member contributions (19,581,140) (19,751,254) (21,688,683) (21,170,946) (20,631,416) 
Net change in total pension liability (1,711,593) 7,309,438 (1,948,830) (3,571,910) (3,284,580) 

Total pension liability, beginning 247,149,039 245,437,446 252,746,884 250,798,054 247,226,144 

Total pension liability, ending (a) 245,437,446 252,746,884 250,798,054 247,226,144 243,941,564 

Change in plan fiduciary net position 
Contributions - employer 901,797 2,327,949 2,041,923 1,773,627 2,412,557 
Net investment income (loss) 15,235,786 1,600,942 18,343,180 28,866,568 (7,116,516) 
Benefit payments, including refunds 

of member contributions (19,581,140) (19,751,254) (21,688,683) (21,170,946) (20,631,416) 
Administrative expense (332,389) (328,225) (300,220) (310,593) (257,590) 
Other 40,671 1,020 25,735 5,188 10,085 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (3,735,275) (16,149,568) (1,578,065) 9,163,844 (25,582,880) 

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 244,520,205 240,784,930 224,635,362 223,057,297 232,221,141 

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) 240,784,930 224,635,362 223,057,297 232,221,141 206,638,261 

City's net pension liability, ending (a)-(b) s 4,652,516 s 28,111,522 s 27,740,757 s 15,005,003 s 37,303,303 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
of the total pension liability 98.1% 88.9% 88.9% 93.9% 84.7% 

Covered payroll s s s s s 
City's net pension liability as a 

percentage of covered payroll 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of data will be 
presented. 
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R~quiredSupplementary Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System 

Schedule of the Net Pension Liability 

·Plan Net 
Positi<:>n as 

Fiscal Year Percentage of 
Ended Total Pension Plan Net Net Pension Total Pension 

June 30, Liabilifr Position Liability Liability 

2015 $245,437,446 $ 240,784,930 $ 4,652,516 98.10% 
2016 252,746,884 224,635,362 28,111,522 88.88% 
2017 250,798,054 223,057,297 27,740,757 88.94% 
2018 247,226,144 232,221,141 15,005,003 93.93% 
2019 243,941,564 206,638,261 37,303,303 84.71% 

Covered 
Payroll 

$ 

Net Pension 
Liability as 

Percentage of 
Covered 
Payroll 

0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of 
data will be presented. 
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R.equired Supplernentary Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System 

Schedule of Contributions 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30, 

2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 

Actuarially 
Determined 
Contribution··· 

$ 901,797 
2,327,949 
2,041,923 
1,773,627 
2,412,557 

Contriofftfons 
in Relation to 

the Actuarially 
Determined 
Contribution 

$ 901,797 
2,327,949 
2,041,923 
1,773,627 
2,412,557 

Contribution 
Defidertcy 

(Excess) 

$ $ 

Covered 
Payroll 

0.0% 
0.0% 
0.0% 
0.0% 
0.0% 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of 
data will be presented. 

Notes to Schedule of Contributions 

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, two and a 
half years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions are reported. 
The most recent valuation is as of December 31, 2018. 

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal 
Amortization method Level dollar, closed 
Remaining amortization period 
Asset valuation method 
Inflation 
Salary increases 
Investment rate of return 

Retirement age 

Mortality rates 

Other information 

25 years 
20% write-up 
0.0% 
N/A 
7. 5%, net of pension plan investment expense, 

including inflation 
Experience-based table of rates to the type of 

eligibility condition 
RP-2014 Blue Collar, with general improvements using 

MP-2018 scale 
Cost-of-living adjustments are 2.0% of original pension 

amounts at retirement for certain plan members and 
applied to years of retirement 
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R~quired Su pplementa_ry Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System 

Schedule of Investment Returns 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30, 

!
1

) Annual money-weighted rate of return 

2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 

Return <
1> 

6.22% 
0.38% 
9.86% 
14.25% 
-4.19% 

Note: GASB 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, ten years of 
data will be presented. 

99 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Required Supplementary Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA 

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Year Ended June 30, 

2018 2019 

Total OPEB liability 
Interest on total OPEB liability $ 2,890,913 $ 2,983,381 
Difference between expected and actual experience 3,832,503 (2,597,547) 
Changes of assumptions 551,988 (2,409,464) 
Benefit payments (1,887,615) (2,304,955) 

Net change in total OPEB liability 5,387,789 (4,328,585) 

Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 41,644,716 47,032,505 

Total OPEB liability, end of year 47,032,505 42,703,920 

Plan fiduciary net position 
Contributions - employer $ $ 4,073,975 
Benefit payments, including refunds (1,887,615) (2,304,955) 
OPEB plan net investment income (loss) 4,508,528 (2,848,439) 
Administrative expense (95,449) (55,482) 
Other 845 29,049 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 2,526,309 (1,105,852) 

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year 38,425,737 40,952,046 

Plan fiduciary net position, end of year 40,952,046 39,846,194 

Net OPEB liability $ 6,080,459 $ 2,857,726 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
of total OPEB liability 87.1% 93.3% 

Note: Contributions to the OPEB plan are not based on a measure of pay; therefore, no covered payroll is presented. 

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years 
of data will be presented. 

100 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Required Supplementary Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA 

Schedule of the Net OPEB Liability 

Plan Net 
Position as 

Fiscal Year Percentqge of 
Ending TotalOPEB Plan Net Total OPEB 

June 30, Liability Position Net OPEB Asset Liability 

2018 $ 47,032,505 $ 40,952,046 6,080,459 87.1% 
2019 42,703,920 39,846,194 2,857,726 93.3% 

n/a 
n/a 

Net()PEB 
Asset as 

Percentage of 
Covered 
Payroll 

n/a 
n/a 

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years 
of data will be presented. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Required Supplementary Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA 

Schedule of Contributions 

Fiscal Year Actuarially 
Ending Determined 

June 30, Contribution 

2018 $ 287,012 
2019 82,480 

Actual 
Contribution 

$ 

<:ontributi9n 
Deficiency 

(Excess) 

$ 287,012 
82,480 

Coverecl · 
Payroll 

n/a 
n/a 

Actual 
Contribution 

as Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll 

n/a 
n/a 

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years 
of data will be presented. 

Notes to Schedule of Contributions 

Notes Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30, two years 
prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions are reported. 

Methods and assumptions used to determine rates: 
Actuarial cost method Entry-age normal, level % of salary 
Amortization method Level dollar, closed 
Remaining amortization period 27 years 
Asset valuation method Market value 
Inflation 2.25% 
Health care trend rates 
Investment rate of return 
Mortality 

8.50% decreasing 0.50% per year to an ultimate rate of 5.0% for 2026 and later 
7. 50%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including inflation 
SOA RPH-2006 Total Dataset Mortality Table fully generational with SS 2018 
improvement scale 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Required Supplementary Information 
Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA 

Schedule of Investment Returns 

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

June 30, 

2018 
2019 

Annual 
Return (1> 

12.4% 
-6.8% 

t1> Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expenses 

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years 
of data will be presented. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Required Supplementary Information 
Retiree Health Care Plan 

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Year Ended June. 30, 

2018 2019 
Total OPEB liability 

Interest on total OPEB liability $ 3,237,511 $ 2,693,118 
Changes in benefit terms (6,518,093) 
Difference between expected and actual experience 391,102 (8,545,849) 
Changes of assumptions (4,610,100) (5,607,379) 
Benefit payments (4,325,000) 

Net change in total OPEB liability (7,499,580) (15,785,110) 

Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 87,932,108 80,432,528 

Total OPEB liability, end of year $ 80,432,528 $ 64,647,418 

Covered-employee payroll n/a n/a 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage 
of covered-employee payroll n/a n/a 

Note: Contributions to the OPEB plan are not based on a measure of pay; therefore, no covered payroll is presented. 

Note: Changes of assumptions include mortality table improvement scale updated from SS 2016 improvement scale 
to SS 2017 improvement scale and healthcare trend rates reset to an initial rate of 9.0% for pre-Medicare and 7.0% 
for Medicare, decreasing by 0.5% annually to an ultimate rate of 5.0% for pre-Medicare and 4.0% for Medicare. 

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years 
of data will be presented. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Required Supplementary Information 
Retiree Health Care Plan 

Schedule of the Total OPEB Liability 

June 30, 

2018 
2019 

$ 80,432,528 
64,647,418 

Covered 
Payroll 

n/a 
n/a 

Total OPEB 
Liability as 

Percentage of 
Covered 
Payroll 

n/a 
n/a 

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years 
of data will be presented. 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 
General Fund 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Actual Over 
Original Final (Under) Final 
Budget Budget Actual Budget 

Revenues 

Property taxes and special assessments $ 7,779,063 $ 7,779,063 $ 8,403,182 $ 624,119 
Income taxes 13,450,000 13,450,000 14,456,678 1,006,678 
Federal revenue 115,000 115,000 85,972 (29,028) 
State revenue 10,096,287 10,096,287 10,557,441 461,154 
Charges for services 1,125,600 1,125,600 954,247 (171,353) 
Fines and forfeitures 108,000 108,000 8,000 (100,000) 
Licenses and permits 195,000 195,000 192,758 (2,242) 
Interest and rental revenue 376,000 376,000 997,953 621,953 
Other revenue 2,433,704 2,433,704 1,673,351 (760,353) 

Total revenues 35,678,654 35,678,654 37,329,582 1,650,928 

Expenditures 

Current: 
General government 5,615,884 9,135,655 8,738,249 (397,406) 
Public safety 20,004,502 20,009,582 19,856,095 (153,487) 
Public works 2,584,894 2,684,884 2,098,159 (586,725) 
Health and welfare 150,000 150,000 (150,000) 
Community and economic 

development 2,555,850 2,392,425 1,560,859 (831,566) 
Recreation and culture 676,964 720,611 510,475 (210,136) 
Retiree fringe benefits 2,452,662 2,452,662 2,133,428 (319,234) 

Total expenditures 34,040,755 37,545,819 34,897,265 (2,648,554) 

Revenues over (under) expenditures 1,637,899 (1,867,165) 2,432,317 4,299,482 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 480,000 480,337 248,585 (231,752) 
Transfers out (2,114,555) (2,188,182) (1,518,041) (670,141) 

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,634,555) (1,707,845) (1,269,456) 438,389 

Net change in fund balance 3,344 (3,575,010) 1,162,861 4,737,871 

Fund balance, beginning of year 17,422,150 17,422,150 17,422,150 

Fund balance, end of year $ 17,425,494 $ 13,847,140 $ 18,585,011 $ 4,737,871 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

_Budgetary-Ce>mpariso11 _ Schedule 
Major Streets Special Revenue Fund 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Actual Over 
Original Final (Under) Final 
Budget Budget Actu.al Budget 

Revenues 
State revenue s 4,995,130 s 4,995,130 s 5,880,723 s 885,593 
Charges for services 15,851 15,851 
Interest 20,523 20,523 30,733 10,210 
Other revenue 71,003 71,003 

Total revenues 5,015,653 5,015,653 5,998,310 982,657 

Expenditures 
Public works 7,838,563 7,857,047 6,187,229 (1,669,818) 

Revenues under expenditures (2,822,910) (2,841,394) (188,919) 2,652,475 

Other financing sources 
Transfers in 18,484 18,484 

Net change in fund balance (2,822,910) (2,822,910) (170,435) 2,652,475 

Fund balance, beginning of year 2,663,403 2,663,403 2,663,403 

Fund balance, end of year s (159,507) s (159,507) s 2,492,968 s 2,652,475 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Budgetary C9mparison Schedule 
Local Streets Special Revenue Fund 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Actual Over 
Original Final (Under} Final 
Budget Budget Actual Budget 

Revenues 

State revenue $ 1,522,860 $ 1,644,017 $ 1,550,925 $ (93,092) 
Interest 21,493 21,493 102,735 81,242 

Total revenues 1,544,353 1,665,510 1,653,660 (11,850) 

Expenditures 
Public works 2,855,410 4,726,906 2,613,045 (2,113,861) 

Revenues under expenditures (1,311,057) (3,061,396) (959,385) 2,102,011 

Other financing sources 
Transfers in 14, 125 14,125 

Net change in fund balance (1,311,057) (3,047,271) (945,260) 2,102,011 

Fund balance, beginning of year 5,933,352 5,933,352 5,933,352 

Fund balance, end of year $ 4,622,295 $ 2,886,081 $ 4,988,092 $ 2,102,011 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 
Sanitation Special Revenue Fund 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Actual Over 
Original Final (Under) Final 
Budget Budget Actual Budget 

Revenues 
Property taxes and special assessments s 1,709,919 s 1,709,919 s 1,865,787 s 155,868 
Charges for services 1,675,000 1,675,000 1,671,488 (3,512) 
State revenue 51,620 51,620 103,490 51,870 
Interest 25,852 25,852 102,794 76,942 

Total revenues 3,462,391 3,462,391 3,743,559 281,168 

Expenditures 
Public works 4,401,286 4,401,577 3,782,087 (619,490) 

Revenues under expenditures (938,895) (939,186) (38,528) 900,658 

Other financing sources 
Transfers in 291 291 

Net change in fund balance (938,895) (938,895) (38,237) 900,658 

Fund balance, beginning of year 6,215,848 6,215,848 6,215,848 

Fund balance, end of year s 5,276,953 s 5,276,953 s 6,177,611 s 900,658 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Budgetary C()rnparison SchecJule 
District Court Special Revenue Fund 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Actual Over 
Original Final (Under) Final 

Budget Budget Actual /Budget 

Revenues 

State revenue $ 187,639 $ 187,639 $ 182,896 $ (4,743) 
Charges for services 673,795 673,795 773,290 99,495 
Fines and forfeitures 1,083,635 1,083,635 1,079,420 (4,215) 
Other revenue 876,540 81,499 (81,499) 
Interest 1,500 1,500 1,869 369 

Total revenues 2,823,109 2,028,068 2,037,475 9,407 

Expenditures 
District court 4,168,344 3,349,284 2,942,908 (406,376) 

Revenues under expenditures (1,345,235) (1,321,216) (905,433) 415,783 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 1,374,555 1,375,851 946,047 (429,804) 
Transfers out · (15,000) (40,315) (41,220) 905 

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,359,555 1,335,536 904,827 (430,709) 

Net change in fund balance 14,320 14,320 (606) (14,926) 

Fund balance, beginning of year 2,093 2,093 2,093 

Fund balance, end of year $ 16,413 $ 16,413 $ 1,487 $ (14,926) 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Note to Required Supplementary Information 

1. BUDGETARY INFORMATION 

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the 
general fund and all special revenue funds. 

Budget requests are reviewed by the budget department, finance department and executive office. The 
final budget is adopted by June 30 each year. City Council adopted the final budget for the June 30, 2019 
year end. 

City officials responsible for the expenditures authorized in the budget may expend City funds up to, but 
not to exceed, the total appropriated authorized for each function. 

All annual appropriations lapse at year end except those approved for carryforward through 
encumbrances. Encumbrances (e.g., purchase orders, contracts) do not constitute expenditures or 
liabilities because the goods and services have not been received as of year-end; the commitments will be 
reappropriated and honored during the subsequent year. 

During the year ended June 30, 2019, the City incurred expenditures in excess of the amounts 
appropriated as follows: 

District court special revenue fund 
Transfers out 

Amended 
Budget 

(40,315) 

1111 II Ill II 1111 

111 

Actual 
Actual 

(41,220) 

Over 
Budget 

905 
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Balance Sheet 
Nonrnajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2019 

< Special Revenue Funds 

PA~48Tele- . I Community Home 
Youth communicatiorl Development Buyers Senior 

Alloc;ation l Blocf< Grant Assistance Activities j 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 289,877 $ 57,750 $ 30,335 $ 3,638 $ 1,053,572 
Accounts receivable 
Taxes receivable, net 1,601 1,031 
Interest receivable 3,475 
Prepaids 51,429 231 

Total assets $ 342,907 $ 57,750 $ 30,335 $ 3,638 $ 1,058,309 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable $ 35,836 $ $ $ $ 8,933 
Accrued wages 22,750 7,132 
Unearned revenue 
Due to other governments 10,336 8,623 
Deposits payable 800 

Total liabilities 68,922 25,488 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Unavailable revenue 1,601 1,031 

Fund balances 
Nonspendable 51,429 231 
Restricted 220,955 57,750 30,335 3,638 1,031,559 

Total fund balances 272,384 57,750 30,335 3,638 1,031,790 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows 
of resources and fund balances $ 342,907 $ 57,750 $ 30,335 $ 3,638 $ 1,058,309 
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Capital, · 
Special Revem1e Funds Projects 

Drug Building MIDC 
Enforcement Inspection Grant Capital 

Fund Cable Fund Fund··· Fund Improvement Total 

$ 231,825 $ 1,168,547 $ 1,063,268 $ 501,376 $ 3,063,333 $ 7,463,521 
36,727 36,727 

3,996 6,628 
108 442 516 1,218 5,759 

109 20 51,789 

$ 231,933 $ 1,205,825 $ 1,063,804 $ 501,376 $ 3,068,547 $ 7,564,424 

$ 4,493 $ 956 $ 139,626 $ 31,165 $ 27,366 $ 248,375 
4,383 3,784 38,049 

466,427 466,427 
24,240 43,199 

800 

4,493 5,339 139,626 501,376 51,606 796,850 

3,996 6,628 

109 20 51,789 
227,440 1,200,377 924,158 3,012,945 6,709,157 

227,440 1,200,486 924,178 3,012,945 6,760,946 

$ 231,933 $ 1,205,825 $ 1,063,804 $ 501,376 $ 3,068,547 $ 7,564,424 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Special Revenue Funds 

l'A-48 Tele- j Community Home 
Youth communicatio~ Deyelopment Buyers Senior•· 

Recreation Allocation · j Block Grant Assistance Activities 

Revenues 
Property taxes and special 

assessments $ 938,180 $ $ $ $ 326,336 
State revenue 224,645 18,360 
Charges for services 
Fines and forfeitures 
Licenses and permits 
Interest and rental revenue 37,386 
Other revenue 153,460 

Total revenues 1,091,640 224,645 382,082 

Expenditures 
Current expenditures: 

General government 
Public safety 
Community and human services 348,277 
Recreation and culture 987,338 

Capital outlay 

Total expenditures 987,338 348,277 

Revenues over (under) expenditures 104,302 224,645 33,805 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 6,331 28,499 
Transfers out (225,000) 

Total other financing 
sources (uses) 6,331 (225,000) 28,499 

Net change in fund balances 110,633 (355) 62,304 

Fund balances, 
beginning of year 161,751 58,105 30,335 3,638 969,486 

Fund balances, end of year $ 272,384 $ 57,750 $ 30,335 $ 3,638 $ 1,031,790 
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Drug 
Enforcement 

Special Revenue Funds 

Building 

Fund Cable Fund 
Inspection 

Fond 

$ $ $ 

111,085 
41,197 

2,370,973 
1,837 15,189 7,985 

151,735 

43,034 166,924 2,490,043 

135,403 
47,694 2,003,707 

47,694 135,403 2,003,707 

(4,660) 31,521 486,336 

2,840 

2,840 

(4,660) 34,361 486,336 

232,100 1,166,125 437,842 

$ 227,440 $ 1,200,486 $ 924,178 

$ 

$ 

MIDC 
Grant 
Fund 

129,854 

129,854 

147,489 

147,489 

(17,635) 

17,635 

17,635 
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$ 

$ 

Capital 
Projeicts 

921,758 
73,262 

60,471 
116,744 

1,172,235 

959,377 

959,377 

212,858 

212,858 

2,800,087 

3,012,945 

Total 

$ 2,186,274 
316,267 
111,085 
41,197 

2,370,973 
122,868 
551,793 

5,700,457 

282,892 
2,051,401 

348,277 
987,338 
959,377 

4,629,285 

1,071,172 

55,305 
(225,000) 

(169,695) 

901,477 

5,859,469 

$ 6,760,946 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Statement of Net Position 
Internal Service Funds 
June 30, 2019 

Self-insurance 
Workers' Employee Sick 

Compensation Insurance and Vacation Total 
Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash and investments $ 2,128,523 $ 210,453 $ 400,784 $ 2,739,760 
Accounts receivable 1, 112 1,491,455 1,492,567 
Due from other governments 59,967 39,314 99,281 
Prepaids 54,311 4,741,060 4,795,371 

Total assets 2,243,913 6,482,282 400,784 9,126,979 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 52,242 4,091,457 4,143,699 
Accrued liabilities 983,735 143,327 1,127,062 
Accrued wages 1,931 1,931 
Due to other funds 
Current portion of 

compensated absences 205,198 205,198 
Total current liabilities 1,035,977 4,236,715 205,198 5,477,890 

Noncurrent liabilities · 
Compensated absences 195,586 195,586 

Total liabilities 1,035,977 4,236,715 400,784 5,673,476 

Net position 
Unrestricted $ 1,207,936 $ 2,245,567 $ $ 3,453,503 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Net Position 
Internal Service Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Self-insurance 

Workers' Employee Sick 

Compensation Insurance and Vacation Total 
Operating revenues 

Charges for services $ 251,438 $ 4,766,988 $ $ 5,018,426 
Other revenue 694,869 694,869 

Total revenues 251,438 5,461,857 5,713,295 

Operating expenses 
Insurance 8,837,773 8,837,773 
Workers' compensation expense· net 

of change in liability 249,885 249,885 
Miscellaneous expense 4,605 4,605 

Total operating expenses 249,885 8,837,773 4,605 9,092,263 

Operating income (loss) 1,553 (3,375,916) (4,605) (3,378,968) 

Nonoperating revenue 
Interest income 26,595 4,605 31,200 

Income (loss) before transfers 28,148 (3,375,916) (3,347,768) 

Transfers in 501,424 501,424 

Change in net position 28,148 (2,874,492) (2,846,344) 

Net position, beginning of year 1,179,788 5,120,059 6,299,847 

Net position, end of year $ 1,207,936 $ 2,245,567 $ $ 3,453,503 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Statement of Cash Flows 
Internal Service Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Self-insurance 
Workers' Employee Sick 

Compensation Insurance and Vacatio'1 Total 
Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash received from interfund services $ 314,365 $ 4,299,015 $ (4,605) $ 4,608,775 
Cash payments for goods and services (352,744) (5,848,162) (6,200,906) 
Cash payments to employees 419 (31,448) (31,029) 

Net cash used by operating 
activities (38,379) (1,548,728) (36,053) (1,623,160) 

Cash flows from noncapital financing 
activities 

Transfers in 501,424 501,424 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest income received 26,595 4,605 31,200 

Net change in cash and investments (11,784) (1,047,304) (31,448) (1,090,536) 

Cash and investments, beginning of year 2,140,307 1,257,757 432,232 3,830,296 

Cash and investments, end of year $ 2,128,523 $ 210,453 $ 400,784 $ 2,739,760 

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) 
to net cash used by operating 
activities 

Operating income (loss) $ 1,553 $ (3,375,916) $ (4,605) $ (3,378,968) 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income 

(loss) to net cash used by 
operating activities 

Change in: 
Accounts receivable 62,927 (1,162,842) (1,099,915) 
Due from other governments (59,967) 32,851 (27,116) 
Interest receivable 33 33 
Prepaids 987 (750,062) (749,075) 
Accounts payable 28,022 4,056,215 4,084,237 
Accrued liabilities (71,934) (349,393) (421,327) 
Accrued wages 419 419 
Compensated absences (31,448) (31,448) 

Net cash provided (used) by 
operating activities $ (38,379) $ (1,548,728) $ (36,053) $ (1,623,160) 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities 
Agency Funds 
June 30, 2019 

,· -- - - -

District Court- Current Tax 
Agency Collection Fire Insurance Total 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 60,910 $ 63,510 $ 1,502,297 $ 1,626,717 
Due from other governments 7,077 7,077 

Total assets $ 60,910 $ 70,587 $ 1,502,297 $ 1,633,794 

Liabilities 
Due to other governments $ $ 70,587 $ $ 70,587 
Deposits payable 60,910 1,502,297 1,563,207 

Total liabilities $ 60,910 $ 70,587 $ 1,502,297 $ 1,633,794 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining Balance Sheet 
Component Units 
June 30, 2019 

Brownfield 
Tax lncreme.ntFinance Authority Redevelopment 

District 2 District 3 Total Authority Total 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 932 $ 263,994 $ 264,926 $ 267,231 $ 532,157 
Property taxes receivable - net 790 28,781 29,571 29,571 

Total assets $ 1,722 $ 292,775 $ 294,497 $ 267,231 $ 561,728 

Liabilities 
Due to other governments $ 928 $ 17,003 $ 17,931 $ 13 $ 17,944 
Financial guarantee 2,660,562 1,992,745 4,653,307 4,653,307 

Total liabilities 2,661,490 2,009,748 4,671,238 13 4,671,251 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Unavailable revenue 790 28,781 29,571 29,571 

Fund balances 
Unassigned (deficit) (2,660,558) (1,745,754) (4,406,312) 267,218 (4,139,094) 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows 
of resources and fund balances $ 1,722 $ 292,775 $ 294,497 $ 267,231 $ 561,728 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Reconciliation 
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
to Net Position of Governmental Activities 
Component Units 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Brownfield 
Tax lncre111e_]1tfinance Autho_ri!Y Redevelopment 

District 2 District 3 ! -Total Authority Total 

Fund balances (deficits) for component units $ (2,660,558) $ (1,745,754) $ (4,406,312) $ 267,218 $ (4,139,094) 

Amounts reported for component units in the 
statement of net position are different because: 

The focus of governmental funds is on short-term 
financing. Accordingly, some assets will not be 
available to pay for current-period expenditures. 
Those assets (such as certain receivables) are 
offset by deferred inflows in the governmental 
funds, and thus are not included in fund balance. 

Unavailable property taxes receivable 790 28,781 29,571 29,571 

Deferred charges on refunding are not reported in the 
governmental funds, whereas they are capitalized 
and amortized for net position. 511,707 511,707 511,707 

Certain liabilities, such as bonds payable, 
property tax settlements and compensated 
absences are not due and payable in the current 
period, and therefore are not reported in 
the funds. 

Accrued interest on bonds (12,220) (142,507) (154,727) (154,727) 
Bonds payable (1,535,000) (18,255,000) (19,790,000) (19,790,000) 

Net position for component units $ (4,206,988) $ (19,602,773) $ (23,809,761) $ 267,218 $ (23,542,543) 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Combining-Statemenfof Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Component Units 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Brownfi~ld 
Tax Increment Finance ~uthority Redevelopment 

District 2 District 3 Total __ ~uthority Total 
Revenues 

Taxes $ 12,501 $ 1,425,230 $ 1,437,731 $ 33,896 $ 1,471,627 
State revenue 74,637 122,573 197,210 197,210 
Charges for services 75,000 75,000 75,000 
Contributions from primary government 217,983 414,841 632,824 632,824 

Total revenues 380,121 1,962,644 2,342,765 33,896 2,376,661 

Expenditures 
Financial guarantee 217,983 414,841 632,824 632,824 
Debt service: 

Principal 295,000 1,065,000 1,360,000 1,360,000 
Interest and fiscal charges 85,119 897,643 982,762 982,762 

Total expenditures 598,102 2,377,484 2,975,586 2,975,586 

Net change in fund balances (217,981) (414,840) (632,821) 33,896 (598,925) 

Fund balances (deficit), beginning of year (2,442,577) (1,330,914) (3,773,491) 233,322 (3,540, 169) 

Fund balances (deficit), end of year $ (2,660,558) $ (1,745,754) $ (4,406,312) $ 267,218 $ (4,139,094) 
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CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

Reconciliation 
Net Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
to Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 
Component Units 
June 30, 2019 

Brownfield 
. Tax lncrerru~rit finance Autl1o_dty Redevelopment: 

District 2 District 3 Total Authority Total 

Net change in fund balance - component units s (217,981) s (414,840) s (632,821) s 33,896 s (598,925) 

Amounts reported for component units in the 
statement of activities are different because: 

Revenues in the statement of activities that do 
not provide current financial resources are not 
reported as revenues in the funds, but rather 
are deferred to the following fiscal year. (11) 19,718 19,707 19,707 

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources 
to governmental funds in the period issued, but 
issuing bonds increases long-term liabilities 
in the statement of net position. Repayment of 
bond principal is an expenditure in the 
governmental funds, but the repayment 
reduces long-term liabilities in the statement 
of net position. 

Principal payments on long-term liabilities 295,000 1,065,000 1,360,000 1,360,000 

Some expenses reported in the statement of 
activities do not require the use of current 
resources and therefore are not reported 
as expenditures in governmental funds. 

Change in accrued interest on bonds 1,966 7,100 9,066 9,066 
Change in deferred charge on refunding (42,642) (42,642) (42,642) 

Change in net position of component units s 78,974 s 634,336 s 713,310 s 33,896 s 747,206 
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ehmann Rehmann Robson 
1500 W. Big Beaver Road 
2nd Floor 
Troy, MI 48084 
Ph: 248.952.5000 
Fx: 248.952.5750 
rehmann.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

December 23, 2019 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Pontiac 
Pontiac, Michigan 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Oty of Pontiac (the "City"), as of and for 
the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 23, 
2019. Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the 
General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement System VEBA and the 
Police and Fire Retirement System, as described in our report on the City's financial statements. This 
report does not include the results of the other auditors' testing of internal control over financial 
reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors. The 
financial statements of the General City Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement 
System VEBA and the Police and Fire Retirement System were not audited in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance. 

CPAs & Consultants Wealth Advisors Corporate Investigators 
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that have not been identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
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Financial Summary 

Funding Source Total Budget YTD Expenditures 
Combined Total Combined Total Projected 

Remaining Amount 
Combined Remaining 

Budgets Amounts Spent Expenditures Expenditures Amounts 

Community Foundation 

Grant $ 65,000.00 $ 15,410.53 $ 2,647.11 $ 46,942.36 
Michigan Municipal $ 110,000.00 $ 21,374.65 $ 88,625.35 

League Grant $ 25,000.00 $ 4,441.50 $ 1,981.56 $ 18,068.96 
City of Pontiac $ 20,000.00 $ 1,522.62 $ 506.50 $ 17,970.88 $ 82,982.20 

Community Foundation of Southeast Michigan Grant Budget to Actual 

Line Item Budgeted Amount YTD Expenditures 
Projected Remaining 

Expenditures Amount 

Salary and Benefits $ 33,600.00 $ 3,975.75 $ 480.00 $ 29,144.25 
Consultant and 

$ $ $ $ 3,000.00 2,250.00 750.00 -
Professional Fees 

Travel $ 500.00 $ - $ - $ 500.00 
Equipment $ 4,000.00 $ 3,522.64 $ - $ 477.36 
Program supplies $ - $ - $ - $ -

Printing and copying $ 4,742.00 $ 2,026.65 $ 1,259.56 $ 1,455.79 
Postage and delivery $ 8,500.00 $ 1,180.39 $ - $ 7,319.61 
Advertising $ 1,500.00 $ 20.16 $ 157.55 $ 1,322.29 
Events $ 3,958.00 $ 2,434.94 $ - $ 1,523.06 
Fiduciary Fee $ 5,200.00 $ - $ - $ 5,200.00 
Totals $ 65,000.00 $ 15,410.53 $ 2,647.11 $ 46,942.36 

Michigan Municipal League Grant Budget to Actual 



Line Item Budgeted Amount YTD Expenditures 
Projected Remaining 

Expenditures Amount 

Equipment $ 3,736.00 $ 2,482.96 $ - $ 1,253.04 

Census Advertising $ 2,500.00 $ 1,358.67 $ - $ 1,141.33 

Census Day Events $ 5,500.00 $ - $ - $ 5,500.00 

Other Census Events $ 6,064.00 $ 614.85 $ 1,165.56 $ 4,283.59 

Salaries $ 7,200.00 $ 493.00 $ 816.00 $ 5,891.00 

Total $ 25,000.00 $ 4,441.50 $ 1,981.56 $ 18,068.96 

City of Pontiac Budget to Actual 

Line Item Budgeted Amount YTD Expenditures 
Projected Remaining 

Expenditures Amount 

Salary and Benefits $ - $ - $ - $ -

Consultant and 
$ $ $ $ - - - -

Professional Fees 

Travel $ - $ - $ - $ -

Equipment $ 2,000.00 $ - $ - $ 2,000.00 

Program supplies $ 14,000.00 $ 1,522.62 $ 506.50 $ 11,970.88 

Printing and copying $ - $ - $ - $ -
Postage and delivery $ 2,000.00 $ - $ - $ 2,000.00 

Advertising $ 2,000.00 $ - $ - $ 2,000.00 

Events $ - $ - $ -

Fiduciary Fee $ - $ - $ - $ -
Totals $ 20,000.00 $ 1,522.62 $ 506.50 $ 17,970.88 



Pontiac Response Rates 
as of 08/11/2020 

Census Tract Number 

1409 

1410.01 

1410.02 

1411 

1412 

1413 

1414 

1415 

1416 

1417 

1420 

1421 

1422 

1423 

1424 

1425 

1426 

1427 

Current Response Rate Internet Response Rate 2010 Response Rate 2020 Response Rate vs. 2010 

63.3% 52.9% 61.4% 1.9% 

65.9% 56.1% 67.7% -1.8% 

57.7% 47.0% 55.6% 2.1% 

60.1% 49.0% 62.9% -2.8% 

58.7% 29.4% 56.6% 2.1% 

65.8% 31.9% 64.7% 1.1% 
56.6% 46.5% 58.0% -1.4% 

61.7% 31.6% 66.0% -4.3% 

56.8% 31.3% 56.8% 0.0% 
48.2% 26.1% 52.8% -4.6% 

52.7% 28.4% 51.7% 1.0% 
45.8% 24.2% 44.0% 1.8% 
56.9% 27.3% 60.2% -3.3% 

63.3% 28.6% 66.3% -3.0% 
56.1% 28.7% 59.4% -3.3% 

68.9% 32.9% 72.1% -3.2% 

66.9% 57.3% 67.9% -1.0% 

63.3% 30.0% 60.0% 3.3% 



Event Date Census Sign U~s 
All Saints COVID Testing Event 17-Jul 5 
St Damien Event 19-Jul 0 

Pontiac Universal Crime 25-Jul 2 

07 /25 Census Rally 10-12 25-Jul 10 

07 /25 Census Rally 2-4 25-Jul 20 

08/01 Census Rally 10-1 1-Aug 8 

08/01 Census Rally 2-4 1-Aug 5 
Census Virtual Concert 2-Aug 5,900 Facebook Views 

08/07 Census Concert 7-Aug 2 

Pastor Tolbert's Census Event 7-Aug 17 

08/08 Census Rally 10-12 8-Aug 7 

08/08 Census Rally 2-4 8-Aug 15 

Debra Ehrmann's Carnival Event 8-Aug 32 
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CITY OF PONTLA.C 
Department of Building Safety & Planning 

PLANNING DIVISION 
47450 Woodward Ave I Pontiac, Michigan 48342 

T: 248.758.2800 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

HONORABLE MAYOR, COUNCIL PRESENT, AND CITY COUNCIL 

VERN GUSTAFSSON, PLANNING MANAGER 
THROUGH THE OFFICE OF DEPUTY MAYOR JANE BAIS-DISESSA 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION 
PARKS & RECREATION UPDATE 

AUGUST 11, 2020 

We are excited to present the City Council with a Special Presentation on Parks & Recreation 
Neighborhood Empowerment Projects (NEP) and Partnerships are forming to improve the quality, 
enhancement, and maintenance of our City park system 

The attached presentation includes highlights of: 
❖ Neighborhood Empowerment Projects at Hawthorne Park and Murphey Park 

❖ Partnerships with Pontiac Community Foundation and Oakland County Healt h Division; plus a 

grant opportunity with the Tony Hawk Foundation. 

In a separate attachment are maps of each Council District that highlights road improvements, NEP 
projects and residential demolitions. We look forward to the opportunity and discuss these initiatives and 
answer any questions at your formal City Council meeting on Tuesday, August 18, 2020. 
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PLANNING DIVISION 
CITY OF PONTIAC 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

Parks & Recreation - DPW 

Parks and Recreation Task Force 
Bi-Monthly meeting 

Next Meeting Date: August 27, 2020 

NEP 2019 
Hawthorne Park - Disc Golf Implementation- DGDC - 2019 Project 

Goal: The installation of an 18-hole Championship Level Disc Golf Course in Hawthorne Parle 

Status: Currently Driftwood Creek Disc Golf Club has funds, equipment and volunteer resources 

to install 9 of the 18 holes including installation of: 

., 55-gallon Trash Receptacles 

• 9-hole Course Installation i.e., Crushed Limestone, Woodchips, Mulch 

• 9 Disc Golf Baskets 

• Temporary Tee Signs 

City would be responsible for installation of the remain ing 9-hole course, including: 

• Site Survey - Nowak & Fraus: $9,000 

• Tree Cutting & Removal - Seasonal Property Management: 9,500 

• Vegetation Cutting & Removal - Clarkston Tree Services: 9,500 

• Concrete Disc Golf Tees- Precision Concrete: 

• Disc Golf Signs - Northern Sign Company: 

• 9 Disc Golf Baskets & Installation - Disc Golf Supreme 
o City Sub-Total Costs 

• 20% Contingency 
• City Total Costs 

[Completed Activities] 

• Initial M eeting with Driftwood Disc Golf Club 

• Onsite Visit and Meeting with DGDC Staff and DPW Staff 

8,000 

7,000 

9,000 
$52,000 

10,400 
$62,400 

• Form al Proposal Submitted to Planning Division and DPW Staff & preparing Purchase 

Orders 



[Next Steps] 
o Contractor/Purchase Agreements 

o PPP Maintenance Agreement 
o Phased Installation Plan 

NEP 2020 

Murphy Park- City Westside Disc Golf & Winter Wonderland 
• Park Conceptual Master Plan 

• Project Phasing & Cost Estimates 

COVID Parks Response Grant 
Grant prepared by the Pontiac Community Foundation [PCF] in partnership with t he Friends of 

t he Pont iac Parks Association. The Pontiac Community Foundation was the awardee. 

Grant was provided by the United Way & monitored by Oakland County Health Department. 

Grant Amount: $53,200. Monies to be spent by December 2020. 

COVID 19 Response Grant - Virtual Meeting held on Tuesday July 21st with Dustin 

McClellan, Katha James, Storee James, Donovan Smith, Dan Ringo & Vern Gustafsson 

Grant prepared by t he Pontiac Community Foundation (PCF] in partnership with the Friends of 

the Pontiac Parks Association. The Pontiac Community Foundation was the awardee. 

Grant was provided by t he United Way & monitored by Oakland County Health Department. 

Grant Amount: $53,200. Monies to be spent by December 2020. 

Grant Components: 

• Install a walking path in Cherry Lawn and Rotary Park. 

• Reopen Bathroom at Beaudette Park. Park employee responsible t o open/ close during 

their t ime in t he park. Dan Ringo to investigate if bathroom is functional. 

• Instal l t emporary hand sanitizer st ations in six parks. 

• Instal l signs of COVID 19 guidelines 

• Hire one part-time park employee to monitor several parks in t he City and manage a 

volunteer t eam. PCF t o hire and select volunteers 

• Hire one part-time employee t o oversee the Pont iac Summer St reet Program t o expand 

access space to physical activit y. 

47450 Woodward Ave I PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48342 
TELEPHONE: 248.758.2800 
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Oakland County Wellness Grant 4x4 Grant- Began 9.23.19 - Ongoing 
Oakland County Health Division (OCHD), is one of five local health departments to 

receive grant funding from the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services to 

implement Michigan's Health and Wellness 4X4 Plan. The funding, totaling $73,084, 

supports evidence-based strategies to increase healthy eating and physical activity with 

a focus on obesity prevention in the City of Pontiac. The Health Division, in partnership 

w ith the HPWC coalit ion and community partners, wi ll focus efforts towards those 

Pontiac residents who are disproportionately affected by poor health status and obesity 

and work to achieve the following three goals: 

• Establish improved active-friendly spaces within the City of Pontiac by assessing and 

enhancing parks, walking and bicycling paths, and public t ransit amenities that 

support physical activity (i.e. bike rack availability, etc.) 

• Increase the availability of healthy foods by implementing healthy eating guidelines in 

community recreation sites and/or churches. 

0 Heighten awareness of available healthy eating and physical activity opportunities. 

0 Bi-Weekly meeting with Oakland County Grant Staff to discuss implementation plan and 
activities. 

o [Upcoming Activates] 

o Safe Routes to School • Strategize to Safe Routes to Parks. Will revisit during 

year 2 of grant cycle. 

o Hawthorne Park Clean Up Scheduled August 1st, 2020 

o Murphy Park Clean Up Scheduled August 15th• 2020 

o Priority Park & Map Development 

• Hawthorne Park 

m Murphy Park 

• Baudette Park 
11 Oakland Park 

• Jaycee Park 

• [Completed Activities] 

o Project Timeline Development (January 2020- September 2020) 

o (4) Billboard installation - Share the roads campaign ( 5.4.2020- 5.31.2020) 

o Home Mailers - Messaging for share the road campaign 

o ~arks Rules Sign Design (7.24.2020) 

47450 Woodward Ave I PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48342 
TELEPHONE; 248.758.2800 
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Resolution of the Pontiac City Council 

Resolution to approve the salary change of the Customer Service Representative (Clerk's Office) 

Whereas, the Home Rule Charter of the City of Pontiac Section 3.120 Control of the City Payroll requires 
that the City Council approve the salary of all appointees and employees. 

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that the City Council for the City of Pontiac approve the salary of 
$16,762 for the position of Customer Service Representative (Clerk's Office). 





City of Pontiac, Michigan 
Department of Finance 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Cc: 

Re: 

Honorable City Council President Williams and 
City Council Members 

Irwin Williams, CPA, Interim Finance 'Director, through Jane Bais­
DiSessa, Deputy Mayor 

August 12, 2020 

Mayor Waterman; and Anthony Chubb, City Attorney 

Agenda Request: Amendment to Emergency Ordinance 2346. 

Honorable Council President and City Council: 

At the City Council meeting held August 6, 2020, the City Council approved Emergency Ordinance 
2346 to extend a $400 Supplementary Pension Payment for health to GERS retires until August 
31, 2021. A copy of this Ordinance is attached for your information. 

Subsequently, we received an email from Deborah Munson, Executive Director for GERS, in which 
she informed us that the GERS Board of Trustees had approved an amendment to Section 1 
(Amendments). As such, the Board of Trustees respectfully requests that Ordinance 2369, Section 
1.a, be amended to read as follows: 

"All persons who are receiving retirement benefits as of August 1, 2020 and who 
enter pay status through August 1, 2021, shall be entitled to receive an increase in 
their monthly allowance of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per month beginning 
September 1, 2020 through August 31, 2021, or when the CPREA litigation is 
resolved and health insurance will be provided to the retiree class, whichever 
comes first." 

Also, to ensure that this ordinance is effective upon approval, it is further recommended that this 
ordinance be amended by adding the following section: 

Section 5. Emergency Declaration and Effective Date. 

This Ordinance is declared an emergency of health and safety to allow the pension 
recipients to collect the increase authorized in this Ordinance on the date identified in this 
Ordinance and shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the City Council. 

You may also recall, that on August 27, 2019, the City Council approved Emergency Ordinance 
2369, which extended the temporary increase in pension payments to GERS retirees until August 
31, 2020. 



Memorandum -August 12, 2020 
Amendment to Emergency Ordinance 2346 for GERS Retirees 
Page 2 of 2. 

Attached for your consideration is an emergency ordinance to amend Section 1 (Amendments) of 
Emergency Ordinance 2346 for GERS as requested by the Board of Trustees for GERS. 

As such, the following resolution is recommended for your consideration: 

Whereas, the temporary increase to certain members of the GERS pension system expires on 
August 31, 2020; and, 

Whereas, the City Council desires that this temporary increase continues for at least one more 
year; and, 

Whereas, on August 6, 2020, the City Council approved Emergency Ordinance 2346 to continue 
this increase, which will take effect from September 1, 2020 and expire on August 31, 2021 or 
when the CPREA health care litigation is resolved and health insurance will be provided to retiree 
class, whichever comes first; and, 

Whereas, as approved by the GERS Board of Trustees, Section 1 (Amendments) is amended to 
read as follows: "All persons who are receiving retirement benefits as of August 1, 2020 and who 
enter pay status through August 1, 2021, shall be entitled to receive an increase in their monthly 
allowance of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per month beginning September 1, 2020 through 
August 31, 2021, or when the CPREA litigation is resolved and health insurance will be provided 
to the retiree class, whichever comes first;" and 

Whereas, to ensure immediate effect, Ordinance 2346 is amended to include the following 
section: "Section 5. Emergency Declaration and Effective Date. This Ordinance is declared an 
emergency of health and safety to allow the pension recipients to collect the increase authorized 
in this Ordinance on the date identified in this Ordinance and shall be effective immediately upon 
adoption by the City Council;" and 

Whereas, the Pontiac City Council considers this an emergency of health and safety. 

Now therefore, Ordinance 2346 is amended has noted above and provides limited increase in 
pension systems members of the Police and Fire pension system, is hereby approved. 



Ordinance No. 2346 

An ordinance to provide for a limited increase in pension payments for certain members of the General 
Employee Retirement System. 

Whereas, the temporary increase to certain members of the GERS pension system is set to expire on 
August 31, 2020; and, 

Whereas, the City Council desires that this temporary increase continues for at least one more year; and, 
Whereas, such ordinance if approved will take effect from September 1, 2020 and expire on August 31, 
2021, or when the CPREA health care litigation is resolved and health insurance will be provided to 
retiree class, whichever comes first, and, 

Whereas, the Pontiac City Council considers this an emergency. 

The City of Pontiac ordains: 

Section 1. Amendments. 
The General Employee Retirement System ordinance shall be amended to read as follows: 
a. Section 17.6 shall be ame.nded to add the following language: Temporary Pension 
Increase: "All persons who are receiving retirement benefits as of August 1, 2020 and 
who enter pay status through August 1, 2021, shall be entitled to receive an increase in 
their monthly allowance of four hundred dollars ($400.00} per month beginning 
September 1, 2020 through August 31, 2021, or when the CPREA litigation is resolved 
and health insurance will be provided to the retiree class, whichever comes first. 11 

Section 2. Severability. 
If any section, or provision of this Ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, void, illegal, or 
ineffective by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such section, clause or provision declared to be 
unconstitutional, void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part of this Ordinance, but the remainder of 
the Ordinance shall stand and be in full force and effect. 

Section 3. Repealer. 
All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed only to the extent 
necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 

Section 4. Publication. 
The Clerk shall publish this Ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation. 

"Section 5. Emergency Declaration and Effective Date. 

This Ordinance is declared an emergency of health and safety to allow the pension recipients to collect 
the increase authorized in this Ordinance on the date identified in this Ordinance and shall be effective 
immediately upon adoption by the City Council. 11 
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Ordinance No. 2346 (As Approved on 8/6/20) 

An ordinance to provide for a limited increase in pension payments for certain members of the General 
Employee Retirement System. 

Whereas, the temporary increase to certain members of the GERS pension system is set to expire on 
August 31, 2020; and, 

Whereas, the City Council desires that this temporary increase continues for at least one more year; and, 

Whereas, such ordinance if approved will take effect from September 1, 2020 and expire on August 31, 
2021, or when the CPR EA health care litigation is resolved and health insurance will be provided to 
retiree class, whichever comes first, and, 

Whereas, the Pontiac City Council considers this an emergency. 

The City of Pontiac ordains: 

Section 1. Amendments. 
The General Employee Retirement System ordinance shall be amended to read as follows: a. Section 17.6 
shall be amended to add the following language: Temporary Pension Increase: "All persons who are 
receiving retirement benefits as of August 1, 2018 and who enter pay status through August 1, 2019, 
shall be entitled to receive an increase in their monthly allowance of four hundred dollars ($400.00} per 
month beginning September 1, 2020 through August 31, 2021, or when the CPREA litigation is resolved 
and health insurance will be provided to the retiree class, whichever comes first." 

Section 2. Severability. 
If any section, or provision of this Ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, void, illegal, or 
ineffective by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such section, clause or provision declared to be 
unconstitutional, void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part of this Ordinance, but the remainder of 
the Ordinance shall stand and be in full force and effect. 

Section 3. Repealer. 
All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed only to the extent 
necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 

Section 4. Publication. 
The Clerk shall publish this Ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation. 
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City of Pontiac, Michigan 
Department of Finance 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Cc: 

Re: 

Honorable City Council President Williams and City Council 
Members 

Irwin Williams, CPA Interim Finance Director, through Jane Bais­
DiSessa, Deputy Mayor 

August 12, 2020 

Mayor Waterman; and Anthony Chubb, City Attorney 

Agenda Request: Amendment to Emergency Ordinance 2357 for 
Police and Fire retirees. 

Honorable Council President and City Council: 

At the City Council meeting held August 6, 2020, the City Council approved Emergency 
Ordinance 2346 to extend a $400 Supplementary Pension Payment for health to Police 
and Fire retires until August 31, 2021. A copy of this Ordinance is attached for your 
information. 

Subsequently, we received an email from Deborah Munson, Executive Director for GERS, 
in which she informed us that the GERS Board of Trustees had approved an amendment 
to Section 1.a (Amendments). As such, the Board of Trustees respectfully requests that 
Ordinance 2369, Section 1.a, be amended to read as follows: 

"All persons who are receiving retirement benefits as of August 1, 2020 and who 
enter pay status through August 1, 2021, shall be entitled to receive an increase in 
their monthly allowance of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per month beginning 
September 1, 2020 through August 31, 2021, or when the CPREA litigation is 
resolved and health insurance will be provided to the retiree class, whichever comes 
first." 

You may recall, that on September 10, 2019, the City Council also approved Emergency 
Ordinance 2357, which extended the temporary increase in pension payments to Police 
and Fire (P&F) retirees until August 31, 2020. 

Attached for your consideration is an emergency ordinance to amend Section 1.a 
(Amendments) of Emergency Ordinance 2369 for Police and Fire retirees as requested 
by the GERS Board of Trustees. 

47450 WOODWARD AVENUE, PONTIAC, MI 48342-5009 
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Memorandum - August 12, 2020 
Amendment to Emergency Ordinance 2357 for Police and Fire Retirees 
Page 2 of 2. 

As such, the following resolution is recommended for your consideration: 

Whereas, the temporary increase to certain members of the Police and Fire pension 
system expires on August 31, 2020; and, 

Whereas, the City Council desires that this temporary increase continues for at least one 
more year; and, 

Whereas, on August 6, 2020, the City Council approved Emergency Ordinance 2357 to 
continue this increase, which will take effect from September 1, 2020 and expire on 
August 31, 2021 or when the CPREA health care litigation is resolved and health 
insurance will be provided to retiree class, whichever comes first; and, 

Whereas, as approved by the GERS Board of Trustees, Section 1.a (Amendments) is 
amended to read as follows: "All persons who are receiving retirement benefits as of 
August 1, 2020 and who enter pay status through August 1, 2021, shall be entitled to 
receive an increase in their monthly allowance of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per 
month beginning September 1, 2020 through August 31, 2021, or when the CPREA 
litigation is resolved and health insurance will be provided to the retiree class, whichever 
comes first;" and 

Whereas, the Pontiac City Council considers this an emergency of health and safety. 

Now therefore, an Ordinance to provide limited increase in pension systems members of 
the Police and Fire pension system is hereby approved .. 
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An Amendment to Ordinance No. 2357 

An ordinance to provide for a limited increase in pension payments for certain 
members of the Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS). 

The City of Pontiac ordains: 

Section 1. Amendments. 

The Code of Ordinances shall be amended to read as follows: 

a. Section 92-122.2 shall be amended to add the following language: 
Temporary Pension Increase: 

"All persons who are receiving retirement benefits as of August 
1, 2020 and who enter pay status through August 1, 2021, shall 
be entitled to receive an increase in their monthly allowance of 
four hundred dollars ($400.00) per month beginning September 
1, 2020 through August 31, 2021, or when the CPREA litigation 
is resolved and health insurance will be provided to the retiree 
class, whichever comes first." 

Section 2. Severability. 

If any section, or provision of this Ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, 
void, illegal, or ineffective by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such section, clause or 
provision declared to be unconstitutional, void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part 
of this Ordinance, but the remainder of the Ordinance shall stand and be in full force 
and effect. 

Section 3. Repealer. 

All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed only to 
the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 

Section 4. Publication. 

The Clerk shall publish this Ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation. 

Section 5. Emergency Declaration and Effective Date. 

This Ordinance is declared an emergency of health and safety to allow the pension 
recipients to collect the increase authorized in this Ordinance on the date identified in 
this Ordinance and shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the City Council. 
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An Amendment to Ordinance No. 2357 (As Approved 8/6/2020) 

An ordinance to provide for a limited increase in pension payments for certain 
members of the Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS). 

The City of Pontiac ordains: 

Section 1. Amendments. 

The Code of Ordinances shall be amended to read as follows: 

a. Section 92-122.2 shall be amended to add the following language: 
Temporary Pension Increase: 
"All persons who retired before August 22, 1996, and who are receiving 
retirement benefits as of September 1, 2019 and who enter pay status 
through August 1, 2020 shall be entitled to receive an increase in their 
monthly allowance of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per month beginning 
September 1, 2020 through August 31, 2021. Should the City of Pontiac, 
as the result of litigation or settlement thereto, will provide retiree health 
insurance to the group or a compensation that is understood as an 
alternative healthcare benefit, the monthly allowance of $400 per month 
ends." 

Section 2. Severability. 

If any section, or provision of this Ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, 
void, illegal, or ineffective by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such section, clause or 
provision declared to be unconstitutional, void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part 
of this Ordinance, but the remainder of the Ordinance shall stand and be in full force 
and effect. 

Section 3. Repealer. 

All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed only to 
the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 

Section 4. Publication. 

The Clerk shall publish this Ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation. 

Section 5. Emergency Declaration and Effective Date. 

This Ordinance is declared an emergency of health and safety to allow the pension 
recipients to collect the increase authorized in this Ordinance on the date identified in 
this Ordinance and shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the City Council. 
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